

**Dominican Scholar** 

Art Therapy | Master's Theses

Liberal Arts and Education | Graduate Student Scholarship

2023

Complex Narratives of Individuals Living with Alpha-gal syndrome (AGS). A mixed-methods investigation: examined through selfreported data, in-person interviews, and a group body mapping art therapy intervention

Sylvan Streightiff Dominican University of California

https://doi.org/10.33015/dominican.edu/2023.AT.04

# Survey: Let us know how this paper benefits you.

### **Recommended Citation**

Streightiff, Sylvan, "Complex Narratives of Individuals Living with Alpha-gal syndrome (AGS). A mixed-methods investigation: examined through self-reported data, in-person interviews, and a group body mapping art therapy intervention" (2023). *Art Therapy | Master's Theses*. 13.

https://doi.org/10.33015/dominican.edu/2023.AT.04

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Liberal Arts and Education | Graduate Student Scholarship at Dominican Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Art Therapy | Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Dominican Scholar. For more information, please contact michael.pujals@dominican.edu.



This thesis, written under the direction of the candidate's thesis advisor and approved by the program chair, has been presented to and accepted by the Department of Art Therapy, at Dominican University of California, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Marriage and Family Therapy.

Sylvan Streightiff Candidate

Richard Carolan, PhD, ATR-BC Program Chair

Victoria Dobbins, MA MFT, PhD Candidate First Reader

Lisa Hinz, PhD, ATR-BC Second Reader Complex Narratives of Individuals Living with Alpha-gal syndrome (AGS).

A mixed-methods investigation: examined through self-reported data, in-person interviews,

# and a group body mapping art therapy intervention

By

Sylvan Streightiff

A culminating thesis submitted to the faculty of Dominican University of California in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Marriage and Family Therapy

Dominican University of California

San Rafael, CA

2023

# Copyright © Sylvan Streightiff 2023. All rights reserved

#### Abstract

Alpha-gal (galactose-α-1,3-galactose) Syndrome or AGS is an under-recognized chronic condition which coincides with tick-bite exposure, resulting in a unique allergy to non-primate mammalian products and byproducts (in addition to other items caring the  $\alpha$ -gal epitope such as carrageenan, agar-agar, and nori). This paper explores the experiences of individuals with this illness, establishing psychological context for expressed symptomatology, while emphasizing the complex trauma rooted in the population's experiences of the life-altering and life-threatening contexts associated with managing AGS. This research is structured with Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) theory and utilizes a mixed-methods approach to arts-based research with the goal of establishing a narrative for individuals living with AGS. This transformative approach to arts-based research through the use of the body mapping art intervention will be analyzed alongside in-person dialogues and validated through collected quantitative survey data. The results propose a healing illumination of the experience for the population of concern in addition to the researcher, furthering the benefits of this research through the use of film representation and advocacy. The resulting film serves to directly benefit the AGS population while functioning as a call for support within legislation and increased education across support systems, community members, and health care providers. **Keywords:** Alpha gal allergy, chronic illness, anaphylaxis, food allergy, red meat, IgE, Tick, galactose, complex trauma, body mapping, art therapy, ACT, MMR, film, advocacy

#### Acknowledgments

Completing this thesis was done with the valued aid of numerous individuals who extended their time and efforts. In addition to expressing gratitude towards the community of faculty and students within the Art Therapy program at Dominican University, this researcher would like to take a moment to highlight a handful of individuals who participated in the production of this project.

To close friends, family, siblings, parents, and Dan. Thank you for the numerous ways you have shown up and motivated this work with love and support.

To Dr. Lisa Hinz, thank you for your time and perspective in proofreading as your insights provided beneficial considerations in this inquiry. Your developments within the field of art therapy directly strengthened the direction and application of theory in this research.

To Victoria Dobbins, thesis advisor. Thank you for your student advocacy and for sharing your knowledge. Your support and guidance as a mentor and friend aided each step of this study in addition to fostering the development of critical research skills.

To the participants, I am most grateful to each of you for your contributions as collaborators and co-researchers. Thank you for your welcoming trust in conveying your lived experiences and insights. Your contributions to this study are invaluable.

To Soph, thank you for being an inspiration. You continuously meet others with an uplifting and comforting energy despite any challenges and obstacles you are confronted with. This project would not have occurred without witnessing and supporting you through your navigation of this illness. Thank you for your never-ending appreciation for life and for your stimulation of growth, optimism, and hope.

To any individual within the AGS community, your experiences do not go unnoticed.

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
List of Figures	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chronic Illness	
ACT and Stress	4
Art Therapy and Body Mapping	6
Research Question	7
Conclusion	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	9
History of Alpha-gal	9
Diagnosis, Reactions, and Anaphylaxis	
Management	
Alpha-gal response and Inflammation	
Trauma	
Complex Trauma	
Stress	
Reappraisal and Acceptance	
ACT	
Body Mapping	
Participatory Arts-Based Research	
Film, Advocacy, and Social Media within the Community	
Chapter 3: Methodology	
Hypothesis and Research Questions	

# **Table of Contents**

Mixed-Methods Investigation, Collaborative Methodological Research	
Definition of Terms	
Research Design	
Participants	
Measures and Interventions	
Location	46
Procedures	46
Materials	49
Data Collection	50
Data Analysis	50
Quantitative Analysis	
Qualitative Analysis	
Integration of Qualitative and Quantitative	53
Protection of Human Participants	53
Confidentiality	54
Implications	54
Limitations	54
Risks and Benefits	55
Chapter 4: Results	57
Overview of Development	57
Quantitative Data: Survey Results	59
Body Mapping	
Individual Interview	
Community Conversation	
Researcher Results	101

Documentary Film as Data Representation 103
Conclusion of Results
Chapter 5: Discussion
Introduction112
Results
Limitations
Validity
Implications for Future Research
Ethical Praxis
Reflexivity
Film14
Conclusion
References
Appendix A IRB Approval Letters

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Global Map of Survey Participants
Figure 2 Survey Participants Residing in Northern America
Figure 3 Management Experience
Figure 4 Expressed Management Aids for AGS Reactions
Figure 5 AGS is not as simple as "Avoiding the Allergen"
Figure 6 Disordered Eating and AGS Reactions due to Unclear Labeling and Processing 66
Figure 7 Relationship to Food, Regarding Unclear Labeling
Figure 8 Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) Scores
Figure 9 Individuals with Expressed Interest in Therapy Resources
Figure 10 What Individuals with they knew when they were first diagnosed with AGS
Figure 11 Participant 1's Body Map75
Figure 12 Participant 2's Body Map76
Figure 13 Participant 3's Body Map77
Figure 14 Modified Formal Elements Art Therapy Scale
Figure 15 Researcher Scale of Presence

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Alpha-gal syndrome (AGS) is the leading cause of child and adult-onset allergy and adult anaphylaxis in areas of high prevalence, thus, can be experienced across all ages. This includes much of the Southeast, mid-South, Midwest, and East Coast of the U.S. (Pattanaik et. al, 2018). An individual is "sensitized" to Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1- (3)4GlcNAc-R (alpha-gal or  $\alpha$ -Gal) if they test positive for the antibody associated with allergies to AGS, alpha-gal immunoglobulin E (IgE). Alpha-gal immunoglobulin G (IgG) and alpha-gal immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibody responses to alpha-gal are documented as beneficial protectants against pathogens such as malaria parasites and tuberculosis mycobacteria and tick bite induced alpha-gal IgE antibodies result in an immune modulation and elevation in anti- $\alpha$ -Gal IgE response (Chmelař et al., 2016; Cabezas-Cruz, 2013).

Nonetheless, sensitization is different from having a clinical allergy to alpha-gal (Kiewiet et. al, 2020). 90% of AGS cases can be diagnosed based on a history of delayed allergic reactions (2-10 hours) after consumption of non-primate mammalian meat (such as cows, pigs, lambs, rabbits, buffalos, bison, and kangaroos) or mammalian-derived products and a positive (>0.1 IU/mL) alpha-gal IgE blood test (Commins et al. 2009; Commins et al., 2016; Steinke et al., 2015; Sharma and Karim, 2021). AGS requires more than an avoidance of eating red meat and psychological strength. Ingestion, topical, and inhalation of the alpha-gal epitope can result in immediate and 0-10 hours after exposure for AGS patients. Those living with AGS are impacted autonomically, muscularly, mentally, and behaviorally by this allergy as they navigate daily life (Platt & Merritt, 2022).

While only some people who are sensitized to any allergen will have a clinical allergy to it, the estimated percentage of the population with a clinical alpha-gal allergy is shockingly high (Alpha-gal info, 2022). A 2022 University of Virginia study determined 1-3% of the population as having a clinical allergy to alpha-gal where lone star tick populations are high. While AGS is not limited to these states, the population of Virginia, North Carolina, Kentucky, Tennessee, Arkansas, and Missouri combined is about 40 million people. Thus, it is possible that more than a million people in the United States have AGS, many undiagnosed or misdiagnosed (Commins, 2020; Richards et. al, 2022).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) broadly labels chronic illnesses as: Conditions that last one year or more and require ongoing medical attention or limit activities of daily living or both. Chronic diseases such as heart disease, cancer, and diabetes are the leading causes of death and disability in the United States. They are also leading drivers of the nation's \$3.8 trillion in annual health care costs (CDC, 2021).

Even though alpha-ga is the leading cause of adult anaphylaxis, the disease is not limited to age and the potential impact of AGS on children and families should not be bypassed (Commins, 2016). Food allergy is a common chronic condition, affecting 32 million Americans, 5.6 million being children. One in three children report being bullied as a result of their food allergies and caring for a child with a food allergy is also associated with poorer mental health (Morris et. al, 2012; Sincherer & Hugh, 2018). Previous literature has shown that parents of children with food allergies reported higher stress, anxiety, and depression compared to parents of children who do not (Birdi et. al, 2016). Food allergies can majorly affect the lives of those who carry it. These families experience a shift in social lives, often leading to isolation, depression, and anxiety. Food allergies lead to a loss of normalcy, requiring families to adjust decision making and routines for the sake of their child's health management (Feng & Kim,

2019). Additionally, food allergies cost U.S. families roughly \$25 billion annually (Food Allergy Research & Education, 2022).

The increasing cases of individuals with AGS in addition to rising cases in childhood allergy has revealed an underrepresented but prominent need for supplementary research. The novel experience of a developed immunoglobulin E (IgE) antibody response to the transmitted carbohydrate molecule, galactose- $\alpha$ -1,3-galactose (alpha-gal), expands on previous perceptions of food allergies and challenges those managing it. When individuals with AGS eventually receive a diagnosis, they are met with unclear treatments and insufficient medical backing (Hinds & Sutcliffe, 2019). They then can endure a lack of access to medical care and resources in addition to facing a society that is taking damaging steps against their daily management due to an overarching deficiency in knowledge and understanding of this chronic health condition. The lack of support for these individuals in combination with poor regulations on personal products makes avoiding allergic reactions difficult to achieve. This also calls into question the ways individuals cope with AGS in addition to the structure implemented to support their safety.

#### **Chronic Illness**

Those living with chronic illness display fifty percent higher odds of survival with strong social relationships (Hors-Fraile et.al, 2016). Additionally, individuals living with chronic illness may seek support through online groups to gain this sense of community and understanding. Social media helps create visibility and community by providing a platform for individuals to connect through experience. Sharing stories and tips for managing chronic illness can raise awareness, destigmatize conditions, and can make the adjustment less intimidating for someone who is newly diagnosed. While there are clear benefits, it is also important to acknowledge that they are not supplementary to the policy changes and resources needed to best support the AGS

community. Online groups also pose risks in possibly increasing negative feelings, maintaining privacy, and spreading misinformation which may result in added stress (Hors-Fraile et.al, 2016).

Stress management is an important element to chronic disease management as it is strongly linked to inflammation. When perceptions of stress are heightened, the body's inflammatory response is intensified, worsening disease symptoms (Hirsch & Sirois, 2014). Documenting a correlation between AGS and perceived stress will begin to establish concrete data on the severity of mental health symptoms that can be associated with this life altering condition. Additionally, due to the layered element, individual The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), developed by Cohen and Kamarck in 1983, is a popular tool in understanding how different situations affect one's feelings and perceived stress. Yet, the lifestyle shift that occurs alongside chronic illness can affect an individual's identity on many levels that go beyond the psychological perception (conscious and subconscious) of stress.

#### **ACT and Stress**

Dr. Bessel van der Kolk defines trauma as "an overwhelming experience that deeply disturbs us inwardly and continues to negatively affect how we view and relate to ourselves, and to everything else in our world" (Van Der Kolk, 2014). Traumatic stress compromises the body's immune system, weakens its response, and can further complicate disease management (Varadarajan et. al., 2022). When an individual experiences stress, the brain perceives and determines the psychological and physiological response to the internal or external stressor. This mind-body relationship ultimately creates an immune alteration which can affect all systems of the body including musculoskeletal, respiratory, cardiovascular, endocrine, gastrointestinal, nervous, and reproductive systems (Shaw et. al., 2019). Anaphylaxis in itself can be considered a traumatic event. A meaningful proportion of those who experience it, including children and

their parents, display stress symptoms following the event (L, 2020). Thus, the implications of neglecting individuals with AGS in terms of failing to meet their basic physical and emotional needs over time, will have damaging effects on their lives as well as the individuals who support them.

Within medical treatment, the body is a central point of interest between the patient and physician. One's dependence on the body can reveal itself through their life journey and the navigation of trauma. Therapeutic treatment aims to dissect a wider range of emotional elements that can be associated with managing life circumstances. The relationship between an individual's mind and body is a core element in how Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) developed from Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in the late 1980s by the work of Steve Hayes, Kelly Wilson, and Kirk Strosal (Smith, n.d.). Rather than attempting to change the personal, social, geographical, political, and emotional experiences one endures, ACT begins with acceptance of one's reality alongside their thoughts. Ultimately, this mindfulness-based therapy encourages individuals to develop more meaning and purpose to life by bringing positive changes. This is done by understanding how to develop a relationship with their struggles through an inquisition of their thoughts alongside personal values.

Cognitive fusion refers to when thoughts and experiences become indistinguishable from one another. Cognitive defusion (CD) is a form of de-literalization. Within Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), CD is utilized to distance an individual from their thoughts by viewing them subjectively (Hayes, et. al, 2012). The benefits of cognitive defusion include increased mindfulness of direct experience (i.e., feelings, sensations, etc.). This distancing in combination with use of metaphor can help individuals understand the depth of their reality rather than becoming stuck on painful and self-defeating thoughts (Bennett & Oliver, 2019).

#### Art Therapy and Body Mapping

Art therapy has shown to be an effective tool for improving quality of life while reducing symptoms of depression, anxiety, stress (Keser, 2016). The goal of art therapy aims to uncover an individual's unconscious, as a means for deepened personal understanding and healing, through utilizing a continuum of mediums and directives. Art creates visual symbolization for individuals to express what is experienced. Art often becomes a reflection of the creator by establishing a sense of clarity and control through the construction and projection process. For the purpose of this research, art therapy is a form of phenomenological inquiry. The arts-based qualitative data will be gathered and presented with emphasis on the autonomy of participants as narrators of their lived experiences over the researcher's attempt to analyze and describe.

Body mapping, designed by Jane Soloman in 2008, originated as an aid for individuals with serious health concerns (Solomon, 2008). The art therapy directive displays success in documenting and connecting communities through the consideration and visual expression of autobiography. Solomon's original intention of establishing context for expressing and connecting narratives of frequently bypassed individuals has further succeeded in empowering participants in their healing journey by creating a discussion for political advocacy. This body mapping research will expand on what began as an expression of what it is like to live with HIV and AIDS through the expression and consideration of the socio-cultural context for individuals living with AGS. Collected data will be represented in a collaborative film to directly aid and connect the population of concern, raise public awareness, and call to action the relevant need for further social action.

The call for social action and increased awareness surrounding AGS is overdue. As of 2017, Flaherty et. al. documented just over seven years as the average time for almost eighty

percent of participants to receive a correct AGS diagnosis. It is promising that the timeline for diagnoses will decrease as cases and public awareness increases. However, this requires an avenue for information to be spread effectively. When healthcare providers and legislation fail to properly support their condition, patients with AGS establish a new trust and aid through other sources such as friends, news, online searches, and social media groups (Platt & Carrison, 2019). Part of this study will include developing a film as an advocacy tool for the AGS community. In order to best advocate for those living with this condition, the film will focus on capturing and connecting the individual experience of participants. More specifically, the shared perception of thoughts and senses surrounding living with AGS will be the overarching displayed narrative. The final product of the film will be a collaboration between the researcher and the participants through what is expressed. It will be shaped around revealed themes of overlapping and differentiating mind-sets expressed through shared opinions, interpretations, and chosen words of advice given to individuals who are newly diagnosed with AGS.

#### **Research Question**

This research will examine the participants' narration of their body maps through the six basic principles of ACT: cognitive defusion, expansion and acceptance, contact and connection with the present moment, observing self, clarifying values, and committed action. This multidimensional study will attempt to document several aspects that precede individuals with AGS through a mixed methods approach of quantitative surveys, and qualitative art representation as an aim to expand on the sparse existing research of this population.

This research project seeks to capture the experience and feelings of stress, isolation, and neglect of individuals with Alpha-Gal Syndrome (AGS) and how connection to community serves as a valuable tool to combating these concerns, displayed through body mapping and collaborative film. Thus, the purpose of this investigation will be to determine if body mapping will reveal overlapping themes of experience through qualitative analysis. The data and phenomenological themes of living with AGS will be translated into an accessible film for patients, caretakers, peers, and policy makers. Lastly, the results of this study will contribute to further developing, strengthening, and establishing validity within the field of art therapy.

#### Conclusion

Above all, supplemental research is needed to better understand the psychological and pragmatic experiences for individuals living with AGS. This tick-borne illness is life-altering and life threatening as the elements to managing AGS are greater than a typical food allergy. Documenting levels of perceived stress and lived experience will serve as valuable tools for patient advocacy. Improved awareness and education for AGS will reduce the risk of misdiagnosis. Additionally, it will contribute to the push for furthering supportive AGS specific legislation, such as increased labeling on products that may not be considered as hazardous to the general public. Furthermore, as the public gains awareness of the profound implications of this condition, more support will be established for individuals living with AGS, ultimately improving the safety and quality of their lives.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### **History of Alpha-gal**

It is important to note that alpha-gal syndrome has emerged more recently within the field of medicine, creating a need for expanding existing biological and mental health literature on this topic. While there is documentation of at least two groups reporting an onset of meat allergy after tick bites in late 2000, it wasn't until 2005 in which AGS introduced itself into the field of medicine during the first infusion of cetuximab in clinical trials (Alpha-gal info, 2022). In 2007 the number of patients experiencing extreme reactions to cetuximab continued to climb as two cases of delayed anaphylaxis after eating beef were reported (Tick and Mammalian Meat allergy, 2021). In 2008 alpha-gal IgE antibodies were linked to cancer patients who received cetuximab (Chung et al., 2008).

The reactions to cetuximab resulted in lowered blood pressure, difficulty breathing, emergency shots of epinephrine and hospitalization for some, and death for a patient in Bentonville, Arkansas. Ultimately, a team of researchers in Virginia including Dr. Thomas Plats-Mills, Dr. Tina Hatley, Dr. Scott Commins, and several others identified the sugar galactose alpha-1, 3-galactose (alpha-gal) to be the link after an association between the number of cases and areas of prevalent Rocky Mountain spotted fever was made (Commins et al. 2009; Dahlgren et al., 2016; Tick and Mammalian Meat allergy, 2021). Dr. Sheryl van Nunen found a link between red meat allergy and ticks in Australia in 2007, though it wasn't until 2009 when the research team became aware of this finding (Alpha-gal info, 2022). Since then, Alpha-gal reactions have been documented globally except for the Arctic and Antarctic. AGS has also been associated with bites from at least ten species of ticks and chiggers (redbugs, harvest mites, etc.), including the lone-star tick (Stoltz, 2018).

#### **Diagnosis, Reactions, and Anaphylaxis**

AGS is understood as a type of allergy which involves an IgE antibody response. The unusual aspect to this allergy being that IgE-mediated allergies typically result in clinical symptoms less than thirty minutes after exposure whereas AGS can be immediate or delayed 2-10 hours (Commins et al. 2009; Commins et al., 2016; Steinke et al., 2015; Sharma and Karim, 2021). Researchers believe the delayed response is largely due to the way the associated glycolipid is metabolized and is also correlated to how meat digestion, absorption, transport, and occurs within the immune system (Steinke et al., 2015; Platts-Mills et al., 2015b; Sharma & Karim, 2021). The blood test for AGS which identifies the Ig-E antibodies specific to alpha-gal has been available since 2010 (Viracor-IBT Laboratories in Lee's Summit, Missouri; Binder et al., 2021). Yet, the most used allergy tests consist of skin pricks which do not accurately identify an alpha-gal allergy. Moreover, the overarching lack of education in addition to the idiosyncratic and delayed feature of this illness challenges previous understandings of food allergies, making it difficult for patients to receive a diagnosis for their experiences (Flaherty et al., 2017).

Narrowing down a diagnosis can be traumatic, especially when it involves lifethreatening illness, invasive medical procedures (Hall & Hall, 2013). The life-altering effects and feelings of powerlessness that come forward during this time of uncertainty suggest an importance for addressing common psychological and emotional impacts of medical trauma (Hall & Hall, 2013) in addition to the daily experiences of managing AGS. Unfortunately, during and after concluding their search for answers, patients continue to experience severe and sometimes fatal reactions. Patients with AGS experience a range and variety of reactions (Fischer, et al., 2016). Specific symptoms include urticaria (hives, welts, or nettle rash), angioedema (swelling underneath the skin), pruritus (itchy skin), and systemic anaphylaxis. Some patients also report more immediate nausea, indigestion, diarrhea, and abdominal discomfort before AGS onset while others report experiencing none of the above (Platts-Mills et al., 2015b; Wilson et al., 2017). Other clinical responses which need to be investigated further include reports of abnormal neuro-psychiatric behavior (abulia, aphasia, abnormal gait, and reduction of limb movement; (Wuerdeman & Harrison, 2014) as well as spontaneously resolving palpitations and tachycardia (Daripa & Lucchese, 2022; Vas-Rodrigues et al., 2022).

While it is stated in reference across AGS literature, the most severe reaction to alpha-gal is anaphylaxis (CDC, 2022). Anaphylaxis requires immediate medical treatment as this overrelease of chemicals is both shock inducing and life threatening. Warning signs may include: red rash, swelling of the throat or areas of the body, wheezing, rapid or weak pulse, dizziness or passing out, chest tightness, difficulty breathing, coughing, hoarse voice, drooling or trouble swallowing, vomiting, diarrhea, stomach cramping, pale or red coloring to face (warmth/flushing) and/or body, and feeling of impending doom (Allergy Asthma & Immunology, 2022; Mayo Clinic, 2022). It is also possible for a second anaphylactic reaction, or biphasic reaction, to occur up to twelve hours after the first occurrence. Yet, AGS patients, alongside all individuals who experience anaphylactic reactions, will continue to remain at risk for future anaphylaxis daily regardless of treatment with self-administered epinephrine and hospitalization (the American College of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology, 2022).

#### Management

Anaphylaxis reactions may require fluid resuscitation, vasopressors, and intubation in addition to intravenous epinephrine (Mchugh & Repanshek, 2022). In order to reduce risk of fatality, treatment for AGS requires an incorporation of both medical and nonmedical daily management. Non-medical management interventions center around avoidance, tick bite prevention, wearing medical alert bracelets, and education surrounding exposures (i.e., hidden exposures in nutrition fact, risk for ingredients within both personal care and pharmaceutical products, manufacturing processes, etc.). Medical management pertains to clinical treatments such as carrying self-administered epinephrine and self-medicating for symptoms with medications such as oral antihistamines, corticosteroids, lying down with elevated legs, and cold compresses. Patients may also make note of several studies which identify a handful of elements which can exacerbate the severity of reactions (i.e., alcohol, physical exercise, use of nonsteroidal analgesic drugs, and menstrual cycles; Wölbing et al., 2013; Fischer et al., 2014; Versluis et al., 2016). Alternatively, there is also promising and developing research within nontraditional methods to combat allergies with cannabinoids (Angelina et al., 2020).

#### **Tick Prevention**

While there are a few optimistic reports of symptoms lessening and even disappearing over time, there is no certainty as to why additional bites can also increase sensitivity levels (Commins et al., 2011; Levin et al., 2019). Lone star tick bites can occur year-round (Fonseca, 2018), most commonly in the early fall and late spring (CDC, 2022). Deer have been noted as the primary host for the Lone Star Tick, though it is important to note that high populations of ticks are found in wooded, bushy areas with long grass (Molaei et al., 2019). The Mayo clinic suggests covering up (i.e. wearing long pants and tucking them into socks, full length sleeves, a hat, and gloves), remaining on trails with any accompanying pets, using insect repellents and permethrin infused clothing, clearing your yard of brush and leaves (moving these piles into sunny areas), checking for ticks after hikes, showering with a washcloth immediately after outings, and carefully removing any ticks with tweezers and antiseptic as soon as possible (Mayo Clinic, 2022).

#### Avoidance

Following tick-bite exposure, the primary piece of information patients receives in regard to managing AGS is to avoid mammalian meat such as cows, pigs, lambs, rabbits, buffalos, bison, and kangaroos (Commins, 2016). However, alpha-gal is found within a large variety of foods, products, and manufacturing processes which do not always indicate adequate labeling disclosures. AGS patients should also be made aware of risk with pork gut casings for sausages, mammalian fat in foods (often found in gravies and sauces for added flavor), Gelatin (derived from collagen and used within jellybeans, marshmallows, puddings, contact lenses, shampoo, tattoo ink, etc.), stocks and bouillon cubes, and carrageenan (extracted from red edible seaweeds and is used as a thickening agent). Specific medical uses which contain mammalian proteins or parts are listed as the following: monoclonal antibodies (used to treat infection), gelatincontaining medications (i.e. the capsules that incase many medicines), enzyme replacement for diseases such as cystic fibrosis, bovine or porcine heart valves, anti-venom and various vaccinations (e.g. acetaminophen, oxycodone, lisinopril, and oxycontin), heparin, and hormone therapies (e.g. thyroid, oral birth control pills, etc.) (Office of HIV/AIDS and Infectious Disease Policy, 2022; Commins, 2020).

As one dissects the range and uses for the products listed above, they may come to understand the level of difficulty it is to achieve full avoidance, especially given that many of the medications are frequently used within emergency medical procedures and products that one may not associate with a meat allergy (Commins, 2020). There is no current research which pertains to specific AGS fears elicited by the possibility of medical responders lacking knowledge of this illness. However, one suggestion for combatting the concern, aside from increased education, could be to provide suggestions to patients on labeling medical alert badges in the event they are in need of emergency medical attention. Given the expressed research, experts will need to establish the most beneficial warnings for AGS patients to disclose. Nonetheless, due to the expressed prevalence, it is vital for patients and doctors to be aware of medical risks.

#### Misleading Information and Byproducts

The CDC (2021) discloses valuable information regarding vaccinations and makes explicit notes of the concern for gelatin, glycerin (also found in many skin care products; Becker et al., 2019), magnesium stearate, and bovine extract. Yet, the webpage is misleading in disclosing poultry (chicken, turkey, duck, or quail), eggs, seafood (fish and shrimp), and fruits and vegetables to not contain alpha-gal as it is possible for many of these items to trigger an allergic response due to the manufacturing processes they undergo (Dey & Nagababu, 2022). For example, if someone with AGS consumes chicken, they could be at risk for cross contamination if other mammalian meat is processed with the same equipment or on the same line in addition to if the bird was given any antibiotics treatments which contain the alpha-gal epitope. Further research is needed to determine the reported links between chicken eggs and alpha-gal reactions (Alpha-gal Information, 2022)

Currently, the Alpha-Gal Information page (2022) lists the most extensive data on these types of product risks, making it a valuable resource for AGS patients to access and be aware of. AGS requires a heightened awareness of the potential threat from processors and manufacturers. Ground turkey is often processed with additives to keep the color fresh which can raise a concern and fish can undergo carrageenan or gelatin agents. Even "Kosher" products are not entirely alpha-gal safe. Until food professionals are required to label all processing agents, animal byproducts, stabilizers, and "natural ingredients" by a clear and recognizable name, the risk for anaphylaxis due to hidden exposures remains a threat to the AGS population.

#### Not so "Vegan": Carrageenan, Sugar, and "Natural Flavoring"

When considering AGS management, one could conclude that a vegan lifestyle change may be the solution to alleviating risk for exposure. However, this is not necessarily the case as labeling regulations remain unclear for consumers on many vegan products. As mentioned above, carrageenan is derived from red algae, yet it also contains the alpha-gal epitope (Tobacman, 2015). Items with added sugar pose a threat when they are "non-organic" as they often go through a refining process that contains mammal bones (PETA, 2015). Additionally, beavers emit a "goo" called castoreum from their anal glands. Castoreum gives off a "natural" musky vanilla scent, making it an appealing additive to flavoring (e.g., raspberry and vanilla flavoring, baked goods, beverages, etc.), and perfumes (Burdock, 2007).

Any product containing carrageenan, sugar, and "natural" ingredients can also be labeled as vegan. The FDA's regulations and use of umbrella terms such as "natural," "vegan," and "plant-based" lack specificity, making it difficult for any consumer to evaluate the exact ingredients they are purchasing or if they are mammal-free (Yacoubau, 2018). Unfortunately for individuals with AGS, this lack of specificity, in combination with the simple act of enjoying a can of sparkling water, could be the difference between life and death. Lecturer on Law and Clinical Instructor (Harvard Law School Animal Law and Policy Clinic), Nicole Negowetti, discusses the role of the FDA and The Federal Trade Commission in regulating food safety in her 2021 Oregon Law Review (p.117) stating:

*The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and the FDA have overlapping jurisdiction to regulate the advertising and labeling of foods. Section 343(a) of the FDCA*  prohibits the "misbranding" of food, which includes labeling that "is false or misleading in any particular."127 Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act prohibits "unfair or deceptive acts or practices,"128 and § 12 and § 15 of the Federal Trade Commission Act prohibit "any false advertisement" of food products that is "misleading in a material respect." This shared jurisdiction over labeling and advertising of food products operates pursuant to a longstanding Memorandum of Understanding between the agencies. Under this agreement, the FDA exercises primary responsibility for regulating food labeling, while the FTC assumes primary responsibility for ensuring that advertising food products are truthful and not misleading. (Negowetti, 2020)

Thus, it is logical to argue where the FDA and FTC may be failing in their legal obligations towards the alpha-gal population due to the broad range of inconsistent and deceptive labeling. *Medical management* 

Many studies list commonly prescribed medications (non-containing gelatin or gelatin capsules) for managing symptoms. For example, patients may choose to implement the use of oral antihistamines if they have concern for encountering something like smoke from a grill. Other medications which have shown to be useful in differing scenarios include oral cromolyn solution (a mast cell stabilizer for gastrointestinal symptoms), oral corticosteroid (prescribed for patients with asthma), omalizumab (for symptoms consistent with 'mast cell activation'), and metformin (used in preparation for gastric bypass surgery; Commins et al., 2020).

#### Antihistamines and Serotonin Syndrome

Studies indicate histamines to have a strong influence on serotonin in the brain (Samaranayake et al., 2016; Threlfell et al., 2004; Schlicker et al, 1988; Fink et al., 1990),

evoking histamines and serotonin to be markers of inflammation and chronic stress. While stress does not inherently cause allergies, it can increase the body's histamine release into the bloodstream, making allergic reactions more severe. (Hersey et al., 2022). Daily use of antihistamines may be an appealing strategy in managing alpha-gal symptoms. Research has also linked long term use of Benadryl or diphenhydramine (and other anticholinergic medications) with an increased risk for dementia (Gray et al., 2015). Abruptly stopping use of antihistamines can result in withdrawal symptoms similar to opioid addiction. This seems to be a common thread across treatment facilities despite a severe lack of literature documenting this experience (Farzam, n.d.; CirqueLodge, 2022). Additionally, diphenhydramine can increase levels of serotonin in the brain. This raises concern for individuals taking selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) to develop serotonin syndrome (Graden, 2021). Serotonin syndrome can be life-threatening and includes symptoms of agitation, confusion, hallucinations, fever, sweating, shivering, muscle stiffness, loss of coordination, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea (Khan et al., 2018). Existing case studies are alarming yet limited in validating this potential side effect, requiring further exploration and additional reports (Schwartz et al., 2007; Tanaka et al., 2011).

### Cannabinoids

Within the endocannabinoid system, there are two primary cell receptors found on the surface of cells: Cannabinoid Receptor 1 (CB1) and Cannabinoid Receptor 2 (CB2). CB1 is associated with pain and CB2 with the immune system cells (Angelina et al., 2020). Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) binds to both CB1 and CB2 receptors while the benefits of cannabidiol (CBD) are seen through more indirect actions (Corroon & Philips, 2018). Cannabinoids have demonstrated an ability to modify the activity of the immune system, and in turn decrease the body's inflammatory response and alleviate pain (De Filippis et al., 2008).

However, research does not express an effectiveness in the binding affinity of CBD without THC, implying the medical benefits for allergy treatment and inflammatory response pertains predominately to THC (Giudice et al., 2007; Posival, 2016).

Mast cells release histamine and other factors which contribute to an inflammatory reaction. Evidence has been published on medical used cannabis suppressing mast cell degradation, suggesting use of THC to be a novel treatment for AGS patients (De Filippis et al., 2008). A 2019 study discusses how several research studies have exhibited cannabinoids to have anti-inflammatory properties in the airways and skin on both mice and humans (Bozkurt, 2019). Future studies are needed to expand understanding of exactly how cannabinoids function within immune responses. Yet, the existing literature displays promise for use of cannabinoids within chronic inflammatory and allergic disease treatment (Martin-Fontecha et al., 2014). In addition to consulting an allergy specialist, individuals with AGS considering the use of THC should also evaluate possible cross-contamination and byproducts which can be present within numerous marijuana products (e.g. manufacturing processes, adhesives on rolling papers, cross contamination from others if utilizing products within a social setting). Additionally, individuals may want to understand how the effects of cannabinoids can differ (positively, negatively, and detrimentally) depending on the compound utilized, how the compound is administered (i.e. edible, smoked, vaped), frequency and quantity of use, age of user, and any genetic mental illness predispositions (Owens et al., 2022; Petrilli, et al., 2022).

#### Alpha-gal response and Inflammation

Inflammation is the body's response to danger or damage. Acute inflammation can be beneficial and refers to the immediate response working to protect against infection (Hannoodee & Nasuruddin, 2021). Chronic inflammation is more prolonged (Pahwa et al., 2022). Over time, chronic inflammation can cause cellular damage, increasing the risk for illness (Yang et al., 2015). The anti- $\alpha$ -Gal-specific IgE response has been correlated with a increasing number of diseases including Alzheimer's disease (Angiolollo et al., 2021), atopy (i.e. allergic rhinitis, asthma, and atopic dermatitis or eczema), atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease (Gonzalez-Quintela et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2017, 2019). While this does not mean AGS results in these illnesses, there is evidence of inflammation being a well-known process within many infectious and non-infectious diseases (Hunter, 2012). Additionally, research displays evidence for chronic inflammation being the cause of numerous diseases (Pahwa et al., 2022).

Exposure to allergen(s) causes inflammation and continued or repetitive exposure leads to the development of chronic allergic inflammation (Galli et al., 2008). In addition to the medical application, inflammation has been displayed as a likely risk factor for every psychiatric disturbance (Miller et al., 2016). This research does not elude inflammation to be the root of mental illness rather than a possible cause related to a given individual's condition. Thus, the implications of the effects of inflammation within chronic and mental illness needs to be understood through the specific patterns of brain functioning and life circumstances.

#### Trauma

The American Psychological Association ascribes trauma to be:

Any disturbing experience that results in significant fear, helplessness, dissociation, confusion, or other disruptive feelings intense enough to have a long-lasting negative effect on a person's attitudes, behavior, and other aspects of functioning. Traumatic events include those caused by human behavior (e.g., rape, war, industrial accidents) as well as by nature (e.g., earthquakes) and often challenge an individual's view of the world as a just, safe, and predictable place (APA, 2022). Each element of managing AGS contains potential stressors and risks for experienced trauma. The effects of living with life-threatening allergies, such as AGS, can create significant discomfort, stress, and fear. A study found the average length of time for an AGS patient to receive a diagnosis to be seven years. Seven years of searching for answers equates to 2,555 days of suffering alongside a series of often painful and invasive medical procedures. Anaphylactic shock, or anaphylaxis, can be considered a traumatic event and even result in post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, and/or depression. When an individual experiences anaphylactic shock it is common for sadness, nervousness, worry, fears, and guilt to arise. Due to the lack of education surrounding AGS and the number of medications and equipment which can trigger anaphylaxis in this population, there is potential for many AGS patients to also develop a distrust (or a legitimate fear) in hospitals and doctors due to experiencing significant medical trauma. Traumatic events are not limited to the individual who endures them and can affect anyone perceiving them.

#### **Complex Trauma**

Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is common across high-stress occupations and is typically caused by listening, witnessing, or experiencing a traumatic event (Rauvola et. al, 2019). These events can often be attributed to natural events, accidents of fate, death, global crisis, etc. (Karatzias et. al, 2017). Alternatively, complex trauma or CPTSD is caused by ongoing trauma and frequently associated with interpersonal dynamics where there is a struggle to navigate and maintain effective physical/emotional boundaries due to conflicting power dynamics (i.e., one individual is dependent for physical/emotional safety. Cloitre et. al, 2013; Davis et. al, 2023). There is a disagreement in labeling complex trauma across the field of psychology where CPTSD is listed in the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) but not under the same term within the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5; Karatzias et. al, 2017). Regardless, overlapping symptoms between PTSD and CPTSD include re-experiencing trauma from triggered memories/experiences, avoidance of reminders of trauma, alterations in mood and thinking, and feeling more on edge (Cloitre, 2020). Individuals with CPTSD have reported additional symptoms such as long-term difficulties in maintaining relationships, difficulties managing emotions, strong feelings of worthlessness and guilt, physical symptoms (headaches, chest pains, and stomach aches), and suicidal thoughts (Torres et. al, 2023).

Treatment for PTSD can be found within trauma-focused therapies such as eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT; Khan et. al, 2018). Both EMDR and CBT encourage the client to recall and process past events in a safe and controlled environment to guide the transformation of negative thoughts, feelings, behaviors, and beliefs into positive and healthy alternatives (Lancaster et. al, 2016). These treatments can also be implemented for treating CPTSD (Khan et. al, 2018). However, PTSD treatments have been shown to be effective in 8-12 sessions whereas CPTSD sometimes requires more than six months of regular and recurring sessions (Darnall et. al, 2021; Davis et. al, 2023). This is because CPTSD requires an element of skill-building in learning how to manage strong emotions, create supportive relationships, and address feelings of worthlessness and guilt associated with prolonged trauma and more ingrained behaviors Jensen et. al, 2022). Additionally, the longer an individual endures CPTSD, the more rigid they may become in their defenses (Cruz et. al, 2022). Collaboration encourages and reinforces a client's agency (Castañer & Oliveira, 2020). Furthermore, collaborative and creative models display strength in promoting an open dialogue through encouraged partnership and trust between the clinician and client for individuals with CPTSD (Davis et. al, 2023).

#### Stress

Increased inflammatory activity has been associated with both acute and chronic stress (Maydych, 2019). The National Institute of Health (PDF) defines stress by "how the body and brain responds" to demands. Stress is beneficial when physical and psychological efforts are able to combat a given challenge, re-establishing homeostasis. However, when the demands exceed an individual's adaptive capacity, there is a direct effect on the biological processes and behavioral patterns which impact disease (Mariotti, 2015). Prolonged stress weakens the body's immune system, contributes to the development of various pathological conditions and diseases, and complicates existing disease management (Yaribeygi et al., 2017; Varadarajan et. al., 2022). This process can affect every system in the body, raising concern for the impact of stress on the musculoskeletal, respiratory, cardiovascular, endocrine, gastrointestinal, nervous, and reproductive systems in addition to the psychological impacts (Shaw et al., 2019).

#### AGS Stressors

Numerous studies discuss a range of factors which increase the risk for heightened stress. These factors include but are not limited to gender, community, race and ethnicity, socioeconomic status, ability, and age (Mayor, 2015; Mozumder, 2017; Byrd & McKinney, 2012; Eva & Thayer, 2017; Kabat-Zinn, 2013, Crowley & Munk, 2017). Chronic illness alters engagement with daily tasks and functioning. It also often results in numerous visible and invisible symptoms. Research expresses individuals with chronic medical conditions to be at higher risk of mental illness, predominantly depression, anxiety, adjustment disorders (pertaining to children and adolescents), and PTSD (National Institute of Mental Health; Koenen & Galea, 2014). Dr. Paige Freeman expresses living with AGS to be immensely stressful for a variety of reasons. The stressors that occur as a result of AGS can pertain to and go beyond the following categories: reactions and anaphylaxis, avoidance of the allergen, financial burden, social, interpersonal, familial stressors, delayed reaction, lack of familiarity with AGS in the medical community leading to delayed diagnosis and navigating conflicting and/or lack of information (Freeman, 2021).

#### **Perceived Stress and Personality**

Stress is an unobservable yet cross-cultural symptom across many health conditions (Vallejo et al., 2018). Perceived stress can be understood by an individual's thoughts or feelings pertaining to the amount of stress they experience at any specific point or over a period of time (Philips, 2013). Perceived stress measures coping of stress rather than the frequency of occurrence. Stressors perceived as greater threats trigger stronger stress responses than lesser threatening characteristics. This study focuses on revealing narrative and experience alongside the documentation and evaluation of perceived stress in participants affected by AGS, researchers have been exploring how different personality traits can allude to how an individual perceives, copes, and responds to a given event. While more extensive research is needed, numerous psychological studies have examined how health can be consequently altered by personality (Magee et al., 2013; Turiano et al., 2012). A 2016 study (Shields et al.) interrelates pessimism with increased stress, discussing several studies which have linked greater levels of pessimism to numerous negative outcomes (e.g., social disruption, poorer life quality, elevated inflammation, and early mortality). Lifestyle disruptions, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, can further impact stress levels of individuals with chronic illness by negatively impacting disease

management and access to care (Kendzerska, 2021). The specific biological, social, and psychological factors of stress pertaining to AGS patients have yet to be investigated.

#### **Perceived Stress Scale**

Researchers examine stress through several aims: environmental factors, psychological appraisal, and biological responses. The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) is a self-reporting psychological questionnaire based on the concept of cognitive appraisal by Richard Lazarus. This theory suggests an individual's reactions are caused by their appraisal or evaluation of a given event (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Dr. Sheldon Cohen structured the original PSS as a fourteen-item questionnaire (PSS-14) and was initially intended solely for the purpose of researching and measuring stress (Taylor, 2015). Over the years, the PSS has become one of the most widely used measurement instruments for evaluating psychological distress and understanding intervention effects (Galante et al., 2021; Makhubela, 2020). Several years after the PSS-14 was released, a shortened ten item scale (PSS-10) was developed in addition to a four-item scale (PSS-4) (Cohen et al., 1983; Cohen & Williamson, 1988). Of these three versions, the PSS-10 is arguably the most frequently used, contains the strongest psychometric properties, and is translated into over twenty-five languages (Makhubela, 2020). While the PSS is employed globally, test-retest reliability, criterion validity, and known-groups validity for English and non-English versions requires further investigation and evaluation (Lee, 2012).

Lazaurs and Susan Folkman acknowledged the experience of stress to be unavoidable but varied due to personal interpretation of surroundings, well-being, and capability. In their book *Stress, Appraisal, and Coping* (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), Lazuarus and Folkman state the initial interpretation of an event's relevance, harm/loss, threat, or challenge to occur within *primary* appraisal while *secondary* appraisal pertains to the decision making, coping, and evaluation of the event. Additionally, they believed individuals would ultimately respond and cope through solution seeking or self-regulation attempts (p. 44). While many psychological and physiological illnesses can be associated with stress, Cohen et al. emphasized the use of the PSS as a measure rather than a predictive instrument (1983). Stress levels fluctuate daily and are less reliable when evaluating long-term health (Epel et al., 2018). Understanding how an individual interprets and expresses their narrative may be needed to fully comprehend the nuances and details of one's experience and needs (Wang & Geale, 2015). Understanding how an individual interprets and expresses their narrative may be needed to fully comprehend the nuances and details of one's experience and needs (Wang & Geale, 2015).

#### **Reappraisal and Acceptance**

In most situations, individuals seek solutions when a sense of understanding and ability to alter the stressor is achievable whereas emotion-focused coping is used in regulating responses for an uncontrollable stressor (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984). Problem focused interventions contain the risk of bypassing previous negative thoughts or feelings that accompany previous trauma. Conversely, emotion-focused coping encourages reappraisal or reconsideration of a situation, creating opportunity for individuals to alter appraisals that contribute to negative emotions (Gross, 1998; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The process of reappraisal occurs consistently as an individual reevaluates and processes their experience.

Troy et al. (2018) discusses how reframing one's thoughts (reappraisal) and accepting feelings without judgment or attempted control (acceptance) to have positive psychological health benefits over time. Reappraisal becomes more difficult as the intensity of a situation increases (Ortner et al., 2016). An extensive review of the literature expresses reappraisal to have effective and beneficial short- and long-term effects on experienced emotion (positive and negative). Though less is known about the short-term effects, physiological responses, and perceived costs, evidence suggests acceptance to have similar benefits on psychological health. (Troy et al., 2018). Acceptance alters how an individual actively relates to their thoughts or feelings rather than attempting to alter a given experience or emotion (Linehan et al., 2006).

Several research findings suggest emotion-focused coping to be most beneficial when reappraisal is used for immediate evaluation and for individuals experiencing acute depressive or anxiety symptoms and employing acceptance after emotional relief has taken place (Troy et al., 2018; Segal, 2008; Teasdale et al., 2000). Literature also indicates acceptance to be less difficult to use and more effective than reappraisal at altering the physiological response to emotional stimuli (Troy et al., 2018). Though more recent neural imagery shows reappraisal to be more successful at reducing short-term emotional reactivity with greater effort than acceptance (Goldin et al., 2019). Results may vary due to the nature of a study and the individual participants. Thus, additional research is required for determining implications of findings and consistency across literature.

#### ACT

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) is a mindfulness intervention rooted in empirical science. This "third wave" of behavioral therapy approaches encourages individuals to engage actively and openly with thoughts, feelings, sensations, and memories to create a meaningful life (Hayes et al., 2013). ACT is not driven by avoidance or controlling a given problem but how one relates to their experience. This therapeutic framework finds success in working towards accepting unwanted experiences outside of one's control and embracing personal values in life. While avoidance may temporarily provide short-term relief, it leads to greater long-term distress and dysfunction (Hayes et al., 2011). As individuals learn to perceive
psychological discomfort as harmless and allow anxiety/emotion to fluctuate without judgment, symptom reduction occurs as a byproduct to the transformation process (Moens et al., 2022).

### **Psychological Flexibility**

ACT is not so much about what an individual is feeling rather than how they relate to it which is explored. Co-developer of ACT, Steven Hayes, labels the ability to "make contact with experience in the present moment fully and without defense" as psychological flexibility (Hayes). When practicing psychological flexibility, individuals can respond with personal values in mind, rather than fighting or avoiding their feelings and thoughts, allowing a healthier relationship with their neural networks and more control over their lives (Aydin & Aydin, 2021; Hayes & Lillis, 2012). There are six interdependent core processes for developing psychological flexibility: cognitive defusion (relating subjectively to thoughts), acceptance, contact with the present moment (focusing on the here and now), the observing self (noticing oneself; Bach et al., 2008), values (an endless component to life, not necessarily something to be achieved), and committed action (adapting behavior in line with values despite ongoing barriers or difficulties; Aydin & Aydin, 2021; Barrett et al., 2019, Hayes et al., 2012). When these processes are practiced continuously and in accordance with one another, psychological flexibility has a positive effect on well-being and decreasement of stress (Wersebe et al., 2018).

### ACT and Art Therapy

Mental and physical illness result in a variety of complex support needs across many aspects of life (Kuluski et al., 2017). Growing empirical evidence supports ACT as an effective treatment approach for a wide range of mental and physical conditions and within numerous therapeutic settings (mental health, primary care, and specialty clinics) and formats (including short workshops, online applications, and telehealth; Dindo et al., 2017). Qualitative and quantitative research continues to support the effectiveness of mindfulness-based art therapy interventions on a variety of diverse populations. Individuals with complex support needs are socially marginalized, and often encounter discrimination and disadvantages as their experiences are bypassed or left unheard (Collings et al., 2017). Art therapy reduces the reliance of verbal communication, allowing an individual to consider their narrative through an active art-making experience. When combined, art therapy can the evidence-based concepts of ACT, creating a genuine, unique, and practical healing transformation for clients (p. 18; Backos, 2022).

Art making engages the mind, body, and spirit. This limits the need for confidently articulating trauma by providing an alternative mode for expressing, understanding, and relating to personal insights and experiences. Visual and symbolic expression welcomes kinesthetic, sensory, perceptual, and symbolic communication (American Art Therapy Association, 2017). Due to the largely non-verbal and bodily experiences of trauma, the mindfulness concepts within ACT show promise in grounding individuals as they recall, work through, and express personal narratives. Though art therapy research is limited, art therapists express direct improvements in cognitive and sensorimotor functions, self-esteem and self-awareness, insight, emotional resilience, strengthening social skills, reducing and resolving conflicts and distress, and in promoting societal and ecological changes with clinical usage (American Art Therapy Association, 2022).

In *ACT Art Therapy: Creative Approaches to Acceptance and Commitment Therapy* (2022), Dr. Amy Backos discusses how the combination of art therapy and ACT is a powerful tool for facilitating social justice. Backos highlights neuropsychological research, emphasizing evidence on how brain plasticity and art therapy can achieve self-regulation (p. 72-73; Carolan & Hill, 2018; Lusebrink & Heinz, 2016; Chapman, 2014; Hinz 2020). Throughout her book (2022),

Backos expresses the transformative components of ACT in conjunction with art therapy, highlighting the importance of addressing various contexts in order to best aid clients in internalizing and stimulating change (p. 17). When mindfulness and chosen values are affirmed, individuals can engage in the here and now. Mindfulness in art therapy promotes a nonjudgmental acceptance and release, encouraging patience, trust, gratitude, and generosity (p. 99-101). When ACT research is multilevel, process-based, multidimensional, prosocial, and pragmatic, it promotes cultural humility and growth (p. 241; Hayes et. al, 2021). Though there is still an immense need for unpacking the specific and combined components of art therapy and ACT, this book confirms that striving to integrate the two promotes greater psychological flexibility for all.

# **Body Mapping**

Mindfulness practices can be found in traditional Eastern philosophical practices as well as Native American tradition (Kabat-Zinn, 2014). Mindfulness improves self-regulation and well-being by connecting mind (awareness and presence) and bodily sensations (Kabat-Zinn, 2014; Mahlo & Windsor, 2021). Reflecting on acknowledging one's state of being can serve as a foundation for deepened self-understanding (Kabat-Zinn, 2014; Mahlo & Windsor, 2021; Schultchen et al., 2019). Body mapping is a mindfulness directive where an individual is instructed to either stand or lay on a paper for an initial body outline. This intervention is a form of externalizing or diffusing trauma, promoting a reclamation of the physical/emotional self through complex processing for increased regulation and growth within the application of art materials (Lusebrink & Hinz, 2016). Following the body tracing, the individual is invited to represent their investigation of self through related visual depictions, symbols, and words (de Jager et al., 2016). In doing so, body mapping elicits a co-production of knowledge while being a literal and metaphorical approach to storytelling (Gastaldo et al., 2018; Kincheloe, 2001).

Jane Solomon developed the body mapping method in 2002 focused on facilitating knowledge and understanding through therapeutic exploration of life experiences. This project was revolutionary in transforming an art-therapy intervention into a qualitative research tool. Through facilitated therapy for women in South Africa with HIV/AIDS, Solomon's project allowed the women to depict and narrate their experiences through creative art making. Body mapping is done in collaboration between the researcher and participant, combating power imbalances by labeling the participant as an expert in interpretation of preserving the subjective view (Klein & Miller, 2019). This collaboration further works to combat researcher bias while heightening methodological rigor as the participant provides insights and interpretation, leading to a greater sense of gratitude, self-empowerment, and internal validity. For marginalized populations which lack representation in societal-defined narratives (e.g. experience of illness, weaknesses, or stigmatized experiences), the sharing of testimonies ensures the participant's voice is accurately represented (Klein & Miller, 2019). Healing can be attributed within the reconceptualization of narratives where participants depict layered meanings and associations with identity rather than one experience or part being representative of the whole individual (Brett-MacLean, 2009; Skop, 2016).

Internal symptoms and triggers can be overwhelming for individuals with complex trauma (Steele et. al, 2017). Art makes sensory engagement more feasible by providing a container for enhancing somatic awareness and increasing the capacity to focus cognition inward (Davis et. al, 2023). Body mapping serves as a safe approach in capturing a person's complex needs through reflection and embodying visual storytelling which allows the participant to dictate their expression of narrative (Orchard, 2017, p.2). This method engages individuals physically, visually, verbally, and relationally to explore how lived experiences manifest within an individual's body through stored emotion (like how experiences can be stored in memories, embodied knowledge). Additionally, the process stimulates creativity, eliciting a deeper reflection and unveiling of more novel information in relation to social context (de Jager et al., 2016). The healing transformation of these elements emerge through the physical engagement with the artwork, considering and describing the process and meaning of the experience, and relating through conversation and interaction with participating members (Gastaldo et al., 2018; Solomon, 2002).

Top-down processing of traumatic experiences involves verbal responses to sensations whereas bottom-up processing focuses more on the non-verbal aspects within sensory-based responses to stimulus or triggers (King, 2016). Due to the functioning of the limbic system during the originating experience and processing of traumatic events, research suggests "topdown" approaches may not be adequate for expression and healing of trauma (Taylor et. al., 2010). The non-verbal elements to body mapping provide an avenue for bottom-up processing, encouraging participants to tap into disturbing states (e.g., pain, discomfort, and frustration) and connect meaning to the participant's mind, body, feelings, thoughts, experiences and social interactions. This facilitates liberation in experience by establishing and validating the legitimacy of their illness which may have been previously dismissed (Skop, 2016). The group experience of this data collection validates participants in their sharing of chronic and contested illness disruptions. Additionally, the knowledge each participant brings to the group functions in supporting and inspiring associating members who often feel isolated in their experiences of pain (Bülow, 2004). Since its creation, body mapping has been implemented as a means for both data collection and therapeutic purposes, applying elements of primarily qualitative research designs. Over time, this form of inquiry has shown to be impactful in community, institutional, and political settings (Gastaldo et al., 2018; Solomon, 2007). Additionally, the combination of narrative, knowledge production, and advocacy strengths within body mapping have been applied to a variety of populations and health concerns. While there is a large range of interpretive strategies across literature, Gastaldo et al. (2018), describe "body mapping storytelling" (BMST), in regard to data generation and analysis, as comparable to what Lincoln and Guba (2013) have labeled as "interpretive critical inquiry" (p.89). With greater understanding and consistent theory, BMST has the potential to significantly transform health research by unveiling diverse and inclusive realities (Sweet et al, 2014). Interpretive critical inquiry acknowledges potential social conflict and marginalization of society and research, to cultivate a detailed understanding of lived experience (Gastaldo et al., 2018).

#### **Participatory Arts-Based Research**

Body mapping is a valuable methodological tool for qualitative inquiry designs, most notably in regard to health research. Literature shows the research use of body mapping to be largely participatory and collaborative in advocating for populations. Though, the benefits of applying specific theory in combination with this research and therapeutic tool have yet to be justifiably explored. Dr. Amy Backos (2022, p. 26) describes the purpose of theory (within therapy) to be crucial in helping clients achieve effective change and understanding of self. The importance of theory is not limited to benefiting a client in therapy. Theory is a motivating framework for researchers to consider direction, structure, expectations, applicable factors, and establishes logical reasoning. ACT shifts emphasis from symptomology onto personal values similarly to how

participatory arts-based research (PAR) favors social justice and critical inquiry over individual problems. PAR designs are effective in unleashing counter-narratives, allowing participants with the lived experiences to be active producers of reflective paradigm shifts. PAR more commonly occurs over a longer duration of time where researchers become part of the community, allowing a detached individual to conduct the determined structure. Thus, integrating ACT theory as a framework for shorter-term studies, such as considering PAR as an influential lens for conducting body mapping research, is promising in addressing aspects of larger social concerns.

### **Decolonising Research and Reflexivity**

Structuring body mapping methodology with ACT theory may also be beneficial for understanding the decoloniality of research projects. Dr. Caroline Lenette (2022) discusses the importance of decolonising methods through cultural safety in participatory arts-based research, acknowledging where she failed to consider cultural safety of the methodology within her own body mapping research (Boydell et. al., 2020). Lenettem, 2022, states reflexivity to be ethically vital for researchers in diverse and complex settings. This refers to understanding bias, awareness, and personal values researchers hold to avoid reinforcing "colonial-ist infused" methodologies." Body mapping originated in Jamaica and South Africa (de Jager et al., 2016). Over time, this participatory method has been adapted and applied to western research contexts. In the process of "whitewashing," some of the originating and culturally safe elements of body mapping have been disregarded through western research applications (Lenettem 2022).

### Cultural Safety

Research contributes to decolonization when chosen methodology is evaluated through a culturally safe and reflexive lens (Lenettem, 2022). Purely acknowledging culture within

research is not adopting a culturally safe and reflexive lens. Cultural safety recognizes cultural factors (i.e., race, ethnicity, gender, beliefs, moral values, traditions, language, laws, etc.) in relation to the relevant populations' well-being as a means to optimize respect, non-discriminatory agents, and beneficial outcomes (Dawson et. al, 2021). When researchers provide detailed explanations on how they've used methods in culturally safe ways, they are practicing cultural safety (Lenettem, 2022). This does not call for a rigid set of standards or a singular definition of culture but an acknowledgement and understanding of how to consider, integrate, and address cultural perspectives. Thus, arts-based research can serve as a means for researchers to understand the history of chosen methodology, differing contexts of use, and in valuing the participants' lived experiences.

### Film, Advocacy, and Social Media within the Community

If the goal of research is to expand knowledge and deepen understanding of a topic or issue, researchers must also question how this can be done in a culturally safe way. Published academic literature is often bypassed by the general population, calling into question how researchers can best relay information in a way that maximizes the benefits for the population of study. Documentary storytelling through film holds power in increasing emotional connection, encouraging the viewer to relate to a subjects' lived experiences. Additionally, participants can feel valued when agency is given over what they choose to express. Distributing film through various forms of digital media (i.e. social media, new sources, blog posts, etc.), carries the potential for increasing social impact and public interest, generating and contributing to a larger sphere of influence and connection for the population.

When displayed experiences are rooted in factual data and tied to a broader social justice picture, film becomes a methodological approach for initiating public attention, political action, and policy change (Oyalowo et al., 2021). Creative art expression serves as an alternative to traditional forms of printed communication, transforming the way research can be contextualized. In order to strengthen the connection between research and policy, researchers must consider how outcomes of their studies can benefit society (Rogers & Herbert, 2019). Body mapping and documentary filmmaking are collaborative and participatory processes, proven to display narrative context that has previously been bypassed in academia (Lenettem, 2022). While both have been used for institutional and political research communication, ethics and source credibility must also be considered when displaying and advocating with data expressed in documentary film (Oyalowo et al., 2021; Nichols, 2001). For individuals who are yet to be diagnosed with AGS, as stated, increased public awareness may also increase likelihood of a timely diagnosis (Flaherty et al., 2017).

While the combination of collaborative film and arts-based research requires a variety of evaluations to promote data as valid and reliable, film is an accessible resource across a broad range of cultural contexts. Collaborative film holds potential for empowering participants as co-collaborators in expressing personal narrative as a means to connect a lesser known population that has experienced immense levels of societal neglect. Research shows social connection to be essential in lowering chronic illness mortality rates (Tan & Wang, 2019). When individuals feel withdrawn, film can connect them to a community and inspire a prioritization of health. In a world of conflicting information, film can serve as a potential for recentering an individual in the here and now as they absorb content. For individuals who may be feeling overwhelmed in the experience of a chronic diagnosis such as AGS, a documentary film may provide a sense of grounding and direction in beginning to understand the intricacies of daily management. At the

#### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

#### **Hypothesis and Research Questions**

The study's research questions include:

- Do individuals managing Alpha-Gal Syndrome (AGS) express heightened levels of perceived stress?
- 2. Do individuals with AGS benefit from group participation and art making?
- 3. Can AGS be associated with food avoidance due to unclear labeling/understanding of the product's manufacturing processes?
- 4. Will body mapping and/or interviewing reveal a narrative of lived experience for individuals with AGS through emergence of overlapping themes?
- 5. Will collaborative filmmaking create a sense of purpose and positive inclusion for individuals with AGS?

It is hypothesized that body mapping will work to reveal the narrative of lived experience with overlapping themes for individual participants who engage in art therapy and educational collaborative filmmaking will create a sense of purpose in positive inclusion as measured by intercoder reliability. The researcher predicted elements of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) and storytelling to be effective in expressing individual experiences with art therapy serving as a promising tool in connecting participants with AGS through their shared narratives. Additionally, the present study hypothesized individuals managing AGS to report higher levels on PSS-10 and that individuals would find participating in a group to have a positive impact on daily management. Listed below are assumptions about perceived stress and body mapping that were located from literature in art therapy, psychology, philosophy, and neuropsychiatry.

### Mixed-Methods Investigation, Collaborative Methodological Research

The proposed study requested the utilization of a combined quantitative, qualitative, phenomenological art-based inquiry, and collaborative research inquiry. Each component of analysis provided guidelines to achieve an in-depth mixed-methods investigation which validated and privileged the individual experience of participants, labeling them as experts in understanding their own data. When participants assumed this role, they became jointcontributors in the investigation and therefore co-researchers in the collaborative and qualitative research process. The purpose of this study was to explore the experience of individuals living with Alpha-gal Syndrome (AGS) in a way where the results are directly accessible and beneficial towards the population of concern.

This research serves an immense purpose in connecting existing data and management tools while examining both empirical measurements and exploration of dialogue within an interpretive phenomenological framework. Participants exercised autonomy in disclosure of data for a collaborative film representation. The structure of this film serves as an accessible resource and advocacy tool to directly aid, connect, and empower the AGS community in addition to educating viewers on. In completion of this study, this researcher identified currently nonexistent psychological and empirical data on this population through first-hand participant expression of experience. The potential outcome of this research holds weight in greatly benefiting and contributing to the needs of individuals living with AGS.

# **Definition of Terms**

### ACT Principles/Values

The criteria for understanding application of ACT principles or Values for data analysis is rooted in the six interdependent core processes for developing psychological flexibility (PF): cognitive defusion (relating subjectively to thoughts), acceptance, contact with the present moment (focusing on the here and now), the observing self (noticing oneself; Bach et al., 2008), values (an endless component to life, not necessarily something to be achieved), and committed action (adapting behavior in line with values despite ongoing barriers or difficulties; Aydin & Aydin, 2021; Barrett et al., 2019, Hayes et al., 2012). Steven Hayes labels PF as the ability to "make contact with experience in the present moment fully and without defense" as psychological flexibility (Hayes, et. al, 2004). When practicing psychological flexibility, individuals can respond with personal values in mind, rather than fighting or avoiding their feelings and thoughts, allowing a healthier relationship with their neural networks and more control over their lives (Aydin & Aydin, 2021; Hayes & Lillis, 2012). When these processes are practiced continuously and in accordance with one another, psychological flexibility has a positive effect on well-being and a decreasement of stress (Wersebe et al., 2018).

# Artist and visual art

The artist is defined by individuals participating in art making (the in-person body mapping session). Visual arts refer to any fine art practices, graffiti, land or environmental art, yet is specific to drawing and film-based disciplines in this study.

## Art making

Used in reference for the art creation process.

### **Body Scan**

This is an effective mindfulness meditation practice which roots from Buddhist breathing techniques. The meditation encourages the participant to notice any sensations (thoughts, feelings, physical reactions) without judgment. The intentional breathing and self-connection that occurs within this practice benefits the participating individual through reduced stress and tension.

# **Body Mapping**

A visual, narrative, and participatory methodology which involves a life-sized tracing on an individual's body. The individual then uses visual art (i.e., drawing symbols, lines, colors, images, etc.) as a means to reflect and articulate complex lived experiences in regard to social considerations.

#### Collaborative film

A visual research method in which participants consider, analyze, and respond to specific research prompts. Upon contribution, participants engaged autonomously in disclosing their chosen level of participation to be displayed. Research assistants contributed to the final compiling process in accordance with the study protocol.

## Lived Experience

Personal knowledge, thoughts, feelings, and choices surrounding experiences and decisions. Reflection may take place during the event and/or after. Specific factors may affect a person's understanding and attachment to this (i.e., Age, gender, resources, time spent in the event/situation, etc.). The individual defining the lived experience pertains to their specific first-hand perspective on the situation and how applicable interactions were navigated.

# **Perceived Stress**

An individual's thoughts or feelings pertaining to the amount of stress they experience at any specific point or over a period of time (Philips, 2013).

# **Research Design**

In an effort to establish valid context, this research utilized a mixed-method research design. This study required gathering both qualitative and quantitative data in order to best integrate findings and draw inferences in its results. Mixed-methods research has been particularly relevant in providing more in-depth findings for healthcare applications and specifically in identifying complex problems (Hansen et. al, 2016). Quantitative research uses deductive reasoning to generate more accurate and reliable data whereas qualitative research works to reveal in-depth details regarding human experience (i.e., psychosocial factors) through inductive investigation. Each approach holds potential weakness when working in isolation. However, when combined, these processes display strengths in capturing a strengthened and deeper understanding of study results and the concerning population (Regnault et. al, 2018).

Quantitative data was collected through a self-report questionnaire using yes and no questions and Likert-scale responses. This digital survey included the Perceived Stress (PSS-10), a 10-item questionnaire which measures data through five-point Likert-scale responses (0=never, 5=very often). An interpretive phenomenological and art-based research (ABR) method was employed for in-person interviews and art reflections for the intent of prioritizing an understanding of subjective experiences. Phenomenological research seeks to provide details of personal lived experience and art-based inquiry serves as a powerful tool in challenging conventional wisdom by supporting participants in their agency of expression of the explored experience (Leavy, 2023). Morris & Paris (2021) emphasize how ABR methods enhance the translation of research through expanding and eliciting knowledge about lived experience where traditional fieldwork often lacks the capability to effectively do so.

# **Participants**

Participants for the present study included individuals with AGS in addition to parents of children with AGS. All participants were required to be over the age of eighteen. The virtual survey allowed for participants to disclose if they have been diagnosed with AGS and/or if they are a parent of a child with AGS. All in-person participants (i.e. those participating in interviews or body mapping) were individuals who have been diagnosed with and are currently managing life with AGS. All participants in the study were adults who were comfortable with the level of confidentiality and integration of data into the final film representation. Individuals who participated in person disclosed their comfort and desire to participate in deeper reflections and/or art making as well as to contribute pieces of personal recording to the film. This criterion was included to mitigate discomfort and omission towards the art making and film production processes.

To recruit participants for the study, digital flyers were distributed to social media page administrators and shared electronically across sites, email, and word of mouth. Applicants were recruited through their expressed interest via survey completion and/or direct contact to the researcher. The flier listed the general premise of the study, timeframe, and researcher contact information for interested persons. The researcher contacted interested potential participants via email/phone to discuss the requirements of the study in detail and screen applicant appropriateness for the study by discussing the study items. Individuals participating virtually were not actively screened as applicable study information (embedded into the consent process) was viewed and consented prior to viewing any survey items.

During the initial screening portion of the digital survey and interviews, the researcher addressed potential risk factors and vulnerabilities, time availability, degree of comfort, and level of interest in the project. The researcher also described the study and its requirements, inviting and answering any potential participant questions for clarification. Informed consent forms included consent to participate in the research project and risks and benefits of the study. For inperson measures, informed consent also included film disclosure procedures, digital use of artwork and reflections for publication. These materials were provided and collected virtually and/or in person. Awareness was discussed for sharing of applicable resources (during any point of the study) if participants required additional support. Additionally, it was explained that participants were consenting volunteers with an ability to withdraw themselves from the study or any collected information from assessments, film, artworks, and reflections produced during the study. This could be done for any reason and without need of explanation.

Participant inclusion criteria included: (a) being at least eighteen years old; (b) an individual who manages living with AGS (parents of children with AGS included for survey participation only, individuals with an AGS diagnosis may be considered for all levels of participation) (c) having at least a moderate degree of comfort with personal reflection as evidenced by self-report (d) having a willingness and ability to meet the expectations of the study. Participant exclusion criteria included mental-health vulnerabilities which were screened for upon initial contact and discussion of all items in. Participants also needed to be able to take precautions in AGS management and agree to applicable safety measures.

#### **Measures and Interventions**

In addition to a clear written description of the research purpose, process, and instructions, virtual participants encountered an 8-item self-report intake questionnaire, the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-10), and reflective lived experience disclosure (completed in this order). The lived experience section will include 13 items pertaining to health management and a brief writing instruction:

### What is one piece of advice you'd give to someone who is newly diagnosed with AGS?

Prior to in-person meetings, potential participants will engage in applicable screening assessments for interviews and body mapping. In-person interviews will begin with a body scan meditation in order to maximize participant safety, grounding, mind/body connection, and presence. This meditation will be followed by reflection and verbal and/or written response of nine questions. The provided questions are chosen with integration of motivational and strengthbased reflection tools:

- 1. What do you wish others could understand about living and managing AGS?
- 2. What is your current relationship to food?
- 3. What are some things you do to prevent and recover from burnout?
- 4. Do you feel supported by your family and/or community members?
  - a. In what ways does this (if the previous answer is yes) or would this (if the previous answer is no) look like for you?
- 5. How do you maintain motivation?
- 6. What is something you wish you knew when you were newly diagnosed?
- 7. What piece of advice would you share to someone newly diagnosed?
- 8. How does it feel to know these results will directly help others who are managing AGS?

In addition to the disclosed questions, participants will be provided room to critique and

strengthen the study by providing an answer to a self-directed question of choice.

(a) Do you feel there is a question that you wish was asked but was not? If so, please share and we also invite you to provide your answer. In person body mapping will also begin with a body scan meditation. The art and writing instruction form will prompt artists with the following directions:

- (a) Please stand and face the paper, allow yourself to be present in whatever emotion, thoughts, and sensations that may arise as the researcher traces an outline of your body, reminding yourself that you are safe and okay.
- (b) After each participant's body tracing is completed, step back to allow a full view of your tracing and consider the following:
  - (i) A color to retrace the researcher's drawn outline.
  - (ii) To visualize the point on their body where they draw their power, create a personal symbol to represent them, and draw it onto the power point.
  - (iii) To create a personal slogan that symbolizes them and their journey with AGS and write it on the map.
  - (iv) Draw on areas of the body where they feel they hold physical and/or emotional marking.
  - (v) To recall how they found out about their AGS and draw a symbol that represents the issue, printing it as many times as they feel is drawn to repeat it throughout the body.
  - (vi) To create a symbol to explain to others what it means for them to live with AGS.
  - (vii) To draw their treatment path on the map, including how they look after themselves, their message to the general public, and how they are feeling today.
  - (viii) To decorate the rest of their body map until they are satisfied that it represents them.

(c) Now, take several minutes to reflect and represent your emotions, thoughts, and sensations with the provided materials on your designated paper. Color, line, shape, visual, or written expression may be considered. Though, there are no requirements into how you choose to create and display your art nor will you be evaluated on artistic skill.

Once artwork is completed, participants will be invited into discussion and asked to share about their pieces, creation process, reflection, and overall experience. Upon completion of the body mapping session, participants will be invited to consent or withdraw specific public film use of disclosed information, discussion, and artwork. The final film product will be a minimum of ten minutes, no longer than twenty-five minutes.

At the completion of the in-person sessions, all in-person participants were asked to complete a brief written or verbal debriefing evaluation to disclose personal thoughts and/or feelings about engaging in the experience.

## Location

Individuals who completed the digital survey and preliminary screenings were able to do so at the location(s) of their choice. Film interviews were conducted in Raleigh, North Carolina at a rented empty office space obtained through peerspace.com. Artist participants gathered at a rented studio space obtained through peerspace.com. All forms and communication were conducted through <u>alphagal.artherapy@gmail.com</u> and/or via phone and stored in encrypted files.

#### Procedures

 Throughout the entire research process (including the conduction of the literature review, survey collection, development of materials, engagement with participants and artists, their verbal and written expressions, and art submissions, the analysis, the presentation of the findings, and the development of the discussion and film relating to the findings) the researcher engaged in a mixed-methods investigation, prioritizing the collaboration of participants and expressed narratives. This investigation was guided by layers of participant collaboration. The research involved correlating submitted survey data, experiencing and reflecting upon verbal expression of interviews and the art experimental for disclosed reflections, as well as synthesizing the results of this process and displaying collected data through film. Through these processes the researcher aimed to make currently negated psychological, physical, and perceived context of living with AGS visible and beneficial for the population of study.

- 2. As the researcher reviewed literature related to AGS, perceived stress, advocacy needs, and the art, prominent and repeated concepts were organized into categories relative to expressed narrative and ACT principles. These categories were chosen through assumptions based on found literature and include perceived stress, management tools, expressed lived experience, cognitive defusion, acceptance, contact with the present moment, the observing self, values, and committed action. Participants were provided additional opportunities to follow-up and reflect and adjust what was disclosed throughout the entire study via email as well as during a designated debriefing session following the completion of in-person interviews and art making sessions.
- 3. Recruitment of survey participants was conducted via flyers, social media, and word of mouth, requesting interested persons to complete the survey via a shared survey monkey link. Recruitment of in-person interview participants was conducted via flyers, social media, and word of mouth, requesting interested persons to complete the survey monkey link and click the box which states, "I would like to be considered for participating in the

film for an in-person interview" and to provide necessary contact information (i.e. email and phone number). Recruitment of in-person artist participants was conducted via flyers, social media, and word of mouth, requesting interested persons to complete the survey monkey link and click the box which states "I would like to be considered for participating in the film for the two-hour art making and reflection session." Potential participants were also welcomed to contact the student research directly via email at <u>alphagal.artherapy@gmail.com</u> for addressing additional inquiries and/or concerns.

- Individually, over the phone, through email communication, and digital review, applicants were selected as participants for the study based on their availability, interest, and screening for inclusion and execution criteria.
- 5. Participants who met the study criteria (this includes completion of the digital survey) were given informed-consent forms on-line or in person and instructed on how to submit the completed forms. Consent was obtained to participate in all elements used for this research including online survey, screening evaluations, in-person context understanding of interviews and body mapping session, use of images and film, and participants ability to determine chosen level of disclosure in the final public film product.
- 6. Participants were provided with study materials electronically prior to all relevant aspects of research as well as provided a printed out copy of study materials for those meeting in-person prior to participating in the interview process and in-person art making session. This included written instructions for the study.
- 7. Study materials were collected. Survey data was encrypted and stored digitally, film data was stored in a locked location and only accessed on a secure network. Reflection questionnaires were collected and stored electronically. Physical artwork was kept in a

secure and locked location. Digital images of artwork will be encrypted and stored electronically. All materials were coded for the protection of the participant's identity and kept in an encrypted electronic file.

- 8. Individuals assisting in any part of the study (i.e., data gathering, data analysis, film production process) were required to sign non-disclosure forms and follow researcher protocol in securing research materials in order to protect the consent and privacy of participants.
- 9. The researcher bracketed off personal biases, assumptions, and beliefs about the phenomenon of investigation, to remain open and receptive to the participants' lived and expressed experiences to the greatest extent possible.
- 10. Participants who completed the digital survey submitted self-reported data. Screening questions, expectations, and procedures were addressed prior to in-person protocol and for interviews as well as for the body mapping session.
- 11. Volunteers participating in the in-person sections began with a researcher-led body scan meditation.

# Materials

- Self-Report Digital Survey
- Self-Report Digital Screening
- Film equipment for Interviews and art making session.
- Interview reflection
- Interview debriefing statement
- White Butcher Paper Roll
- Tape

- 5-7 packages of markers
- Artist reflection statement
- Artist debriefing statement

## **Data Collection**

Quantitative data was gathered by participant completion of the Self-Report Digital Survey. Qualitative interview data was gathered in four ways: (a) digital screening evaluation, (b) film, (c) participant verbal disclosure, and (d) participant written reflections. Qualitative artist data was collected in five ways: (a) digital screening evaluation, (b) film, (c) participant artwork, (d) participant verbal disclosure, and (e) participant written reflections. In-person participants submitted reflection statements in person or via email.

## **Data Analysis**

For quantitative measures, percentages were calculated within each survey item (with exception of the PSS questions) and presented from collected survey data, disclosing what percent of individuals selected each answer. The ten questions pertaining to the PSS evaluation were scored for each individual submission. Once all PSS scores were calculated, the results were disclosed in percentages of those who scored low, moderate, or high on the perceived stress scale. The Formal Elements Art Therapy Scale (FEATS) was used by art therapy students to provide blind evaluations on the participant's artwork.

Qualitative results were interpreted through overlapping and correlated themes utilizing interpretive phenomenological and thematic analysis (Smith & Osborn, 2008). The data from separate measures was compared and correlated. Integration of data across measures made it possible to see if qualitative and quantitative data contributed complementary aspects of the same phenomena and helped to develop a greater understanding of the lived experience of

individuals with AGS in addition to use of body mapping as a self-reflection tool. A list of themes was compiled and compared with existing ACT principles to determine similarities and differences between the participant's lived experiences of AGS and the artists' will to express and display their narratives through the phenomenon of body mapping.

### **Quantitative Analysis**

For the Virtual Self-Report Questionnaire, means and standard deviations were computed to assess participants' reports of their perceived stress and Likert scale responses, as well as to locate tendencies and associations within AGS management. The PSS-10 is a valid and reliable stress assessment tool. The PSS-10 displays good concurrent validity (as measured with Cronbach's alpha coefficient and confirmatory factor analysis) and is positively correlated with measures of anxiety and depression. Additionally, the psychometric properties have been translated into a variety of languages with the reliability and validity being verified in multiple countries (Huang et. al, 2020). PSS-10 answers were measured for perceived stress and Self-reported items were analyzed to find quantitative central tendencies and dispersion related to the exploratory questions. Documentation of carrageenan was analyzed based on the percentage of participants who would suffer if the ingredient were to be approved as a processing aid and therefore required for companies to disclose on item packaging. Documentation of group helpfulness was analyzed to display the usefulness of community for AGS management.

#### **Qualitative Analysis**

Phenomenological analysis was used to interpret all the participant written and vocalized statements for qualitative results (Smith & Osborn, 2008). Vocalized statements were transcribed prior to analysis. This form of phenomenological analysis illuminates the descriptive lived experience of the participants. A list of themes was compiled and compared with the discussed

ACT principles of psychological flexibility: cognitive defusion (relating subjectively to thoughts), acceptance, contact with the present moment (focusing on the here and now), the observing self (noticing oneself; Bach & Moran, 2008), values (an endless component to life, not necessarily something to be achieved), and committed action (adapting behavior in line with values despite ongoing barriers or difficulties; Aydin & Aydin, 2021; Barrett et al., 2019, Hayes et al., 2012). This analysis worked to locate similarities and differences between participant's lived experience, suggested advice, and perceptions surrounding the film and art expression processes.

The researcher considered their experience of this investigation and wrote a reflection prior to the analysis, bracketing off their thoughts surrounding the study in order to become aware and eliminate researcher bias as much as possible. The researcher engaged in this process in hopes to also increase their openness to and understanding of the participant's experience throughout each stage. Correlations between the artist's visual representations and disclosed themes were also noted.

Each written response and transcription were read and re-read individually by the researcher as well as a research assistant in order to establish inter-rater reliability with contemplative detachment and openness. The researcher and research assistant(s) highlighted main elements and components of responses including cognitive, emotional, and physical categories. These notes were evaluated by grouping significant and similar condensed items into psychological flexibility categories. The researcher reviewed the bracketed and highlighted elements after inter-rater evaluations and considered how the categorized elements related to each other, making note of commonalities. Subcategories of themes emerged through this process as prominent and common related items and elements were clarified. After the

subcategories were developed, the responses were reread to reduce the risk of overlooking disclosed elements. The inter-rater reliability was evaluated based on the consistency of decisions between the researcher and research assistant(s) to aid the project's validity.

# Integration of Qualitative and Quantitative

Self-reported data was coded as quantitative data based on presence (theme code 1) and absence (theme code 2) in evaluation of qualitative themes.

# **Protection of Human Participants**

All participants were informed and consenting volunteers who agreed to the terms of the project and signed applicable forms prior to research initiation. Participants were provided descriptions of the study, potential risks and benefits in engagement, and instruction for contacting the researcher via email and cell phone throughout the participation period. Specific questions, discomfort, and processing needs will be addressed as disclosed by participants. In the event of sensitive issues arising, participants were appropriately referred to resources and/or available mental health counseling services. The screening procedure assessed safety needs and potential vulnerabilities of potential participants to be excluded from partaking in the study. This researcher followed the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association, California Marriage and Family Therapists, California Association for Licensed Professional Clinical Counselors, American Art Therapy Association, as well as the guidelines of the Dominican University of California International Review Board.

Study materials, survey data, and in-person data were encrypted and stored digitally, film data will be stored in a locked location and only accessed on a secure network. Data was encrypted, password-protected, and accessible only to the primary researcher, research studysupervisor, and applicable research assistants. Individuals assisting in any part of the study (i.e. data gathering, data analysis, film production process) were required to sign non-disclosure forms and follow researcher protocol in securing research materials in order to protect the consent and privacy of participants.

### Confidentiality

Confidentiality was strictly maintained in formal record keeping, no individuals were identifiable within reports and outside of specific participant film disclosure. All participant names remained anonymous and identified by researcher assigned coded numbers. All online surveys, and participant disclosures were coded with a number to match corresponding consent forms. Stored digital data was password encrypted. Unless published or disclosed as part of the public advocacy and education film tool, all information will be destroyed after three years.

# Implications

This potential research shows promise in raising awareness and understanding of lived experience for individuals with AGS while providing powerful insight related to the field of art therapy. The integration of body mapping and empirically proven therapeutic theory may offer insights as to how researchers may consider best practices within art therapy and general research context. Additionally, the present study could directly aid the population of study by providing critical data and context in the form of an accessible and motivating learning tool.

## Limitations

Due to the lack of existing research, time, and resources, in-person results may be limited to individuals with manageable access to the filming locations in Raleigh, NC. This may have limited the ability to gather diverse data across a wide range of economic/income diversity. Additionally, participants under the age of eighteen did not qualify for this study, meaning there is a segment of AGS experience that will be unspoken for. Furthermore, due to the implications of group participation benefiting chronic illness management, data derived from virtual participants may bypass individuals with AGS who are not active members in these groups. Thus, participation in all aspects was limited to those with the ability and means to do so.

Other limitations were revealed throughout the course of the study in relation to potential and listed risks (discussed further in Chapter 5). However, with proper consideration and understanding, these risks were managed and avoided.

# **Risks and Benefits**

Potential risks to participants included experiencing uncomfortable and unexpected emotional reactions through reflection, discussion, and art creation portions encountered throughout the study. This was influenced by prompted psychological material, study expectations, and/or any life experiences that may have unfolded within the course of participating in the study. Specific risks presented themselves through discussion of trauma and dark themes (i.e. life threatening subject matter), countertransference within group discussions of personal trauma, and the potential for a participant to encounter an allergic reaction while participating in the study (no participant reactions occurred during the in-person sessions). Due to the emphasis on mind/body awareness, and specific body mapping context, individuals with history of body image issues and history of sexual trauma and/or abuse were evaluated as part of the preliminary screening protocol.

In order to minimize potential risks, continual check-ins were provided for in-person participants. In-person participants were asked to refrain from unknown foods/products 48 hours prior to attendance of the body mapping session or interviews, participants will agree to travel with necessary personal emergency medical equipment (i.e., EpiPen, antihistamines, etc.). Locations and contacts of nearby hospitals will be mapped out in case of emergency. Additionally, all participants were provided helpful tips for recognizing, managing, and communicating about burnout, self-advocacy, mindfulness exercises, and direction in accessing applicable therapy resources. Risks were also minimized by reassuring participants of their autonomy and ability to drop out of the study at any point in addition to appropriate referrals from the researcher. Potential benefits to the participants included: a deepened sense of self-awareness, increased understanding of AGS management resources, expanded access to self-reflection and expression tools, sense of validation, empowerment, accomplishment, hope, connection, and purpose through contribution and completion of the project.

#### **Chapter 4: Results**

Each variable across this mixed-methods study highlights expressed experiences of individuals living with AGS in order to establish a deeper understanding of their shared narratives. In addition to discussing revealed themes, this chapter will provide an overview and present the integrated results from both the quantitative and qualitative measures used to address the following research questions:

- Do individuals managing Alpha-Gal Syndrome (AGS) express heightened levels of perceived stress?
- 2. Do individuals with AGS benefit from group participation and art making?
- 3. Can AGS be associated with food avoidance due to unclear labeling/understanding of a product's manufacturing processes?
- 4. Will body mapping and/or interviewing reveal a narrative of lived experience for individuals with AGS through the emergence of overlapping themes?
- 5. Will collaborative filmmaking create a sense of purpose and positive inclusion for individuals with AGS?

# **Overview of Development**

#### Literature Review

The variety of aspects touched on in this study is rooted in an extensive literature review as discussed in Chapters I and II of this thesis. The literature focuses on addressing common aspects of AGS management and empirically supported data for the uses of art therapy and body mapping. More specifically, body mapping was reviewed for being an effective processing and advocacy tool for supporting marginalized and underrepresented populations. The evidencebased concepts of ACT guided the structure of this research with the goal of establishing awareness and creating a context for change with a genuine, unique, and practical healing transformation for the involved participants.

### Quantitative Data

Quantitative data was evaluated based on documenting, organizing, and calculating recorded survey data. This research took on a latent approach of documenting stated experiences and discussing in chapter five what these statements reveal about the participant's assumptions and larger social contexts. Quantitative data was documented and then used to validate the expressions of qualitative findings by embedding or establishing a relationship between the quantitative survey data and nesting it into the qualitative components.

# Qualitative Data

This research began with a deductive approach of confronting the data with some preconceived categories the researcher expected to find reflected in the data. These categories were based on concepts from ACT theory (The Dilemma of Human Suffering, Present-Moment Awareness, Dimensions of Self, Defusion, Acceptance, Values, Committed Action) and an existing knowledge of AGS. Ultimately, this research took on an inductive approach meaning the collected data was used to determine the resulting themes. Qualitative data was understood through thematic analysis beginning with a search for patterns (themes) which capture something significant and/or interesting about the data. Codes were then generated and examined through what fit together into a theme (i.e., Fear is documented as something that encompasses both anxiety). The determined themes of fear (pain, burden), grief (isolation), restriction, confusion, connection, omission, and perseverance, are descriptive of patterns in the data relevant to the research questions and expressed experiences of participants. The organized data was then

approached critically in analysis to focus on reporting an assumed reality evident across the datasets.

# **Reflexive Thematic Analysis**

Thematic analysis (TA) was first developed by Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke in 2006 (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Over the years this approach has evolved to become what is known as Reflexive Thematic Analysis (RTA). This adapted approach is used within a range of theoretical frameworks in order to address differing research question types (i.e., people's experiences, understanding and representation, social processes that influence and shape phenomena, rules and norms that dictate human behavior, people's practices or behaviors, and the construction of meaning) which would require different versions and theoretical frameworks in the traditional model. While there are six defined steps in RTA which build on one another, Braun and Clarke emphasize the value of a flexible and recursive process (movement back and forth between stages) to strengthen the data analysis (University of Auckland, 2023).

The six phases for analysis include:

- 1. Familiarizing yourself with the Dataset
- 2. Coding
- 3. Generating initial themes
- 4. Developing and reviewing themes
- 5. Refining, defining and naming themes
- 6. Writing up

## **Quantitative Data: Survey Results**

The driving inquiry of this research was to explore the experiences of individuals living with Alpha-gal syndrome. The survey was available and open until completion of this project

(three months). During this time individuals within the United States (AR, CO, D.C., FL, GA, KY, MA, MO, MS, NJ, NY, OK, TN, and VA) in addition to an individual from Sydney, Australia submitted their responses. A visual map of these participants is displayed below as Figure 1 and Figure 2. The virtual survey consisted of a series of 31 items. The first seven questions centered around participant demographic characteristics, followed by the PSS-10 (a ten-item measurement empirically used to identify perceived stress), ending with 12 questions focusing on AGS management.

#### *Figure 1 Global Map of Survey Participants*



*Note.* Colored circles display individuals within the United States (AR, CO, D.C., FL, GA, KY, MA, MO, MS, NJ, NY, OK, TN, and VA) in addition to one individual from Sydney, Australia.





*Note.* Colored circles display individuals within the United States (AR, CO, D.C., FL, GA, KY, MA, MO, MS, NJ, NY, OK, TN, and VA).

## Demographics of the Sample

Fifty one (51) persons completed the survey and of these individuals, (5 males, 47 females), 46 or 86.46% of participants reported being Caucasian. The remaining participants identified as American Indian (one the two further specified as Cherokee), Black, Asian, and Hispanic. Across the completed surveys, participants documented their ages as being anywhere from nineteen to greater than 70 years of age, 38% ranging from 40-49 years, 17.65% ranging from 50-59 years, and 24% ranging from 60-69 years (2 < 29 years, 3 ranging from 30-39 years, 19 ranging from 40-49 years, 9 ranging from 50-59 years, 12 ranging from 60-69 years, and 3 documenting over 70 years of age). Additionally, these participants expressed a broad range of

years spent living with AGS (from one month to >40 years). More specifically, 6 participants reported living with AGS for less than one year, 6 participants for 1-2 years, 15 for 2-6 years, 5 for 7-14 years, 1 for 15-20 years, and 2 >20 years. All the results are presented as a sum of the whole rather than individually based on demographic data due to the lack of significance in differentiation of responses across demographics.

The following section displays in figures (Figure 3 and Figure 4) and verbal description the survey questions and the corresponding participant responses.





*Note:* Reactions to Carrageenan, Neurological Symptoms from Fumes, Life-Threatening information from Doctors, and expressed Benefits from Social Media.

# Has your ingestion of carrageenan resulted in an allergic reaction?

75% of participants selected "Yes."
25% of participants selected "No."

*My spouse/ child/ children, and/or I experience neurological symptoms (difficulty formulating words, forgetting a place in a sentence, brain fog, etc.) after inhalation of fumes which* 

## contain the AGS allergen.

53% of participants selected "Yes."

29% of participants selected "No."

18% of participants selected "Unsure."

## Do you feel you/ your spouse/ your child were not given adequate information regarding AGS

## from your doctor(s)?

75% of participants selected "Yes."

25% of participants selected "No."

## Have you/ your spouse/ your child or children been given false or harmful information

## regarding AGS management from your doctor(s)?

55% of participants selected "Yes."

45% of participants selected "No."

## Does Participating in a community group (i.e. Social Media, in-person support, etc.) help your

## AGS management?

88.5% of participants selected "Yes."

11.5% of participants selected "No."

## How do you and/or your spouse/ child/ children manage Alpha-Gal Reactions?

In addition to providing several items (i.e., Avoidance, Antihistamines, EpiPen,

Benadryl, and Cannabis, this survey question also provided the availability for individuals to

write in additional responses. Out of all the submissions:

45 participants selected "Avoidance."

37 participants selected "Antihistamines."

35 participants selected "EpiPen."

12 participants selected "Cannabis."

4 participants wrote in "Unisom."

4 participants wrote in "Steroids."

24 other management aids were also submitted by a maximum of 3 respondents per item: 2 Quercetin (an antioxidant and natural antihistamine used to treat inflammation), 2 Liquid prednisone (a medication known for combatting arthritic pain), 1 Cannabidiol (CBD), 2 Ibuprofen, 1 Migraine Medication, several asthma medications and mast cell stabilizers (2 Inhaler, 1 Ketotifen, 1 Xolair, and 1 Oral Cromolyn), 3 Pepcid AC (a medication for treating heartburn and digestive concerns), 1 Pepto (a medication used for treating heartburn and nausea), 1 Famotidine (a medication used for treating heartburn and gastrointestinal symptoms), 1 Ativan (a benzodiazepine used for treating anxiety), Water, Sleep, and Mindfulness tools for Stress Management. These results are also depicted below in Figure 4.

*Figure 4 Expressed Management Aids for AGS Reactions* 



Note. Avoidance, Antihistamines, EpiPen, Benadryl, Cannabis, Unisom, Steroids, and Other.

Figures depict the majority of individuals who expressed AGS as being more complex than avoidance of allergen in addition to unclear labeling resulting in AGS reactions, and avoidance of eating, and a poorer relationship to food (Figure 5, Figure 6, and Figure 7) are displayed and further defined below.

*Figure 5 AGS is not as simple as "Avoiding the Allergen"* 



Note. 88.2% Strongly Agree, 9.8% Somewhat Agree, 2% Somewhat Disagree, 0% Strongly

Disagree that AGS requires more than avoidance.

## Figure 6

Disordered Eating and AGS Reactions due to Unclear Labeling and Processing



Note. How often unclear labeling/processing results in an AGS reaction and/or an avoidance of

food/eating.

# Poor 18.0% October 22.0% Neither Good/Poor 18.0%

*Figure 7 Relationship to Food, Regarding Unclear Labeling* 

Note. 60% reported somewhat poor and poor, 22% Good, 18% disclosed a neutral relationship.

## Living with AGS is not as simple as avoiding the allergen

88.2% of participants selected "Strongly Agree."

9.8% of participants selected "Somewhat Agree."

2% of participants selected "Somewhat Disagree."

0% of participants selected "Strongly Disagree."

## How often does unclear labeling lead to an avoidance of food/eating?

61.5% of participants selected "Very Often."

23.1% of participants selected "Fairly Often."

7.7% of participants selected "Sometimes."

7.7% of participants selected "Almost Never."

0% of participants selected "Never."

## How often does unclear labeling result in an alpha-gal reaction?

17.6% of participants selected "Very Often."

17.6% of participants selected "Fairly Often."

47.2% of participants selected "Sometimes."

17.6% of participants selected "Almost Never."

0% of participants selected "Never."

## Regarding unclear labeling/processes, what is your relationship to food?

18% of participants selected "Poor."

42% of participants selected "Somewhat Poor."

18% of participants selected "Neither Good nor Poor."

22% of participants selected "Good."

#### **PSS-10 Scores**

Higher scores on the PSS-10 indicate greater perceived stress and the implication of health impacts. Scores can range from 0-40 with 0-13 being low perceived stress and 14-26 considered as moderate. Moderate levels imply frequent worrying about factors outside of one's control while they attempt to overcome this emotion while low scores can infer the individual's stress level is not as affected by unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloaded factors the respondents encounter in their lives. As depicted in Figure 8, 88.3% of participants expressed moderate to high levels of perceived stress.





Note. Reports of Low, Moderate, and High Perceived Stress.

Within the survey respondents:

16.7% of participants scored High on the PSS (ranging from 27-31).

60.7% of participants scored Moderate on the PSS (ranging from 12-26).

22.6% of participants scored Low on the PSS (ranging 2-10).

## Mental Health Measurement

The online survey contained one question asking participants to identify if they/ their spouse/ their child(ren) have AGS and if they have experienced an increase of therapy treatment and/or SSRI dosage since the time of their diagnosis. However, due to formatting limitations

within Survey Monkey and time constrictions on modification approval from the International Review Board, the data from this question has been dismissed as unusable.

Figure 9 displays the results of individuals who expressed interest in utilizing therapy resources if they were made available. By asking the following question:

## If a therapy resource was available to you, would you use it?

75% of participants selected "Yes."

25% of participants selected "No."



## Figure 9

Individuals with Expressed Interest in Therapy Resources

*Note.* 75% who answered "Yes" expressed interest, the remaining 25% who selected "No" stated they would not utilize therapeutic resources.

The final free response item within the survey results allowed for individuals to disclose a statement pertaining to information they wish they knew when they were first diagnosed, as depicted in Figure 10. Of the 51 individuals who submitted survey responses, a handful of participants reiterated items they had already addressed within the survey questions such as knowledge of: carrageenan (4 participants), fume/airborne reactions (15 participants), and the overall complexity of the illness (20 participants). Other notable items which were submitted in

the free response include wishing they knew information pertaining to: the emotional skill set required for coping with AGS (34 participants), access to knowledgeable specialists (22 participants), access to resources (15 participants), the range of variability within gastrointestinal reactions (3 participants), and negative/harmful reactions to Benadryl (2 participants). Lastly, there were 10 participants who wrote they wished they knew "Everything."







*Note.* Emotional Shifts/ How to Cope, Access to knowledgeable specialists, Awareness of Complexity, Trace Contaminants & Byproducts, Fume/ Airborne Component, Access to Resources, "Everything," Carrageenan and Agar, Reaction Variability (GI specific), and Bad Reactions to Benadryl.

## **Overlapping: Defining and Expanding**

In this study, stage one of qualitative analysis involved watching and re-watching the filmed in-person segments (i.e., becoming familiar with the written response survey data, and

qualitative datasets, documenting notes, organizing quantitative data into a spreadsheet, and outlining qualitative structures in order to reduce data into smaller chunks of meaning). This research utilized open coding, meaning there were no pre-set codes. The researcher instead developed and modified codes through the coding process. Initial thoughts pertaining to codes came forward with the completion of step one based on repeated expressions pertaining to the participant's subjective experiences. Stage two was then completed by working through each transcript of text that seemed to be relevant to or specifically addressing the lived experience of individuals with AGS. The next step (stage 3) involved searching for the themes by significance.

This research was driven by the subjective experience of participants which led themes to be coded based on overlap of preliminary themes, characterized by significance. Themes which fit together were organized into broader themes which seemed to say something significant about the research question. The following step (stage 4) involved reviewing themes and modifying and developing them as necessary. In this step, data was considered in association with each theme to establish if the themes worked within the context of the entire dataset (i.e., participant responses across individually expressed virtual and in-person perceptions and across all virtual responses, in-person discussions, and interviews).

Themes were addressed with the following questions:

- 1. Do the themes make sense?
- 2. Does the data support the themes?
- 3. Am I trying to fit too much into a theme?
- 4. If themes overlap, are they separate themes?
- 5. Are there themes within themes (subthemes)?
- 6. Are there other themes within the data?

The final step (stage 5) involved refinement of the themes in effort to 'identify the 'essence' of what each theme is about' (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 92). This stage questioned what the theme says in addition to evaluating how subthemes interact and relate to the main theme. The finalized themes found across all study items (i.e., survey data, body mapping, the individual interview, and the community conversation) include the following:

**Physical Alteration.** This refers to expressed change in the sympathetic nervous system response to things which were previously enjoyable (prior to having AGS), also described as a "sense of doom" that can be a common element to anaphylactic reactions.

**Grief.** This refers to expressed disturbance due to loss of independence and ability to travel, loss of comfort foods, behaviors, connection. Other elements encompassed in this theme include isolation, relationship conflicts, and role confusion within the family.

**Fear.** Data placed into this category included expressed fear regarding experiences of physical/emotional pain and anxiety.

**Confusion.** This theme encompassed experiences of confusion due to receiving delayed diagnosis, inadequate information and resources, mislabeling or unclear labeling, and surrounding the participants develop(ed/ing) understanding of AGS.

**Omission.** This theme encompassed experiences of medical/familial/community bypassing, expressed sense of feeling invisible, and scenarios of disbelief.

**Punishment.** This theme included items regarding restriction, shame, feelings of being a burden and the need to protect others, and items relating to job security/punishment in the workplace because of illness induced circumstances).

**Perseverance.** This theme encompassed items regarding preservation of self, motivation, advocacy, exhaustion, compassion fatigue, and burnout.

**External Support.** Data within this category were items/expressions of support including connection to community, support, and social media. The documentary serves as representation of these themes.

## **Body Mapping**

Everyone who completed the virtual survey was asked to submit their potential interest in the two-hour body mapping session and discussion which took place in a privately rented space in Raleigh, North Carolina. Additionally, individuals who contacted the researcher directly with disclosed interest were also considered. Of the 5 available spots, 3 individuals (referred to as P1, P2, and P3) who expressed interest were also able to attend and participate. The produced body maps (Figure 11, Figure 12, and Figure 13) display each participant's symbolically expressed experience of living with AGS in response to the research prompts (discussed in more depth below).

*Figure 11 Participant 1's Body Map* 



Note. 36" x 72" body map drawing on paper with non-toxic jumbo liquid chalk markers.

*Figure 12 Participant 2's Body Map* 



Note. 36" x 72" body map drawing on paper with non-toxic jumbo liquid chalk markers.

*Figure 13 Participant 3's Body Map* 



Note. 36" x 72" body map drawing on paper with non-toxic jumbo liquid chalk markers.

## **Participant 1**

The first participant in this portion of the study is a 49-year old Caucasian female and will be referred to as "P1" for the purpose of this research. P1 has been living with AGS for 2 years and obtained her diagnosis 17 months ago (2022). At the time of this research, P1 also reported being in remission for one month. Remission refers to a diminishing of symptoms which can reappear (relapse) at any given point, not to be confused with a permanent recovery or cure.

#### **Participant 2**

The second participant in this portion of the study is a 19-year old Caucasian female and will be referred to as "P2" for the purpose of this research. P2 has been living with AGS for 5 years, after being bitten by a tick while attending public school and confirmed her diagnosis 1 year ago (2022). P2 currently lives with her father and mother who developed an alpha-gal allergy years prior to P2's exposure. This participant shares a dual relationship with the third participant (P3, documented below) as being an active participant in the body mapping session and the daughter of P3.

## **Participant 3**

The third participant in this portion of the study is a 49-year old Caucasian female and will be referred to as "P3" for the purpose of this research. P3 has been living with AGS for about 15 years, obtaining her diagnosis in 2017 (6 years ago). As mentioned above, P3 shares a dual relationship between P2 as being both an active member of this research and mother to P2.

**Response to Prompts.** After a guided body scan meditation, participants were guided to stand in front of a life size sheet of butcher paper taped to a white wall. Participants verbally agreed on and requested the discussion portion (following the completion of the art making portion) to be structured by walking back through each prompt and allowing everyone to express their creation process and meaning behind the art. However, participants were first asked to consider and create their body maps in response to the prompts in silence. After each outline was traced by the researcher (in a position determined by the participant to represent themselves while facing the paper), participants were each handed a box of non-toxic chalk paint markers as they considered and responded to the following prompts using line, words, color, shapes, and/or symbols:

- 1. While facing the paper, determine a position that says something about your life.
  - a. P1 took on an open stance with her left hand placed on her left hip.
  - b. P2 took on a neutral stance with her feet placed together.
  - c. P3 took on a neutral stance with her feet hip width apart.
- 2. Choose a color to trace over your outline.
  - a. P1 chose green, beginning the outline from the top and moving down towards the left side.
  - b. P2 chose blue, beginning the outline on the left top side and moving up and over to the right.
  - c. P3 chose blue, beginning the outline from the top and moving down towards the left side.
- 3. Visualize the point on your body where you draw your power from and draw it onto your power-point.

- a. P1 depicted a symbol of legs on her throat in purple.
  - i. The participant displayed themes of confusion and perseverance by using purple as a color of passion and the symbol being an active one, relating to her persistent feeling/questioning of what action could be made.
    Specifically stating "I don't know what I can do, but what can I do?"
- b. P2 depicted perseverance by depicting a purple peace sign over her heart, stating "I want everything to be calm and collected, I try to keep things at peace...purple felt peaceful."
- c. P3 also depicted perseverance by depicting a pink heart on the center of her chest and stating, "I try to live life through my heart and do what feels right." When asked about the outlines, P3 verbalized the outlines providing a stronger feeling and pulsing energy of this.
- 4. Depict a personal slogan that symbolizes you, and your journey with AGS, and write it on the map.
  - a. P1 wrote "In destruction, grace" to the left of the head in pink. The participant verbalized this in reference to the Goddess Kalima as a reminder that some things need to be destroyed in order to grow and that being "okay." P1 stated this slogan as something she hadn't walked around with but one that was brought forward through the art creation. Themes of physical alteration, grief, fear, confusion, perseverance, and punishment were symbolized in this section. P1 connected this slogan to her struggle between food restriction as a result of AGS and that disturbance challenging her personal experiences/history with disordered eating. P1 stated this element to AGS feeling like a "double punch" which created an

increased "hyperfocus of destruction internally to not focus on food but have to be forced to focus on it" and how that resulted in feeling like there was "no break from the worry."

- b. P2 expressed themes of physical alteration, fear, and perseverance by expressing
  "Don't Discourage yourself because you're Scared." P2 depicted this inside the
  body in orange stating there are "A bunch of times where I feel like I shouldn't
  eat because I am scared of options and the reaction."
- c. P3 wrote "Stay strong. Keep going. Stay safe." This slogan was written in purple and placed to the right of the head. In reflection, P3 expressed themes of perseverance and fear by stating this slogan being "What I wake up and go to bed with. Before, safety didn't seem as big of a concern" and now "every second consists of a worry about basic needs."
- 5. Draw on areas of the body where you feel you hold physical and/or emotional marking.
  - a. P1 drew:
    - Red Xs on the legs and went over these Xs to represent her loss of social connection with food and her loss of community through movement. P1 elaborated and shared this feeling of being left out leading to experiencing grief and fear associated with missing out.
    - Red lines over the throat were used to express her allergic responses with feeling like she "couldn't breathe, the constant rash" and experiencing uncertainty in her ability to speak due to reactions.
    - iii. A black swirl on the head with multicolored markings as an expression of feeling overwhelmed by medical dialogue. P1 stated confusion through

sharing her emotion of feeling "like a pioneer in a field you never wanted to be a part of."

- A green and black swirl over her heart and yellow lines across the chest symbolize physical reactions of pain and inability to breathe while also relating these markings to previously stated expressions of grief.
- v. Black X's were placed on the elbows, arms, and hands to further emphasize physical reactions and emotional distress. P1 verbalized the X over her hands representing the statement of: "I didn't know what to do with myself" relating to themes of confusion, grief, punishment, and perseverance.
- vi. Green question marks were placed in a circle in the stomach/gut to symbolize G.I. symptoms specific to AGS reactions and experiences of questioning/fear.
- vii. Through the reflection process, P1 also brought forward a personal experience of fear, punishment, and external support by having her husband sneak her outside to an ambulance to protect her son, stating "I did not want my child to worry."
- b. P2 drew:
  - A red tornado on the head, surrounded by green lightning bolts, relating these to feeling dizzy/lightheaded with the cracks representing her experience of constant migraines and fear.
  - ii. A volcano was drawn in black with red lava to represent how at times it can feel like her stomach is erupting.

- Fear of eating was written in black and represented in a black stomach symbol with yellow marking, relating to physical alteration, grief, fear, and punishment.
- iv. "Brain Fog" was written in black on the head in black.
- v. A black eyeball with red marking was depicted to represent blood shot eyes.
- c. P3 drew:
  - i. A red exclamation points on the forehead and blue tears as eyes to depict emotional and physical pain (fear) of feeling as though her head is bursting and experiences of migraines, inflammation, and pressure. P3 expressed her reasoning to be "It's hard, and watery eyes are a mild but annoying reaction, but more so that it is hard."
  - ii. Orange lines were placed on the neck to represent the feeling of physical constriction (physical alteration).
  - iii. A red X was placed over the mouth in addition to one being placed alongside two red exclamation points over the heart to symbolize inflammation and pain (fear). P3 related this placement to "when it affects my heart and lungs, I can't speak or eat" with "can't eat," "can't speak," and "breathe?" written in yellow. Additionally, P3 expressed experiencing increased heart rates as "heart racing" experiences (physical alteration).
  - iv. Themes of physical alteration, fear, and perseverance were brought forward through the writing of "Ouch, I'm not okay" on the gut in addition to "pain" being written twice and traced with orange. Other words were

written in yellow including "help, inflammation, pain, fog (referring to brain fog). P3 stated AGS to be "The biggest whirlwind of pain that you can't calm down, you have to wait it out." When asked to elaborate on her choice of bright colors, P1 stated "The bright colors are how it feels inside."

- 6. Draw a symbol to represent how you found out about your AGS and repeat this, printing it as many times as you feel drawn to repeat it throughout the body.
  - a. P1 drew red triangles, placing them on the head, shoulders, chest, gut, legs, and neck. P1 expressed themes of omission, and perseverance through the triangles relating to yield signs and "having a lot to carry and do to gain understanding" and "trying to get others to understand that it is not in my mind." P1 expressed specific frustration with this experience of disbelief by her experience of being met with disbelief by doctors despite having the physical lab results stating that her results and expressed experience "were not good enough."
  - b. P2 drew a milk jug with a black marker with a red general prohibition sign over it to represent the inability to have things, symbolizing themes of confusion, punishment, and perseverance. P2 went on in dialogue to express her feelings of difficulty in attempting to backtracking and determine what exposure may have triggered a reaction during the day(s) they have occurred.
  - c. P3 drew green spirals (beginning at the head, moving to the gut, then to the limbs and chest. P3 expressed these spirals to symbolize fear and the "gut wrenching pain" and "confusion."
- 7. Create a symbol to explain to others what it means for you to live with AGS.

- a. P1 drew a black eyeball with a question mark inside the pupil, symbolizing themes of confusion, omission, and perseverance. P1 expressed the meaning of this symbol through the following statements: "This can be me as I look out, having to question everything, ingredients and little ingredients where triggers can hide," "This represents people looking back at you with confusion," and "It has been more in the medical community where I have been met with resistance and it is almost like a resistance of "You don't know so you must be the problem." In reflection, P1 also went on to state "Being an advocate for yourself unfortunately is required for AGS."
- b. P2 drew an orange triangle on her neck and was allowed the ability to refrain from verbal reasoning when stating "Pass."
- c. P3 symbolized themes of omission by drawing a white face using an X for each eye and a horizontal line for a mouth to the right of the body to express feelings of invisibility. P3 stated her reasoning to be because "They are not interested in learning about it, or they don't believe you at all. You're invisible and they don't believe it is true."
- 8. Draw your treatment path on the map, including how you look after yourself, your message to the general public, and how you are feeling today. Participants were also invited to continue drawing until they felt satisfied with their representations and were encouraged to add anything they may feel was missed by the previous prompts.
  - P1 symbolized themes of physical alteration, confusion, omission, and perseverance by drawing green fluid lines connecting various green and blue X's around and, on the body, red lines around the legs, blue lines connecting the neck

and chest, with additional black X's and dots to represent dead ends. Statements made to express the symbolism of these lines include: "Doctors don't always communicate well with one another and they assume you're just a hypochondriac," "It's Exhausting to advocate for yourself and to live," "I feel like everything is a fight and I lose my ability to fight when I am met with continual disbelief," "Remission is not a cure, it's something that will always be a question whenever any illness comes up," and "The paths are wild…you just have to try to keep making those paths."

- b. P2 wrote on the body in black "Keep pushing if you know something is wrong." Additionally, outside of the body P2 drew an orange spiral, verbally stating "It's a windy, curvy path because you think it's going to be okay but then it isn't quite okay. You get an answer but there are trial and error periods even after getting it," and "It's exhausting to advocate for yourself and to live, everything is a fight and sometimes I feel a loss of ability to fight for myself." The themes represented in this section include fear, confusion, and perseverance.
- c. P3 depicted themes of grief, fear, confusion, omission, and perseverance. She drew a black stick figure walking across the paper above the head to meet another stick figure with a red heart disclosing "The stick person with the heart is giving love to myself, reminding me to be patient with myself, and looking to offer the same to others." P3 wrote the words "I understand, I am here for you too." P3 shared this stick figure to be a depiction of herself, stating "T'm alone, going about the journey. Researching, knowing there is something wrong but questioning what" in addition to encountering "disbelief from doctors" and being screed for

somatic illnesses, depression, and anxiety. P3 went on to express experiencing anaphylaxis three times and having a separate specialist contact her doctor before being "reluctantly tested and diagnosed." P3 shared her experience stating she "Had to change everything, couldn't visit family or attend cookouts due to fume reactions." P3 further disclosed personal experiences of feeling as though others do not understand the forced change, expressing experiences of grocery shopping leading to being "broken down crying in the aisle" due to the limitations and stating "It is exhausting to advocate for yourself and to live. Everything is a fight and I feel a loss of ability to fight sometimes."

 P3 closed her discussion of this prompt with themes of external support, stating: "I don't want others to feel alone, even though many of us do. I want others to know that what they feel is valid and real and I'll do what I am able to in order to help people."

**Response to the Experience.** Following the elaboration of prompt depiction, the participants were invited to express any additional thoughts or comments regarding their experience of the body mapping directive. All three expressed feeling challenged in numerous ways:

P1 expressed the directive to be a "good exploration, the art pushed me to think beyond the disease and how it has altered my living and life. There was a deepened self-reflection that happened through the art making." P1 also expressed experiencing a unique relationship with the imagery, stating "The images will stay with me on a visceral level. I now have a visual place to return to when these memories come forward." P1 further stated her new inspiration for seeking out an art therapist to begin working with therapeutically. P2 stated the experience "Challenged me creatively. I felt it was hard to explain the experience in pictures." P2 also shared the creative reasoning of "I felt like most of my experience was in body which is why they are in the outline."

P3 expressed appreciation for the visual representations, while also stating "It felt difficult to relive the traumatic life threatening experiences...It felt like a journey." P3 also expressed acknowledgement of the symbolism of body map representation by stating "When people see us, they just see how we compose ourselves on the outside, but this is what we are going through on the inside."

All participants expressed positive comments about the strength they felt was displayed in all three drawings. The three of them also noted appreciation for one another and the "eye opening" art making experience. The three of them acknowledged validation in the experience and understanding that the fear of eating is something they all feel and experience. Further statements of belief were made regarding how there is a lack of access to providers who understand the condition, leading to a large focus on physical symptoms and a neglect of emotional health.

Throughout the discussion all participants nodded their heads in agreement and validation to each verbalization. Additionally, there were several instances where the participants shifted in their seats, had noticeable shaky tones to their voices, and/tears. After noticing signs of discomfort/dysregulation (i.e., apathetic facial expressions, watery eyes, slight shaking and increased tempo in voices and small body movements), the researcher followed up by asking if they felt difficulty in the present moment sitting with any possible flashbacks and memories that were brought up. After each responded with "Yes," the researcher decided to lead the participants through an additional meditation (not included within the submitted scripts to the IRB.

The script for this meditation is listed below (pausing for 2 breaths between each direction and step):

- 1. I invite you to begin by breathing in your nose for 4, hold for 4, release for 4 out of your mouth.
- 2. Think about your body and your experience with your body. Take a moment to thank yourself, your mind, your spirit, physical, emotional. Thank your body for holding that while you acknowledge that you are here, and you are surviving.
- 3. Imagine a colored light of whatever it is you feel you may need in this moment and continue breathing as you feel it begin to fill your entire body.
- 4. Feel this light begin to reach from your head to your toes as it continues to fill you completely, maybe beginning to feel the light pulsing outward against the edges of your body.
- 5. On your next exhale, I invite you to let go of whatever may be causing you any sort of heaviness or distress. Consider breathing out any heaviness or distress. As you inhale, think about letting go of distress and filling yourself with a soothing light in its place.
- 6. Breathing in the soothing color, breathing out to let go.
- 7. Start to bring attention to your toes, awakening your calves. Notice any feelings of grounding in your tailbone. Working up through the fingers...forearms..back... and begin giving your neck a head roll, or moving it gently from side to side.
- 8. On your next inhale, I invite you to stretch your arms above your head.

9. And when you're ready, slowly begin to open your eyes as you roll your wrists back down to a comfortable position.

Following this meditation, participants were also instructed to consider something they could do for themselves after departing as a form of self-care. The researcher further acknowledged the heaviness that could have been brought from unpacking any of the memories during the meeting. Participants were given the opportunity to stay if they desired as well as the ability to speak or write to the researcher in a more private setting.

#### Formal Elements Blind Analysis

Part of the data analysis for the three body map drawings included a blind analysis by four art therapy students at Dominican University of California. These students were provided images of the participant drawings without access to additional study materials (i.e., prompts and data results). Raters were instructed to score each drawing using a modification of The Formal Elements Art Therapy Scale. This scale is used to understand the process of drawing rather than the content of the images, originally a 14 item evaluation. For the purposes of this project the scale has been modified to 6 items, each evaluated on a scale from 0-5:

- 1. *Prominence of Color*: Evaluating the use and variety of color, 0 meaning color is used only for outlining to 5 meaning color fills as much space as possible.
  - a. P1 was rated at 4, 5, 3, and 5.
    - i. Average P1 Color Score: 4.25
  - b. P2 was rated at 3, 5, 3, and 3.
    - i. Average P2 color score: 3.5
  - c. P3 was rated at 4, 5, 3, and 4.
    - i. Average P3 color score: 4

- Implied Energy: Questioning the amount of time the participant took in creating, 0
  referring to not very much energy to 5 being an excessive amount.
  - a. P1: 5, 5, 4, 5
    - i. Average P1 Energy Score: 4.75
  - b. P2: 2, 3, 2, 3
    - i. Average P2 Energy Score: 2.5
  - c. P3: 3, 5, 3, 3
    - i. Average P3 Energy Score: 3.5
- Space: Considering how much of the material or percentage of the paper was covered/engaged with, 0 meaning less than 25% to 5 meaning 100% of the space was used.
  - a. P1: 4, 5, 4, 5
    - i. Average P1 Space Score: 4.5
  - b. P2: 2, 4, 3, 4
    - i. Average P2 Space Score: 3.25
  - c. P3: 3, 4, 4, 4
    - i. Average P1 Space Score: 3.75
- *4. Realism*: Evaluating how realistic objects and images are depicted in the artwork, 0 being unrealistic to 5 being decently realistic.
  - a. P1: 0, 2, 2, 1
    - i. Average P1 Realism Score: 1.25
  - b. P2: 2, 4, 5, 2
    - i. Average P2 Realism Score: 3.25

c. P3: 1, 5, 3, 3

- i. Average P3 Realism Score: 3
- 5. Details of Objects and Environment: Considering the representation of closer detail and their placement within the artistic image, 0 meaning no details depicted within objects/environment in the image to 5 meaning the image is full of bountiful deltail.
  - a. P1: 4, 5, 3, 5
    - i. Average P1 Detail Score: 4.25
  - b. P2: 2, 5, 2, 2
    - i. Average P2 Detail Score: 2.75
  - c. P3: 3, 5, 3, 4
    - i. Average P3 Detail Score: 3.75
- 6. Line Quality: Scoring the use of lines in the overall image and considering rigid and sharp lines versus fluid and organic lines, 0 meaning broken, damaged lines to 5 meaning fluid and free moving lines.
  - a. P1: 3, 0, 4, 4
    - i. Average P1 Line Quality Score: 2.75
  - b. P2: 0, 1, 3, 3
    - i. Average P2 Line Quality Score: 1.75
  - c. P3: 3, 1, 3, 3
    - i. Average P3 Line Quality Score: 2.5

*Figure 14 Modified Formal Elements Art Therapy Scale* 





## **Individual Interview**

Everyone who completed the survey and who had access to the researcher's contact information (email and/or phone) was invited to fill up to ten available slots for individual interviews. However, only one participant was able to participate on this day due to several different time and health constrictions of the few participants who expressed interest. The participant for the individual interview portion of the study is a 55-year old Caucasian female and will be referred to as "P4" for the purpose of this research. P4 has been living with AGS since 1995 (28 years ago) and received a formal diagnosis in 2013 (10 years ago). P4 has four kids aged from 19 to 35 years of age. While this participant has been in remission since 2019,

she has refrained from eating any mammal until 2021. After participating in a guided body scan meditation (the same meditation given at the beginning of the body mapping session), P4 was asked the following questions:

## 1. What do you wish others could understand about living and managing AGS?

P4 responded with themes of fear, stating:

How incredibly scary it is to deal with when you really don't know what is happening and everyone in the medical field says that doesn't make sense, that can't be happening.

#### 2. What is your current relationship to food?

P4 disclosed themes of preservation of self and punishment through notable behavioral changes in food navigation/relationship while also verbalizing a neutral relationship through her response:

Fine now that I am in remission. I am still afraid; I will eat red meat, but I will not eat pork. My brain just has too much of an association with fear and pain, so I won't eat pork...Once I started cooking more (while in remission) and did not experience reactions, I became more and more confident. I just worked my way up in fat and pork was the last thing I tried. But I choose not to eat pork because I am afraid of it.

#### 3. What are some things you do to prevent and recover from burnout?

P4 expressed perseverance and enjoyment from exploring different recipes while emphasizing the benefits she has received from engaging in exercise, disclosing:

*Exercise has helped me so much with stress management, depression management, and fear. Exercise has been so much for me.* 

4. Do you feel supported by your family and/or community members? In what ways does this (if the previous answer is yes) or would this (if the previous answer is no) look like for you?

P4 expressed themes of physical alteration, grief, omission, perseverance, and external support in the following response:

At first, I didn't because I think people thought I was crazy because the medical field just didn't know about alpha-gal. But my children really understood it because they were so afraid, so I felt supported by my family and then my community slowly came on board. I told everyone about it, they thought I was crazy, I didn't care because that is what I was having to live with. I just helped spread the word about it and that helped my community learn. More knowledge is power to me, and I just kept sharing that mantra with everyone.

#### 5. How do you maintain motivation?

P4 verbalized fear and perseverance by sharing:

Once you start feeling better and you're staying away from things you're supposed to stay from. Once you realize what it feels like to feel normal, you want to keep feeling normal. You want to feel what a normal person should be feeling...to avoid feeling anything negative and painful because of how horrible those states feel.

6. What is something you wish you knew when you were newly diagnosed?P4 responded with the theme of confusion by acknowledging:

That alpha-gal is in everything. You have to watch out for everything: toilet paper, deodorant. I had trouble with my shoes and socks from my fabric softener. You just don't realize how much mammal is in everything...I had some probiotics that resulted in hives due to the gelatin capsule being mammal derived...So, I wish I had been more aware of what is encompassed with mammals. Especially make-us. Who would have thought?

## 7. What piece of advice would you share to someone newly diagnosed?

P4 answered with themes of perseverance:

It will get easier; it will get better. But now that you have a diagnosis, you have the power in your hands, you have control. Do not let the disease have control...You have to do what YOU have to do to keep yourself alive and feeling good...Just be empowered and take care of yourself.

P4 also provided some words of advice for supporting family members, aligning with themes of fear, punishment, confusion, perseverance, and external support: *Make sure they know that you believe them. And when they are having a reaction avoid thinking "okay, not this again" but if it is a reaction, okay "what can we do to stop it, how can I help you?" opposed to expression frustrations about the limitations and restrictions and blame...You already feel awful, don't make it any worse...Just by being there and knowing they believe you, and that when you're really, really, afraid when you're having a reaction and you have someone beside you that you know, knows how afraid you are and they say "It's going to be okay, I am not going to let you die" because you feel like you're going to die. So just knowing they are with you and they are going to support you and they are not going to let anything happen to you is pretty important.*  8. How does it feel to know these results will directly help others who are managing AGS?P4 responded with expressions of perseverance and external support stating:

I think it is wonderful how this project helps so many people understand their own experiences...It feels good knowing I've helped other people get answers and so this project is really wonderful...This is going to help bring knowledge and awareness that I wish I had when I was diagnosed. It is just really wonderful to share the awareness of it and knowing that it is going to be more understood.

P4 went on to disclose a personal experience of grief and physical alteration by sharing how AGS had physical alteration to her experience with running:

*I went from being a jogger of running 6 miles a day to not being able to run and using an inhaler.* 

9. Do you feel there is a question that you wish was asked but was not? If so, please share and we also invite you to provide your answer to that question.

P4 highlighted the experience of fear and grief through discussion of fume reactions, stating:

That's a scary, scary, thing, to know that if you walk into a grocery store where they could be smoking hams in the back, which is a very common thing in NC, that your blood pressure could just drop, and you could pass out.

P4 continued to provide another example of the risk of fume reactions affecting her son's life, sharing an experience of fear and punishment:

Volunteering at my son's school cafeteria where they were cooking pork led me to passing out while driving with my son in the car. He was 8 years old, and it scared us both so badly. P4 also elaborated on the experience of biphasic reactions with the theme of physical alteration by comparing the sensation of her blood pressure dropping to feeling "an oura come over" her.

P4 lastly disclosed themes of physical alteration, confusion, omission, punishment, perseverance, and external support while elaborating on the feeling of being believed, sharing:

The feeling of not being believed and then being believed...When you're not believed for so long, after a while it's like oh well, there's no convincing them. At first you feel so frustrated because you know what you're dealing with and you're not making it up and finally I was ready to throw in the towel and think that it was all in my head because of so many people saying "the brain is a very powerful thing." Once it became accepted it was really wonderful when they (medical professionals) would ask me questions and try to learn from my experience. It felt so validating that they wanted to learn from me and they thanked me for helping them understand it. For me, it was so wonderful to know that I was possibly helping the next person that walked into the emergency room.

#### **Community Conversation**

Twenty individuals submitted an invitation request to respond (RSVP) for the event and ten individuals followed through on their attendance in addition to the three members of the research film-production team. Due to the nature of the community meet-up being open to the public and consent forms being signed at check-in, no demographic data was collected. The meet up was hosted by the researcher (Sylvan Streightiff) and Dr. Jennifer Platt. Dr. Platt received her Doctor of Public Health from University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in 2013. In addition to her certifications, Dr. Platt has engaged in nearly three decades of work as a researcher and advocate in public, private, domestic, and international policy work. After spending an hour
greeting one another and taking time to eat, participants spent the remaining two hours asking Dr. Platt questions and disclosing personal experiences. The themes that came forward (*Physical Alteration, Grief. Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, Perseverance, and External Support*) overlapped with the survey data, body mapping, and individual interview datasets and are further defined in the section below, titled "Overlapping: defining.

While numerous examples were brought forward within the discussion, validating the themes of experience alongside the other datasets. The responses listed below provide examples within each theme:

# **Physical Alteration**

One participant defined this experience with AGS reactions as a "sense of doom." This is a change in the sympathetic nervous system response to things which were once enjoyable and is also a symptom which is physically experienced during the allergic response.

#### Grief

Countless expressions of grief were made in discussion, expressing a loss of connection, ability to travel, and sense of connection that has resulted in isolating behaviors. One participant specifically addressed their grief over traveling, stating they "no longer feel safe enough to go anywhere."

## Fear

This theme encompasses experiences of pain and anxiety. One participant expressed fear through "I couldn't eat anything; I couldn't go anywhere. I was afraid of everything, and everyone was going to cause me pain or kill me."

## Confusion

This theme was represented through expressions of inadequate information and resources, mislabeling or unclear labeling, delayed diagnosis, and education of AGS. During the conversation this came forward in the required need to question labeling and processing in addition to the actual engagement of meeting up with participants inquiring about AGS questions directly to Dr. Platt.

# **Omission**

This theme addresses the experience of being bypassed, a sense of invisibility from others, and not being believed. An example of this theme came forward when one participant shared their experience of her and her partner working in the medical field and directly witnessing bypassing from other doctors.

# Punishment

Experiences were exchanged across participants in this theme of feeling like a burden, specifically within their families with feeling shame associated with the desire to protect loved ones. Several examples were provided with experiences of being punished in the workplace (e.g., being fired) due to the inability to work during an AGS reaction (one of these reactions being triggered at the work site).

#### Perseverance

Preservation of self, motivation, advocacy, exhaustion, compassion fatigue, and burnout were all expressed by multiple participants. One woman expressed her personal struggle with AGS resulting in other health concerns and being prescribed medications in order to manage all her experienced symptoms. The participant went on to describe the shame and struggle of her preservation of self with this as she has who roots a lot of confidence and pride with identifying as someone who has utilized homeopathic remedies (a form of treating disease or illness with natural substances with the goal of allowing the body to ultimately heal itself) for managing health prior to AGS.

# **External Support**

Everyone who was present expressed their own experience with benefitting from external support such as a greater personal community, supportive family and/or friends, and social media groups. Additionally, the meet-up displayed this theme nonverbally through action of in-person participation.

# **Researcher Results**

The data represented through the expressed themes (Physical Alteration, Grief, Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, Perseverance, and External Support) were also represented through the produced film. The film itself serves as a reflection of data in an art based form through using these themes as structures for advocacy purposes. Throughout the course of this project (beginning with the initial idea for the project), this researcher kept a journal to document any countertransference and/or personal thoughts. This reflective process data was broken down and understood through the following themes based on the seven ACT clinical processes (expressed below):

## The Dilemma of Human Suffering

The researcher documented their motivation for the project being inspired from witnessing and aiding their roommate's (i.e., Sophie/Soph) personal experience with being newly diagnosed with AGS prior to their move to Northern California. Specific journals document her expressing this through the following statements:

- 08/06/2022 It is hard to be human. It is hard watching my best friend suffer while it is also one of the most inspiring things in my life to be connected to her and witness her navigate such complex experiences. The label of AGS does not begin to address the complexity of this experience. Having a diagnosis seems to mean nothing when it is dismissed. As I sit here and write this, I can immediately recall three other times where Soph has been sent into anaphylaxis from the doctors who are supposed to be helping her. No matter what, it seems as though the pain is always present, we have both just learned to manage and understand it in our own ways.
- 02/15/2023 The survey data is heartbreaking. I feel like I knew what the answers would be before reading them, and it feels like all these people have been forced to normalize fear.

## **Present-Moment Awareness**

This theme was displayed through expressions of mindfulness:

- 10/02/2022 I have been sitting in my room for days on end. My back hurts from sitting in this chair, my head hurts from trying to learn to read and understand all these medical papers. I feel anxious, I want to do everyone justice, I want to give credit properly, I don't want to let anyone down.
- 11/03/2022 My IRB application was submitted. At this moment, I am filled with joy and pride. If someone were to ask me to share something in my life that I felt proud of, this would be it. I feel meaningful, I feel like I am doing something important. This project is something valuable and, in this moment, I feel a break from the pain.

• 03/03/2023 - Tomorrow we start our filming so tonight I decided to guide the three of us through some somatic work and an art directive to help ground ourselves in mindfulness while promoting an awareness of how the interactions may affect us. We spent two hours listening to music and walking through the steps, ultimately creating our own scales of presence.

The drawing on the left represents how the researcher feels when she is ungrounded and dissociated while the image on the right represents the researcher's feelings of presence:

### *Figure 15 Researcher Scale of Presence*



*Note.* Reflective drawing scale. The left drawing represents the researcher's feelings of dissociation, and the right represents the researcher's feelings of presence.

# **Dimensions of Self**

This refers to self as context and how framing of language can lead to a sense of self and perspective, sometimes providing a spiritual element within the function of language (i.e., how I versus you, now versus then, and here versus there all influence empathy, theory of mind, sense of self, etc.).

Examples of physical dimensions:

- 09/29/2022 I was working on my literature review today and I had to stop. I read some data that filled me with tears. I feel nauseated at how many individuals are probably dead because of medical bypassing and how many are left without reasoning because of other marginalizing factors. Every time I feel overwhelmed, I just stop and step outside. Today Soph was with me, so we sat together.
- 10/10/2022 I am motivated by this research, it seems as though I just spend every day lately sitting at this desk, isolating myself and connecting myself to the numbers of people I don't know. All I really have done for the past couple months is eat, exercise, sit at my computer, sit with soph, and sleep.

Example of emotional dimension:

- 03/02/2023 I'm incredibly anxious and excited to meet everyone in this project. I spent the flight reading over my script numerous times. I feel terrified of the Ticks in North Carolina and probably will not be taking off my repellent infused socks.
- 03/04/2023 I messed up. I am feeling a good bit of shame and guilt. I didn't think to check the filtration process on the water bottles I purchased for the group body mapping session, and it turns out that two of the participants experience reactions to this. They brought their own water, but I am afraid my neglectful actions here could have inflicted a sense of shame on all ends.
- 03/11/2023 Today at the community meet-up, I felt really validated. Throughout every step of this process, everyone has expressed so much gratitude for it. This gratitude really does evoke a sense of happiness for me. It is difficult not to re-live the pain and fear I have felt with soph when individuals share similar experiences. There seems to be a deal of flashbacks that I am unable to control...

## Defusion

This refers to how the researcher produces thought in relation to their person. When an element is defused, it is being treated as an item or experience that is externally observed. When an element is fused, it can lead to personal identification, attachment, and/or labeling with the researcher's thought, feelings, and memories rather than remaining as an item that is directly observed.

- 03/04/2023 I have noticed myself discussing this project as "we" and "us." Soph told me that I need to acknowledge the work I am doing. I guess in ACT terms I have fused myself to the community of this project and just feel as though all this work is everyone's doing. I remember talking about how proud I was of the work I was doing when I submitted my IRB but now, I am having a difficult time acknowledging it as my work because I just feel like it is all of us.
- 03/29/2023 Today I caught myself feeling frustrated about my data analysis and telling myself "I suck at math, I don't understand any of this, and I can't do it." Immediately I recognized this was not an absolute but that I am just someone who does not have the mathematical background to easily do correlation calculations. And now, I am just considering if I should attempt to do this or if the energy spent towards figuring it out really means anything. There is just part of me that feels like this data speaks for itself. Then, maybe this is just me trying to convince myself that the world doesn't care about mathematical validity...

### Acceptance

This theme involves active awareness and acknowledgement of experiences without an attempt to alter their form. Acceptance is not removing the emotion but a way of increasing personal values through action.

- 11/02/2022 Today I realized I am autistic. Maybe it never came out because my entire life I have dedicated so much effort towards understanding the subtleties of how humans interact. I feel myself grieving slightly for the previous me and I am anxious that maybe this will become a barrier in the research if I am unable to understand and unpack every way it could influence my understanding of self, participants, and the research. At the same time, I am calming myself with this understanding of knowing that this is possibly also my strength. While I can see where it has been a barrier throughout my life...Throughout the course of this research, I see how it has helped me navigate each aspect with incredible detail and organization....I have also seen how I am unable to work or function without these noise canceling headphones at times...I have also seen how difficult it is for me to make eye contact...Filming this research almost seems essential at this point because without it ...and the amount of focus I have had to place on eye contact...in addition to wanting to be as present as possible with these participants would be nearly impossible for me.
- 02/28/2023 I spent a good bit of time feeling disappointed at my inability to get more culturally diverse samples. There were concerns that flooded my mind of feeling like I did a disservice by further bypassing marginalized communities. I've had to come to a point of accepting that I have put everything I have into this project, I have reached out to so

many pages, I have tried. I have to accept that this study cannot address every question and concern, and this can be discussed.

# Values

This theme refers to items that provide the individual and their life with meaning. Values are not goals; they are guiding factors that influence the choices a person makes and the direction they go.

- 7/10/2023 I am in a position of privilege. In the past I have experienced so much benefit from connecting with Type-1 Diabetes communities and I feel like because I am in the position of not having to live with AGS that I have this ability to help this community and so I should do the best I can.
- 03/02/2023 I want to be as present as possible with everyone I meet and with the experience. I want them to know they matter, and they are being heard. I feel this project is my way of letting people know someone cares.

### **Committed Action**

This refers to a sense of integrity that is guided by one's values. Committed action is also acting in service of those values.

• 08/18/2022 - Today soph and I met with Richard. He said that we couldn't do the project together (per program requirements, the two of us would be required to write separate and distinct thesis papers and Sophie had already written half of the paper for her previous project at this point). So, I am still going to do this project, but I don't feel great about writing this paper on my own. That being said, I feel everything is so meaningful and I see so much potential and confidence in my ability to produce something that is

accessible and beneficial to this population. This is my opportunity to create something that soph didn't have.

• 04/03/2023 - This project has been met with barriers. I've been challenged in my trust in interpersonal relationships while experiencing an immense amount of trust within the stories and experiences all these strangers have shared with me. I hope this film helps others recognize and accept their situations. I hope this project becomes an example I turn to as I seek to acknowledge my own worth, I am getting it done.

#### **Documentary Film as Data Representation**

The considerable variety of documentation within this research works to promote a multilayered approach to research processing and collaboration. The use of documentary film has been utilized in this research as creative data visualization. In this project, the format of the film provides greater opportunity for highlighting the compelling narratives of individuals living with AGS. By providing multiple avenues for visualizing data, this format works to convey messages in a more engaging and accessible manner. Additionally, for individuals with chronic illness, specifically AGS, who are currently still facing prominent bypassing (across personal, medical/clinical, institutional, and societal levels), this film serves as a direct advocacy tool in addressing the very real and severe concerns that come with daily management. The format further connects the population of concern (individuals with AGS) to beneficial resources and communities (as listed in the description of the video) and by connecting this type of visualization to a formal research paper, those who view it can directly access peer-reviewed journals, forcing the viewer to accept the reality of this condition being a very real and lifethreatening concern. Each aspect of this research engages participants, readers/viewers, and the researcher by addressing ACT concepts (The Dilemma of Human Suffering, Present-Moment Awareness, Dimensions of Self, Defusion, Acceptance, Values). Furthermore, the structure of the film mimics the investigative process the researcher took on in order to address the topic of this thesis. The film was produced out of collaborative efforts, beginning with the direct witnessing of the reality of living with AGS through the researcher's support of her roommate.

While the themes associated with the thematic analysis were not determined until the collected data was extensively reviewed, this witnessing led to determining the questions within the virtual survey. The quantitative and qualitative responses (shared through the collaborative collection process of survey participants, body mapping participants, the community conversation participants, and the film observers) all work to further validate the expressed themes of: Physical Alteration, Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, Perseverance, and External Support (proven to be prominent within this research and the narrative of the AGS lived experience). Furthermore, these themes serve to establish structure for the produced documentary.

In addition to potential participant and viewer benefit from the variety of data representation, the film production process serves as a tool for deepening the researcher's role within the project and their understanding/evaluation of the data by being forced to witness and reflect on recorded interactions between themself and the participants. This process also works to deepen the researcher's understanding and application of ACT concepts as each aspect of the research serves as an opportunity to be understood through the theoretical lens as it applies to the AGS narrative. Ultimately, every element contributes to the possible effect of strengthening the psychological flexibility of each person involved in this project (e.g., the participants, the researcher, the audience, and those who are given knowledge about the research through verbalization) through collaborative committed action.

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of these themes coming through, the researcher gathered blind evaluations from six random volunteers who were unattached to the project. Each individual was instructed to view the film and provide two sentences regarding their observation. Afterwards, each individual was asked to evaluate if they felt the themes of Physical Alteration, Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, and Perseverance were addressed (with the ability to go back and rewatch portions of the video). Lastly, each participant was asked to write one sentence on the researcher's role within the project.

## **Conclusion of Results**

51 participants completed an online survey providing input on a series of 31 items. Of those 51 submissions, the vast majority of individuals with AGS scored moderate to high levels of perceived stress. The quantitative survey results also displayed significance in the majority of participants who confirmed their experiences within the following management related occurrences (i.e. the majority of participants report having experienced this in regards to AGS management): reactions to carrageenan, neurological symptoms following fume exposure of the allergen, receiving inadequate and harmful information from doctors, AGS require more than simple avoidance of the allergen, unclear labeling and processing resulting in an avoidance of food/eating and AGS reactions in addition to a somewhat poor and poor relationship with food, a desire for therapy/therapeutic resources, and a direct management benefit from social media engagement. Of those 51 people, several provided qualitative data in the form of free responses including: a disclosure of management aids and information they would have wanted to know upon the time of their initial diagnosis. Thematic analysis of this data revealed the presence of seven themes: Physical Alteration, Grief, Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, Perseverance, and External Support.

The seven themes were further identified through body mapping where 3 individuals engaged with researcher-led prompts followed by a group reflection and conversation of their individual creative approaches and symbolic meaning. These seven themes continued to be explored through and the filmed observations. An individual interview allowed one participant to reveal their experience of AGS in response to nine questions. The continued exploration of these themes was also distinguishable through the engagement of the ten participating members of the community conversation where individuals engaged in a shared dialogue pertaining to their experiences living with AGS. The research also included a heuristic evaluation of the researcher's experiences which revealed the reflective process of the researcher to be understood through ACT concepts of: The Dilemma of Human Suffering, Present-Moment Awareness, Dimensions of Self, Defusion, Acceptance, Values, and Committed Action.

Art and theory are examined and explained throughout every chapter of this paper. The final chapter of this thesis (Chapter 5) will discuss the meaning of this research by connecting each aspect of the research through the addressment of the given themes: Physical Alteration, Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, Perseverance, External Support. The concepts of Human Suffering, Present-Moment Awareness, Dimensions of Self, Defusion, Acceptance, Values, and Committed Action within ACT theory will also be addressed through the understanding of implications of this research in the discussion to follow.

#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

# Introduction

The present study investigated experiences of individuals living with AGS through a mixedmethods approach. Throughout the investigation, the researcher utilized elements of ACT (The Dilemma of Human Suffering, Present-Moment Awareness, Dimensions of Self, Defusion, Acceptance, Values, Committed Action) as a tool for establishing structure in addition to connecting and understanding the participant's expressed narratives. The following research questions were explored and will be further discussed:

- Do individuals managing Alpha-Gal Syndrome (AGS) express heightened levels of perceived stress?
- 2. Do individuals with AGS benefit from group participation and art making?
- 3. Can AGS be associated with food avoidance due to unclear labeling/understanding of the product's manufacturing processes?
- 4. Will body mapping and/or interviewing reveal a narrative of lived experience for individuals with AGS through emergence of overlapping themes?
- 5. Will collaborative filmmaking create a sense of purpose and positive inclusion for individuals with AGS?

Quantitative survey data was collected in addition to qualitative in-person art making and discussions (a body mapping session, an individual interview, and a community meetup/conversation), as displayed in chapter 4. This chapter will connect and discuss the data, expressed needs of this population, and disclosed experiences of individuals living with AGS through an understanding of the themes revealed through the reflexive thematic analysis (Physical Alteration, Grief, Fear, Confusion, Omission, Punishment, Perseverance, and External Support) and in relation to the initial hypotheses:

- Body mapping will work to reveal the narrative of lived experience with overlapping themes for individual participants who engage in art therapy
- Educational collaborative filmmaking will create a sense of purpose in positive inclusion as measured by intercoder reliability.
- The researcher predicts elements of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) and storytelling to be effective in expressive individual experiences specifically in regard to art therapy serving as a promising tool in connecting participants with AGS through their expressed narrative.
- Individuals managing AGS to report higher levels on PSS-10 and that individuals find participating in a group to have a positive impact on daily management.

The following chapter will further explore the findings of this study within the context of previous research, limitations, validity, and implications for future research. This chapter will conclude with a reflection of the film and production process, ethical praxis, and reflexivity.

# Results

The central inquiry of this research was to establish a narrative for the lived experience of individuals with AGS. Multiple and complimentary quantitative and qualitative research designs were used to explore and validate the abundance of information disclosed by participants (a quantitative virtual survey, an in-person body mapping, in-person individual interview, and an in-person community conversation). This study revealed consistent and significant results across all data (quantitative and qualitative), establishing AGS to be a life-threatening illness which can require significant alterations in navigating daily life and attempts to prioritize safety.

Additionally, the narrative of living with AGS has been shown to be multi-layered in its effects on the individual throughout the required lifestyle shifts and experience of complex trauma. The collected data further calls into question government regulations in supporting this population through regulation of risks associated with product labeling in addition to expressed needs for access to educational, medical, and psychological resources. Quantitative survey data was collected from fifty-one participants (5 males, 47 females) ranging in age and years living AGS.

While the meaning of these results will be further intertwined in the discussion of revealed themes, the following percentages were calculated from corresponding responses to the survey questions:

- **75%** of participants have experienced an allergic reaction following the ingestion of carrageenan.
- **53%** of participants experience *neurological symptoms* (difficulty formulating words, forgetting a place in a sentence, brain fog, etc.) after inhaling fumes containing the AGS allergen (e.g., cooked or smoked red meat). 18% selected "Unsure."
- **75%** of participants said they were not given adequate information regarding AGS from their doctors.
- **55%** of participants have been provided false or harmful information regarding AGS management from their doctors.
- **98%** of participants expressed living with AGS to be more complex than avoiding the allergen.
- 100% of participants expressed an avoidance of food/eating due to unclear labeling, 84.6% selecting "Very Often" and "Fairly Often."

- 100% of participants have experienced an AGS reaction due to unclear labeling, 35.2% disclosing "Very Often" and "Fairly Often," and 47.2% stating this experience to occur "Sometimes."
- **60%** of participants expressed a "Poor" and "Somewhat Poor" relationship to food due to unclear labeling and processes.
- **75%** of participants expressed a desire to engage in therapy resources, if made available.
- 77.4% of participants scored Moderate and High levels of perceived stress.

# Discussion

### **Physical Alteration ANS System**

The theme of physical alteration is defined as a change in the autonomic nervous system (ANS) which is triggered during times of perceived danger (Mulkey & Plessis, 2019). More specifically in regard to AGS, this alteration occurs within the sympathetic (one part of the ANS) nervous system (SNS) response to things which were once enjoyable (the other parts being the parasympathetic nervous system/PSNS which works to restore the body to a calm and composed state and the enteric nervous system/ENS which governs the gastrointestinal tract). Participants shared descriptions of alterations in their enjoyment levels leading to a change in behavior alongside symptoms such as increased heart and breathing rates and shifts in emotional perception. This is a symptom which is also physically experienced during an AGS allergic response and noted by participants as a "sense of doom." What was being described in these scenarios aligns with the limbic systems (fight, flight, or freeze) response that occurs automatically when a threat is present, pausing nonessential functioning in order to maintain safety for survival.

When trauma is endured, adrenaline and cortisol are released, initiating a sympathetic nervous system response, and essentially shutting down the prefrontal cortex and impairing executive functioning (i.e., decision-making, problem-solving, self-control, reasoning, memory, and other language structures). When the prefrontal cortex shuts off and the limbic system takes over, initial memories of traumatic events become stored in the amygdala to be later triggered and re-experienced (Bari et. al, 2014; Lepage et. al, 2019; Tyng et. al, 2017). Due to the executive functioning impairment, these memories often become fragmented and stimulated through reminders of the trauma. Due to the nature of how physical or sensory input becomes diffused from logical thought at the time of the experience (Kearney & Lanius, 2022), these somatic memories can be triggered and experienced as real threats from anything internal (e.g., thoughts or feelings) or external (e.g., a situation, place, sound, or smell). Thus, the reality of negative associations between previously enjoyed activities for individuals with AGS highlights a very real physiological process of the brain working to protect the individual.

Within the survey, this theme can be easily identified within the fill in response section where individuals were asked to share something they wish they knew when they were first diagnosed. Of the 51 individuals who completed the survey, 34 expressed they would have wished to have been aware of how to cope with the emotional shifts that occur as a result of living with AGS. Body mapping participants illustrated their experience of physical alteration through symbolic mark making and discussing their experience of emotional shifts of enjoyment with activities/behaviors. This expressed experience was further validated across the 3 person individual interview, and the 10 person group conversation, with additional disclosures. Participants expressed a range of scenarios (e.g., exercise, community groups, food, family gatherings, travel, etc.) where they faced a stark shift from enjoyment to fear of experiences that were once perceived as harmless.

Unfortunately, due to the nature of this study and how complex trauma occurs, the expressed emotional shifts also became an active element to individuals participating in the research study. This was a risk listed on signed consent forms as well as a verbalized item stated to each participant by the researcher, ensuring safety and comfortability would be prioritized. As participants opened up about their experiences, they disclosed flashbacks of events, commented on intrusive thoughts and images which came to mind, nightmares, and distress as they recalled experiences of pain, sweating, nausea, trembling, and discomfort. The researcher also observed physical shifts in watery eyes and tearful, shaking/quivering/trembling speech, and body movements (e.g., rocking, fidgeting, tapping, etc.) made by participants as they recalled their experiences. During the body mapping session, one participant verbalized difficulty in feeling as though they were reliving their life-threatening experiences. The struggle to engage with this level of vulnerability was acknowledged and appreciated by the researcher. Additionally, further meditations, check ins, and words of validation were implemented in order to assure healthy levels of regulation and safety for participants prior to departure.

The process of expressing and processing shared experiences works to fuse together the physically stored memories with an understanding and connection to language. The act of creating art also activates the limbic system (Shi et. al, 2017). Thus, when individuals engage in art making, they are simultaneously fusing together physically stored memories and cognitive thought through defusion (e.g., altering the individual's relationship to their thoughts) and processing trauma as a safe and creative observer. Ultimately, the added layer of processing through symbolic and creative expression works to increase the participant's reflection process

and depth of sharing within the discussion. These symbolic and creative processes were validated and disclosed by the body mapping participants through individual statements reflecting on the process, including statements of gratitude for the new and lasting visual language for their experiences of AGS. Additionally, art making has been shown to engage the PSNS, indicating a stimulation of the vagus nerve, promoting healthy stress regulation (as displayed through heart rate variability) and allowing the individual to feel calmer, more compassionate, and clearer (Haiblum-Itskovitch, 2018).

## Fear

Fear is another element to the body's natural safety response and often coincides with anxiety (Beckers et. al, 2023). This theme revealed itself to be central to a large range of each participant's shared experiences. While an individual's fear complex can be protective and healthy, there are also instances where fear becomes a negatively impacting interrupter (Clart et. al, 2015). Over time, an individual can be conditioned by repeated stressors with resulting harmful outcomes (Maren & Holmes, 2015). For individuals with AGS, the experience of fear was central to every aspect of the participant's journey and was witnessed in their responses to fearing the life-threatening and incomparable level of physical and emotional pain and anxiety that one endures from the allergic response. Several participants described this level of pain to be more excruciating than one could describe or imagine without experiencing it.

Fear can interrupt the ability to regulate emotions, impacting how an individual may be able to make decisions and experience emotions. It can further drive our behaviors, attitudes, reactions, and beliefs while leaving us in a state of heightened arousal (Maren & Holmes, 2015). For individuals with AGS, there is no break from this fear. The experience of fear begins as soon as an alteration in the immune system results in AGS allergic reactions without any clear understanding or reasoning as to why. Individuals living with this illness enter a period of what may be perceived as random but chronic reactions to what seems to be nothing. In reality, these individuals undergo a range of symptoms (e.g., hives, burning sensations, lowered blood pressure, watery eyes, neurological impairments, arthritic pain, digestive issues, loss of ability to move/breathe/speak/eat, etc.) all from contamination of an allergen which can be found in everyday home and health products (e.g., laundry detergent, water filters, medications, beauty products, etc.). This experience of intense reactions without cause ignites a fear of everything an individual may encounter within the world around them, including oneself. This fear was validated by 55% of participants who expressed being provided false or harmful information regarding AGS management from their doctors. Ultimately, fear forces a change in navigation of life in hopes to reduce the frequency of the painful experiences of AGS allergic reactions.

Participants expressed a level of relief after receiving their AGS diagnosis. However, this was stated alongside emphasis on the fear remaining present. Obtaining a diagnosis does not remove the threat of exposure. Additionally, avoidance is imperfect as there are countless possibilities for contamination/cross contamination. Each alteration of the ANS, as described above, is driven by the perception and experience of non-verbal and verbal cues of fear. Participants disclosed how these cues can be found through a fear of places, people, activities, unfamiliar products, and food, leading to an experience of distrust of self and others. While this experience of fear was described as an element of AGS which becomes easier to manage over time (as in learning to live with the fear through working to adapt one's environment and risk of encountering possible exposures), it is persistent.

Even the participants in remission disclosed how they believed that their experience of fear will never go away. This was stated explicitly by participating members of the study. In the

individual interview, the participant disclosed her continual fear of pork despite being in remission. Within the body mapping session, one participant expressed her remission leading to a confrontation of a new fear of any irregular health symptom being connected to AGS and the possibility of coming out of remission. The most frequently described fear was through the experience of consumption. This fear of eating something which can result in a severe and fatal reaction has led every participant to an experience of avoidance of food/eating (described further below under punishment). The following survey data (as seen mentioned above) validates this aspect to the AGS narrative:

- 100% of participants expressed an avoidance of food/eating due to unclear labeling, 84.6% selecting "Very Often" and "Fairly Often."
- 100% of participants have experienced an AGS reaction due to unclear labeling, 35.2% disclosing "Very Often" and "Fairly Often," and 47.2% stating this experience to occur "Sometimes."
- **60%** of participants expressed a "Poor" and "Somewhat Poor" relationship to food due to unclear labeling and processes.

These statistics reveal serious need and concern for further evaluation of AGS food related thoughts and behaviors. Eating Disorders are defined as serious mental health and behavioral conditions characterized by severe disturbances in eating behaviors and related distressing thoughts and emotions (Guatda, 2023). By this definition, the effect of AGS on physical, psychological, and social functioning reveals concern for medically induced disordered eating for individuals living with this illness. Furthermore, the disclosed symptoms surrounding food perceptions and behaviors may also fit the criteria for other specified feeding and eating disorders and/or avoidant restrictive food intake disorder (AFRID; Guatda, 2023). Thus, the element of fear within the AGS narrative is one that is significant and should not be overlooked by medical, clinical, and social support systems.

The body mapping session served as an avenue for participants to confront their fears associated with AGS. One participant wrote the words "Afraid to eat" as she confronted how AGS altered her relationship to food, considering how an experience which used to be joyous and valued with the community transitioned into a fatal concern. As each of the three women reflected on their drawings, they faced their life-threatening events through the creation and deliberation of art making in a safe and controlled space. Confronting these fears resulted in participants reliving aspects of their trauma with dysregulation, pain, and sadness for what they each had endured. Each participant acknowledged their revealed memories while connecting cognitive processing and empathy to the expressed physical and emotional pain. As the three participants emphasized the meaning behind chosen symbols and words, they were able to confront these experiences from a diffused perspective. The images became a new association for their experiences, providing visuals for externalizing their internalized thoughts/emotions/beliefs/behaviors/encounters, resulting in a strengthened sense of connection, validation, empowerment, and healing from the experience (as stated by the woman in conclusion of the discussion).

Through this research, it is clear that the theme of fear is prominent within each aspect of the participants' lives. For these participants, professional medical aid has transitioned from being a reassuring safety net to a fearful and life threatening encounter to be avoided. Participants stated their fears of needing to be treated without the ability of being able to advocate or speak for themselves during the time of a reaction or serious incident. When individuals can speak for themselves, there is also a fear of doctors negating the patient and

121

going against their requested treatment needs. AGS creates a valid fear for common activities such as hiking, backpacking, or at-home gardening. This fear goes beyond tick precaution as numerous instances could occur which require medical aid (e.g., tetanus). For example, if an individual is bitten by a poisonous snake while gardening in their home, they may be taken to the ICU where they are then confronted with the reality of not being able to take any anti-venom medication due to all available treatments containing the AGS allergen.

The reality is that many emergency procedures and medical treatments utilize medications with mammal components or processing. For some procedures and medications, there are no alternative options that are safe for this population (e.g., heparin, birth control, etc.). One participant expressed their experience of doctors assuming AGS symptoms were due to drug use. Had the emergency responders treated her with naloxone, this individual would have died. Fear forces individuals with AGS to critically consider their environments while altering their lives, beliefs, traditions, community, activities, and career paths. While fear may never be fully removed, there is certainly room for improved resources and support within this aspect of AGS for aiding health management and emotional regulation/grounding. Ultimately, routine procedures and medical treatments must be altered for this population. If this alteration does not occur, the resources which are established to aid health will continue to result in an increasing number of AGS related fatalities.

### Grief

Grief is central to human functioning and encompasses much more than the death of a loved one (Fernández-Alcántara et. al, 2021). At the root, grief is an experience of loss and has been noted in this study through the loss of abilities and experiences individuals with AGS have experienced as a result of living with the illness. This includes loss of culture, connection, ability

122

to travel, independence, control over the physical and emotional self, and the resulting isolating behaviors. As mentioned previously in the literature review chapter of this paper, prolonged and significant levels of grief can disrupt immune system functioning and be associated with selfneglect and suicidal thoughts (Szuhany et. al, 2021). Participants expressed grief in terms of psychological distress, separation anxiety, confusion, yearning, obsessive dwelling on the past, and apprehension about the future.

The stages of grief (denial, anger, bargaining, depression, and acceptance) are not bound to one order (Stroebe et. al, 2017). The individuals participating in this study disclosed their feelings of shock, numbness, confusion, shutting down, frustration, impatience, resentment, embarrassment, range, loss of control, guilt shame, blame, fear, anxiety, insecurity, sadness, despair, helplessness, hopelessness, disappointment, and being overwhelmed with great vulnerability and authenticity in to be experienced as an infinite loop of grief with a unique experience of acceptance. For individuals with AGS, the act of acceptance appears to be a more commonly forced cognitive and logical process rather than an empowering felt sense or belief (e.g., self-compassion, feeling validated, being present in the moment, coping healthfully, etc.) as it was most frequently paired with negatively intrusive emotions and thoughts (e.g., helplessness, resentment, shame, fear, blame, frustration, numbness, feeling out of control).

Individuals with AGS have an unwanted identity thrust upon them, forcing a level of acceptance of this new reality in order to move forward (due to the risk of denial resulting in life-threatening consequences). Participants expressed this experience alongside the emotions of grief in relation to confronting their identity where AGS resulted in questioning their identity and the role they felt they played. The element of role and identity grief was shared through examples of children taking on parental roles, the inability to cook or participate in cultural traditions and

social gatherings, or the inability to continue working in specific careers and hobbies and/or passions. Grief over self brings into question what constitutes identity/reforming identity, how individuals with AGS cope and restructure an understanding of self with this, and how the element of fear may affect and prolong periods of grief for this population.

Body mapping encouraged participants to directly confront altered identities through creative processing and healing. Participants acknowledged and expressed their losses on their maps while processing and sharing how they responded to this AGS element. This brought forward feelings of sadness, remorse, frustration, helplessness. Additionally, the women acknowledged their individual needs to accept forced and abrupt loss as an aspect to their realities in order to maintain inspiration, motivation, and empowerment for moving forward from disturbances. The art provided visual storytelling and embodiment of this process through connection and verbal expression of this theme. Confronting their images allowed the participants to reflect on a rendered collection of loss and gain a sense of appreciation for their strengths in what had been endured.

# Confusion

This theme addresses participant concerns for and attempts to address a need for access to adequate information, resources, clear labeling, and medical/clinical understanding of AGS. The experience of confusion, associated as a predominantly frustrating or helpless state, was paired with experiences of fear and anxiety. Participants expressed confronting confusion in physical, emotional, internal, and external scenarios. For individuals with AGS, confusion signifies a desire to understand or attempt to gain a sense of control through understanding an illness which is far more complicated than what one experiences with traditional allergies. When AGS floods the individual with fear and anxiety, resulting in an abundance of input, change, and decisions to

make. Body mapping imagery displayed this through participant reflections of their expressing their journey with AGS. Each participant drew symbols/words/images, ranging in fluidity to rigid and abstract to realistic or literal depictions to display (and verbally interpret) these expressed aspects.

**98%** of survey participants expressed living with AGS to be more complex than avoiding the allergen. This statistic was further validated by every in-person participant through the sharing of their lived experiences. Participants' reflections revealed confusion to be associated with accessing information, resources, and knowledgeable medical professionals in addition to the frustration associated with inadequate labeling for product ingredients and processing (to be discussed further below). Due to the range of symptoms, there is no exact blueprint for determining consistency in severity of reactivity across all ingredients or products containing the allergen without individual trial and error periods (e.g., it is possible an individual may be reactive to dairy yet still tolerate consumption of lower fat cheeses such as feta cheese or cheese containing vegetable rennet and no added vitamin D or gelatin). Ultimately, the theme of confusion revealed itself to contribute to individuals with AGS feeling lost and helpless in the process of managing their lives, furthering the risk for disbelief, self-bypassing, and heightened anxiety.

Confusion was also expressed through the need to backtrack possible exposures/triggers (due to the delayed response), and the physical experience of neurological impairments which individuals endure as a result of reactions. Survey data revealed **53%** of participants experience *neurological symptoms* (difficulty formulating words, forgetting a place in a sentence, brain fog, etc.) after inhaling fumes containing the AGS allergen (e.g., cooked or smoked red meat). 18% selected "Unsure." While this statistic connects neurological decline as a result of fume

exposure, brain fog (characterized by confusion, forgetfulness, and a lack of focus and mental clarity) was disclosed to be a symptom persistent across all participant exposures.

The experience of confusion complicates AGS management by disrupting one's ability to live independently and fulfill self-advocacy needs. As stated earlier: **75%** of survey participants expressed they were not given adequate information regarding AGS from their doctors and **55%** of disclosed doctors providing false or harmful information regarding AGS management. These statistics were emphasized by participants with disclosures of how doctors provided a diagnosis with the only instruction for management being to "avoid eating red meat." This does not signify all medical professionals or specialists to be inadequate in serving AGS patient needs. These statements serve to highlight how access to correct and beneficial information/resources can be the difference between life and death in this illness while lack of access may lead to an increasement of distrust, fear, anxiety, and resulting isolating behaviors. Addressing the theme of confusion in its entirety infers a great need to expand knowledge within the professional sphere in order to minimize levels of confusion and possible resulting distrust/fear for individuals with AGS, as emphasized and desired by the study participants.

## **Omission**

This theme encompasses the experience of being bypassed, a feeling invisible in the eyes of others, and not being believed. AGS is an abnormal illness which defies previously established understandings of immune system functioning regarding allergies. While actions are continuing to be taken for increasing awareness and knowledge of AGS, there remains a level of resistance to accepting this reality. As participants shared their journeys in navigating AGS, they expressed similar narratives in being bypassed by doctors or loved ones, often dismissed and referred to psychiatric departments for incorrect diagnosis. Several participants also disclosed their experience of being dismissed by specialists despite obtaining test results to prove their AGS diagnosis, impeding their ability to access critically needed medications such as an epipen. Within the body mapping data, this was symbolized through an invisible face alongside expressions of disbelief, deepening the context for this experience with associated emotions and memories they attributed to the theme.

When being bypassed, dismissed, or not being believed is experienced at the hands of medical professionals, it can lead to increasing amounts of self-doubt and self-bypassing where individuals with AGS question their perceptions and perceived truths of their lived experiences and further play into the experience of fear/pain/anxiety/depression/etc. This experience has been noted by participants to question if what they are enduring is entirely rooted in psychological nature or if the symptoms are evidently physical beyond the valid psychological components found to be associated with AGS in this study. When an individual with AGS feels lost and depleted from recurring neglect and/or abuse, it becomes much more difficult to advocate for oneself or against the opinions of others (as expressed by participants). AGS is a very real allergic response and without the belief or support from others (loved ones, community members, support systems, and medical/clinical professionals), individuals navigating this illness may be at risk for elevated levels of physical and emotional harm, leading to escalating frequencies and ranges of isolating or even self-harming behaviors.

## Punishment

The theme of punishment can be understood as an element to AGS which may result from being met with a range of challenging circumstances, including in reaction to encountering resistance and/or repeated instances of negative events/emotions. Punishment consists of feeling like a burden (specifically within their families with feeling shame associated with the desire to protect loved ones) in addition to self-punishing thoughts and behaviors. These thoughts and behaviors have been expressed by participants through numerous instances where the participants either actively sacrificed safety and/or comfort or responded to exposure in selfbelittling and harmful actions (e.g., internalizing symptoms, negating to take protective health management actions, excessive self-shaming/self-blame/negative self-talk, disordered eating, isolating behaviors, etc.). When these experiences are confronted or paired with external sources (e.g., being fired due to in inability to work during an AGS reaction or loved ones inflicting blame or doubt onto an individual for their uncontrollable experience), individuals with AGS have expressed the theme of punishment to be more impeding and at times debilitating or harmful to their physical and emotional health.

#### Perseverance

AGS alters numerous aspects of patients' identity through distraction, fruitless efforts, fusion/being stuck in thoughts, experiential avoidance (i.e., suppressing unwanted experiences/emotions/thoughts/memories/bodily sensations). How an individual perceives and responds to their circumstances can either result in a strengthening/reinforcement of psychological flexibility or lead to feeling trapped in a rigid and vicious cycle of feeling stuck. In this research, perseverance was examined by understanding how individuals respond to their management of AGS (i.e., noting behaviors/thoughts/feelings/experiences which can contribute to stuck-ness and/or psychological flexibility). This theme includes participant disclosures of the following: preservation of self, motivation, advocacy, exhaustion, compassion fatigue, and burnout.

## **Perceived Stress.**

Prior to data sampling, this research questioned if individuals with AGS would display heightened levels of perceived stress (higher levels being associated with higher levels of pain intensity and pain interference). Of the 51 participants who completed the 10-item measurement (PSS-10) within the virtual survey, 22.6% resulted in low scores (2-10), 60.7% scored moderate (12-26), and 16.7% scored high (27-37). Despite the 77.4% of participants who scored moderate and high, it is possible the PSS may not be the most ideal measurement for establishing a narrative for chronic illness. Due to the nature of this illness, many individuals with AGS learn to limit their stress over time as they adapt to what is necessary for survival. This measurement is one which may shift given the resources and coping skills an individual obtains.

Stress is the body's reaction to a challenge or demand. Even with lower levels of perceived stress, it is possible for trauma to remain a barrier in navigating everyday life (Singh et. al, 2021). Given the complexity of trauma which can be associated with AGS, individuals may develop defenses to mitigate stress levels and maintain motivation. An example of this was noted within the individual where the participant stated her relationship with food to be good now that she has been in remission. However, this statement was directly followed by a manic defense of emphasizing persisting trauma with her fear of pork. In this scenario, the participant attempted to deny any alterations or feelings of disturbance by adopting an overly active and/or triumphant position of exclaiming how she refuses to believe her AGS symptoms will return while admitting a prominent fear and behavioral alteration rooted in her experience of AGS trauma.

Certain defenses in response to trauma may also lead participants to experience a numbing of or separation from emotion whilst enduring heightened levels of pain, fear, anxiety,

and grief (Baxter, 2022). However, the body can continue to store these emotions despite the perception of them not being experienced (Van der Kolk, 2014). The numbing of emotions was depicted through examples of exhaustion, compassion fatigue, and burnout. When psychological and physical symptoms emerge, individuals with AGS also express difficulty in advocating for themselves, emphasizing the need for supportive loved ones. Within this research, individuals with AGS have displayed their requirements to move forward despite the countless challenges and experiences of disbelief they encounter in daily management and in interacting with their communities. While body mapping participants depicted a power symbol and personal slogan they hold to represent strength and perseverance, the body maps in their entirety functioned as a symbol of perseverance. Participants expressed gratitude for the life-sized maps that serve as a physical object of representation in this acknowledgement and acceptance process.

# **External Support**

Social support and communities were found to be beneficial in AGS management. This was validated by 88.5% of the 51 virtual survey participants who expressed their management benefiting from social media engagement. In-person participants further validated the value of having a greater personal community and supportive family and/or friends, especially during more difficult and challenging days where negative symptoms/thoughts/feelings/circumstances arise and individuals with AGS approach exhaustion or burnout. Conversely, participants also expressed negative experiences of times where they became disconnected from or lacked external support systems during times of need (e.g., due to a lack of belief or understanding from loved ones, experiencing punishment or blame for reactions, being in isolation while enduring severe AGS reactions, etc.).

This research study became an avenue for external support for those who participated and/or became aware of it. Individuals who were unable to participate submitted messages, emails, and phone calls to the researcher expressing their gratitude and feelings of empowerment for knowing the study was occurring. Additionally, all in-person participants communicated personal meaning in their participation to the researcher (in reflection to all group members and/or in speaking directly to the researcher). For the individuals who contributed to this project through collaboration, they experienced a sense of purpose and empowerment knowing their participation was aiding in helping others find validation in their relatability and journeys with AGS. Additionally, several of the individuals requested art therapy resources from the researcher after disclosing a level of personal healing and transformation from their participation in the study.

# Limitations

The present study sought to establish a narrative for individuals living with AGS. It drew on direct participant experiences through quantitative (virtual survey data) and qualitative (body mapping, an individual interview, and 10-person gathering) to establish correlating and prominent themes through an integration and understanding of ACT theory. Bridging together multiple aspects within this mixed methods research allowed for multilayered findings as well as internal-validity checks, as collected data worked to substantiate the compiled narrative elements to living with AGS. Yet, there are several limitations to address within this research, specifically within the population sample and methodology.

The following limitations were noted by the researcher:

• *Time Limitations:* Due to the relatively short time frame for conducting this research, the researcher was only able to promote and collect participants for the study over the course

of a month. This presented challenges in raising awareness and gathering participants (as noted by only filling 3 out of 5 available slots for the art making session and only 1 out of 10 available slots for individual interviews. The individual interviewee was also an individual in remission who is an active advocate for AGS which further limited a more diverse perspective. Additionally, the community conversation was not limited in spots but was later approved as a modification/addition to the initial research application, only allowing two weeks for gathering attendees.

- *Age Limitations:* Participants were required to be over the age of 18 years old thus leaving out the experiences and perceptions of children living with AGS.
- *Gender Limitation*: The vast majority of participants were female, limiting the generalizability of the data to more diverse populations.
- *Familial and Occupational Limitations:* The scheduling of the in-person days was on weekends. This presented a limitation for individuals with children to participate due to needing childcare. Additionally, further restrictions could have limited those with occupational duties on weekends (e.g., individuals who hold on-call positions and/or lower income families who are required to be present at work on Saturdays and Sundays).
- Location Limitations: While the researcher aimed to select a location central to hotspots for AGS, the study location presented limitations with accessibility for participants. Participants were required to organize transportation, meaning individuals who live in more remote locations who may have desired to participate may have also been restricted from doing so due to their proximity to public transit making accessibility to the study locations more difficult. It is possible there may have been an increased number of participants if the study allowed for virtual independent interview participation.

- *External Support Limitations:* The study was promoted through social networking sites meaning individuals who did not have Facebook or engagement with AGS associated social media pages or connections via word of mouth were not made aware of the opportunity. Alternatively, those who did participate were individuals who are actively seeking community connection through external support which could influence motivation for participation and/or study measurements (e.g., associated coping skills and stress levels).
- *Filming Procedure Limitations*: The study was promoted with the note of film production. This aspect of the research may have altered certain individuals' willingness to participate due to a lack of desire or increased desire to collaborate in this production process. Additionally, this production process represented a limit in confidentiality. Each in-person participant was required to acknowledge the limits of anonymity within this study while given the ability to keep any of their recordings separate from the final product.
- *Risk Limitations*: Discussion of vulnerable and traumatic experiences is difficult. Thus, the emotional risk associated with disclosure in addition to level of trust and comfort for traveling may have resulted in discouraging the participation of possible participants. During the body mapping session, one participant expressed difficulty in considering her life-threatening and traumatic experiences while displaying clear signs of dysregulation (i.e., watery eyes, trembling voice, change in tone/volume/cadence of speech, removed eye contact, and closed off body positioning). In response, the researcher implemented an additional guided body-scan meditation followed by a series of safety questions and

provided resources in order to minimize risk of harm to participants following their departures.

*Researcher Limitations:* Research resources are limited within this study. While
reference groups were used (i.e., supporting faculty were established in overseeing the
project alongside discussion and support from fellow graduate students and colleagues)
this was a large project of a single researcher collaborating with participating members of
the community in order to compile data and establish the resulting narrative (i.e., creating
limitations in validity and researcher perspectives). This researcher experienced conflicts
within their role as they identify as an art therapist which presented personal limitations
by challenging their valued identity, requiring restriction in their ability to maximize
therapeutic outcomes for participants (discussed further under reflexivity). Additionally,
limitations arose in background literature due to the lack of research done within this
population and the utilized methodologies.

## Validity

To date, there are only two guides for conducting research with body mapping (see Gastaldo et al., 2012; Solomon, 2002) and no other psychological studies on the AGS population. With an overall scarce background literature, this research focused on key comparative factors alongside thematic analysis to acknowledge the participant's experiences in response to guiding questions. The goal was to demonstrate overarching themes formulated from initial participant data through descriptive and interpretive rigor (integrity and competence). Preserving the participant's subjective point of view was achieved by acknowledging the context of their shared experiences, highlighting spatial and temporal aspects of disclosures and established social relationships. The subjective point of view (how participants interpret their
daily experience of managing AGS) became key for establishing validity and interpretive understanding of this research.

This research design postulated logical consistency through establishing a high level of clarity for the conceptual framework and applied methodology in order to follow principles of formal logic. This allowed for a grounding of subjective meaning within research interpretations. Adequacy to the findings was achieved through determining consistency between constructs and typification of the common-sense experience. Adequacy within this study highlights the use of cross data to bridge validity, ensuring the presented information can be understood and recognizable by individuals living with AGS. Furthermore, participant's reflections and words work to strengthen the face validity and credibility of this research.

This research sought to embed data through formulating relationships across datasets to further support and validate findings. This research nested quantitative survey data within qualitative components (i.e., body mapping, the individual interview, and the community conversation) to validate expressions of qualitative findings. This relationship between datasets was integrated through elaboration and expansion of one another, allowing all participant data to contribute to the established AGS narrative, generating complementary insights and producing a more comprehensive understanding of the lived experience. The artistic practice presented as both a method of inquiry and content while deepening the level of participant reflections and disclosures and promoting empathy/empathetic engagement within the research experience.

The art intervention of body mapping originated in South Africa, and while the use in this study resulted in increased symbolism and language for representation of participant experiences, further investigation into the subcultural and cross-cultural strengths and limitations of body maps is still needed. The subjective experience expressed through participant body maps was

135

verbally explained by the creators, allowing them to be primary interpreters in examining their experiences. Art therapists who were uninvolved from this research study worked to code the artwork, adding a level of validity to the results. While there is confidence in the expression of lived truth and overlapping themes presented across the datasets, there is low confidence in the representation of certain groups within the population such as adolescents and those in more underprivileged positions who may have been bypassed by the medical field and/or individuals who are isolated from support communities. Body mapping displayed strength and validity in revealing narratives of individuals with chronic illness (AGS). Further inquiry will be important to consider and address in extending this methodology across more groups/identities of interest (i.e., nationality, ethnicity, gender and sexual/affectional identities, age, socioeconomic status, health status, etc.).

## **Implications for Future Research**

By examining the literature review and results of this study, there are clear benefits in art making and discussions of experience with this population. Within this population, many feel invisible and isolated in their struggles, and many feel lost in the cycle of painful symptoms without validation of a diagnosis. Considering future research with group orientation may allow participants to further process and support one another in their shared experiences. Considering a a longer period of time to complete the study and gather participants may increase possibilities for more individuals to benefit from inclusion in the study while also providing increased validity for interventions and results. On the basis of the narratives discussed in this thesis, there are key components which remain unspoken for such as a more diverse population sample (including perspectives of adolescents, parents of children with AGS, men with AGS, lower income families, medical/clinical specialist interactions, experiences of individuals within the support system and community, and spouses of individuals with AGS).

Expanding the meaning of the narrative may also benefit from future research in the following areas:

- How AGS disrupts family systems and impacts interpersonal relationships (e.g., reasons why partners may struggle with coping and/or believing in the experience of individuals with AGS).
- The experience of comorbid conditions with AGS and the interplay of symptoms (e.g., mast cell activation, Lyme, type-1 diabetes).
- The benefits of THC on inflammation, allergic responses, and psychological coping.
- Negative effects of Benadryl and risk for serotonin syndrome.
- How fear or the intricacy of fear is experienced, and the potential of the fight/flight/freeze response affects individuals with chronic illness in their abilities to reflect critically and make management decisions (e.g., self-advocacy).
- Reasoning for why significantly more females than males seem to engage in social media support groups.
- Elaboration and focus on identity shifts associated with AGS.
- A greater focus on the interplay of grief within AGS and chronic illness.
- How self-harm emerges within illness.
- Medically induced eating disorders.
- Understanding how acceptance without defense can be achieved within AGS (i.e., the different types of acceptance, if this ability shifts alongside a sense of control over one's

environment/if feeling a sense of normality is most frequently achieved within the safety of one's home).

- How individuals accept and achieve healthy levels of defense in order to remove added layers of stress.
- How to best support individuals during the time of an AGS reaction.
- Unpacking the different meanings and connections individuals with AGS draw from their range of symptoms and how there may be a numbing of senses to reach somatic acceptance (e.g., if one becomes numb to their sense of smell in public environments due to past trauma and experiences of fume reactions).
- Emotional coping with cultural separation but no displacement (what occurs for individuals who are forced to grieve their culture due to health restrictions while still remaining in close proximity to their communities) and how this may increase feelings and experiences of isolation.
- Establishing a valid and consistent framework for body mapping, rooted in ACT theory.
- How vagus nerve engagement through art interventions can promote healing with complex trauma.
- The psychological benefits of collaborative filmmaking for bypassed populations and advocacy purposes.
- Understanding strengths of mixed-methods research to discover perception of complex trauma and the intricacies of participants' lived experiences.
- Researchers with autism and how this affects/influences the production and evolution of research/projects.
- Psychological benefits of film as a medium for art and research interventions.

# **Ethical Praxis**

Ethical praxis can be defined as a form of critical thinking where the progression of cognitive elements and physical actions are reflected upon through consideration of their possible impacts prior to implementation. In practice, this begins with the researcher's ethical considerations and the pertinent need to identify cultural sensitivity, fit, and efficacy of study protocols. Necessary IRB approvals, informed consent (explaining the risks and benefits of participation, the voluntary nature of participation, confidentiality, and participants' right to ask questions; permissions rights; relational ethics (what kinds of relationships the researcher intends to develop with participants in qualitative research and how this will be done, inclusion of appropriate expectations), dealing with participants at the completion of data collection (debriefings, making findings and resources available); and the representation and dissemination of findings are all critical elements in promoting positive social change.

In this study, the dictatorship of research questions held the primacy for inquiry. More specifically, the researcher prioritized and embodied the goal of establishing a narrative for individuals living with AGS while simultaneously collecting and analyzing data with respect to ethical responsibilities and needs of participants. Each element of research was employed with embodied theory of art and the art-science continuum in order to maintain the value of underrepresented groups. This research recognized and addressed risks and limitations within researcher and participant roles. As a result, safety plans were implemented to prioritize accessible and strength-based interactions with participants and within the representation of research findings. Dynamic or ongoing consent was observed to combat anonymity concerns, allowing participants to be repetitively invited to disclose what felt comfortable to them with the

ability to withdraw consent or disclosures at any time (note: no participants chose to withdraw consent).

#### Reflexivity

Reflexivity is important as it promotes the researcher to acknowledge their relationship between motivations, value judgements, and potential biases (Davis 2020; Dodgson 2019). Given the contextual nature of qualitative research, this researcher was required to consider their role within the AGS community and personally held standpoints in relation to legitimacy and generation of knowledge and value judgements within study and participant interactions. This study was not intended to take on the structure of participatory action research, yet the unfolding of interactions allowed participants to lead discussions in order to promote protection and prioritization of the subjective perspective. Through documentation, this researcher recognized their personal desire to acknowledge and validated expressed pain and hardship, experiencing themes of disappointment where they felt they were restricted in their role from the ability to provide information to participants which was outside of their scope of expertise.

This researcher documented their relationship to the population through journaling and art making, experiencing moments of heavy emotion in processing and reliving the trauma of supporting her best friend in understanding AGS alongside countless life-threatening episodes which occurred throughout their years of friendship and while working on this project. The realization and emotion associated with the fear of losing a loved one to this illness unconsciously became a driving motivation for conducting this research project. The desire to aid and provide thorough information for this population was also driven by the researcher's background in growing up with a chronic illness and connecting how their engagement with a community, available resources, and advocacy work benefited her management of type-1 diabetes.

The implementation of ACT theory was incorporated for the benefit of participants and aided the researcher's understanding of self. Through the course of this project, this researcher unveiled a personal defense of turning towards logical understanding in order to avoid sitting/confronting emotion. Ultimately, this research project forced a release of this emotion through a fusion of cognitive thought with somatic memories of AGS trauma held within the limbic system, allowing the researcher to achieve acceptance and healing within their experience of supporting and witnessing a loved one navigate and confront challenges with AGS. The transparency of the researcher's relationship to AGS provided a sense of comfort for participants and encouraged a mirroring of authenticity and transparency in disclosing personal experiences. Welcoming periods of un-filmed conversion allowed participants to relax into conversation while the researcher worked to minimize the intrusion of filming equipment by only using what was deemed essential for documenting the experience. The production of the film functions as a tool for recognizing the researcher's personal relationship with AGS while directly benefiting the population.

## Film

The film is a direct example of committed action and the strengths of art creation (body mapping and the film itself as an art medium) within this research. Throughout the research process, this researcher has maintained a reflexive approach in considering their positioning in relation to the research. The pragmatic approach to the research process worked to minimize distress while promoting healing, connection, and purpose for participants. The combination of personal human connection with ACT components (The Dilemma of Human Suffering, Present-

141

Moment Awareness, Dimensions of Self, Defusion, Acceptance, Values, Committed Action) influenced study structure and was found to be successful in revealing a narrative of lived experience for individuals with AGS. The emergence of overlapping themes served as a skeleton for the resulting film. Participant disclosures confirmed a sense of purpose and positive inclusion for individuals with AGS with additional benefits from group participation, art making, and collaborative advocacy film production. The film displays these results in an accessible way, optimizing benefits for the population of concern, while serving as a tool for the researcher's unique healing process.

The contributions of participants as agents and collaborators in this research process can not be overlooked. By making the film accessible on YouTube, resources become more accessible and informative for the AGS population as viewers can connect directly to numerous and beneficial AGS related links/sources within the description section of the video. While serving as an educational and advocacy tool, the film functions to recognize and display relationships with participants, allowing viewers and readers to connect and experience the researcher's role, intentions, and relationship to the work and population. This project and film welcome the observations and implications of ACT theory to optimize research benefits for the AGS population with the goal of supporting and recognizing individuals who may feel lost in navigating this illness.

#### Conclusion

This research explored narratives of individuals living with AGS. Psychological context for individuals navigating and living with this chronic illness was established using quantitative survey data and qualitative in-person body mapping, an individual interview, and a community conversation. This methodological discussion has shown how ACT theory can be combined with mixed methods and arts-based research to promote psychological flexibility and healing for participants and the researcher through the understanding of revealed themes (limbic system/physical alteration, fear, grief, confusion, omission, punishment, perseverance, and external support). Through the collaborative data gathering process in survey data collection, body mapping, and exchanged dialogue, validity was maintained within interpretations. Body mapping promoted a deepened reflection for participants in addition to strengthened psychological flexibility through displayed regulation within creative and symbolic art interactions. Each aspect of this research strengthened the criteria of context and rigor through the triangulation of oral, visual, and written data, thereby also augmenting the validity. Furthermore, the collaborative processes and community driven aspects to this research promoted connection and empowerment through participant engagements, providing transparency and trustworthiness of findings. The merging of body mapping with ACT provides qualitative research with an innovative and unique way of understanding the experience of chronic illness, rendering potential for deepened reflections. By prioritizing benefits and accessibility of research for participants and their concerned populations, the act of researching becomes valuable for numerous educational and advocacy purposes while encouraging positive possibilities for advancement of the social research methodology field.

# References

- American Art Therapy Association. (n.d.). *About art therapy*. American Art Therapy Association Retrieved October 13, 2022, from https://arttherapy.org/about-art-therapy/
- American Art Therapy Association. (2017). *DefinitionofProfession* [PDF]. American Art Art Therapy Association. Retrieved October 1, 2022, from

https://www.arttherapy.org/upload/2017 DefinitionofProfession.pdf

- American Psychological Association. (n.d.). *Apa Dictionary of Psychology*. American Psychological Association. Retrieved October 1, 2022, from https://dictionary.apa.org/trauma
- Angelina, A., Pérez-Diego, M., López-Abente, J., & Palomares, O. (2020). The role of cannabinoids in allergic diseases: Collegium Internationale Allergologicum (CIA) update 2020. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology*, *181*(8), 565–584. https://doi.org/10.1159/000508989
- Angiolillo, A., Gandaglia, A., Arcaro, A., Carpi, A., Gentile, F., Naso, F., & Di Costanzo, A.
  (2021). Altered blood levels of anti-gal antibodies in alzheimer's disease: A new clue to pathogenesis? *Life*, *11*(6), 538. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/life11060538</u>
- Aydin, Y., & Aydin, G. (2021). Mindfulness and psychological flexibility: The mediating role of values. Hacettepe University Journal of Education, 36(4), 968-976. https://doi.org/10.16986/huje.2020063171
- Bach, P. A., & Moran, D. J. (2008). Act in practice: Case conceptualization in Acceptance & Commitment therapy. New Harbinger Publications.
- Backos, A. (2022). Act art therapy: Creative approaches to acceptance and commitment therapy. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Bari, A., Niu, T., Langevin, J.-P., & Fried, I. (2014). Limbic neuromodulation. *Neurosurgery Clinics of North America*, 25(1), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nec.2013.08.004

Barrett, K., O'Connor, M., & McHugh, L. (2019). A systematic review of values-based

- psychometric tools within acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). *The Psychological Record*, 69(4), 457–485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40732-019-00352-7</u>
- Becker, L. C., Bergfeld, W. F., Belsito, D. V., Hill, R. A., Klaassen, C. D., Liebler, D. C., Marks, J. G., Shank, R. C., Slaga, T. J., Snyder, P. W., Gill, L. J., & Heldreth, B. (2019). Safety assessment of glycerin as used in cosmetics. *International Journal of Toxicology*, 38(3\_suppl). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1091581819883820</u>
- Beckers, T., Hermans, D., Lange, I., Luyten, L., Scheveneels, S., & Vervliet, B. (2023).
   Understanding clinical fear and anxiety through the lens of human fear conditioning.
   *Nature Reviews Psychology*, 2(4), 233–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44159-023-00156-1</u>
- Binder, A., Commins, S., Altrich, M., Wachs, T., Biggerstaff, B., Beard, C., Petersen, L., Kersh, G., Armstrong, P. (2021). Diagnostic testing for galactose-alpha-1, 3-galactose, United States, 2010 to 2018. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*, 124(4), 441-416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2020.12.019
- Boydell, K. M., Bennett, J., Dew, A., Lappin, J., Lenette, C., Ussher, J., Vaughan, P., & Wells,
  R. (2020). Women and stigma: A protocol for understanding intersections of experience through body mapping. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(15), 5432. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17155432</u>
- Bozkurt, T. E. (2019). Endocannabinoid system in the airways. *Molecules*, *24*(24), 4626. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24244626</u>

Burdock, G. A. (2007). Safety Assessment of Castoreum extract as a food ingredient. International Journal of Toxicology, 26(1), 51–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10915810601120145

- Brett-MacLean, P. (2009). Body mapping: Embodying the self living with HIV/AIDS. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *180*(7), 740–741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.090357</u>
- Bülow, P. H. (2004). Sharing experiences of contested illness by storytelling. *Discourse & Society*, 15(1), 33–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0957926504038943</u>
- Byrd, D. R., & McKinney, K. J. (2012). Individual, interpersonal, and institutional level factors associated with the mental health of college students. Journal of American College Health, 60(3), 185–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2011.584334</u>
- Carolan, R. & Hill, A. (2018). Art Therapy and Neuropsychology. In R. Carolan & A. Backos (eds), *Emerging Perspectives in Art Therapy: Trends, Movements and Developments* (pp.33-47). London: Routledge.
- Castañer, X., & Oliveira, N. (2020). Collaboration, coordination, and cooperation among organizations: Establishing the distinctive meanings of these terms through a systematic literature review. *Journal of Management*, *46*(6), 965–1001.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320901565
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, October 18). *Products that may contain alpha-gal*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved September 28, 2022, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/ticks/alpha-gal/products.html</u>
- Chapman, L. (2014). Neurobiologically Informed Trauma Therapy with Children and Adolescents: Understanding Mechanisms of Change. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Company.

- Chmelař, J., Kotál, J., Kopecký, J., Pedra, J. H. F., & Kotsyfakis, M. (2016). All for one and one for all on the tick–host battlefield. *Trends in Parasitology*, *32*(5), 368–377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004</u>
- Chung, C. H., Mirakhur, B., Chan, E., Le, Q. T., Berlin, J., Morse, M., Murphy, B. A., Satinover, S. M., Hosen, J., Mauro, D., Slebos, R. J., Zhou, Q., Gold, D., Hatley, T., Hicklin, D. J., & Platts-Mills, T. A. (2008). Cetuximab-induced anaphylaxis and IgE specific for galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose. *The New England journal of medicine*, 358(11), 1109–1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa074943</u>
- CirqueLodge. (2022, July 5). *Benadryl withdrawal symptoms*. Cirque Lodge. Retrieved September 29, 2022, from <u>https://www.cirquelodge.com/blog/benadryl-withdrawal-symptoms/</u>
- Clark, S. M., Sand, J., Francis, T. C., Nagaraju, A., Michael, K. C., Keegan, A. D., Kusnecov,
  A., Gould, T. D., & Tonelli, L. H. (2014). Immune status influences fear and anxiety
  responses in mice after acute stress exposure. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 38, 192–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2014.02.001
- Clarke, V. & Braun, V. (2013) Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. The Psychologist, 26(2), 120-123 <a href="https://www.thematicanalysis.net/">https://www.thematicanalysis.net/</a>
- Cloitre, M. (2020). ICD-11 complex post-traumatic stress disorder: Simplifying diagnosis in trauma populations. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 216(3), 129–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.43</u>

- Cohen, S., & Williamson, G. (1988). Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United
  States. In S. Spacapan & S. Oskamp (Eds.), The Social Psychology of Health (pp. 31–
  67). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404</u>
- Collings, S., Dew, A., & Dowse, L. (2017). Unpacking the complexity of planning with persons with cognitive disability and complex support needs. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 31(1), 142–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12381</u>
- Corroon, J., & Phillips, J. A. (2018). A cross-sectional study of cannabidiol users. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, *3*(1), 152–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/can.2018.0006</u>
- Crowley, C., & Munk, D. (2017). An examination of the impact of a college level meditation course on college student well being. College Student Journal, 51(1), 91–98.Cruz, D., Lichten, M., Berg, K., & George, P. (2022). Developmental trauma: Conceptual framework, Associated Risks and comorbidities, and evaluation and treatment. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.800687</u>
- Davis, E. A., Fitzgerald, J., Jacobs, S, & Marchand, J. (2023). *Emdr and creative arts therapies*.Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Dawson, N., Carvalho, W. D., Bezerra, J. S., Todeschini, F., Tabarelli, M., & Mustin, K. (2021). Protected areas and the neglected contribution of indigenous peoples and local communities: Struggles for environmental justice in the Caatinga Dry Forest. *People and Nature*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10288</u>

- De Filippis, D., D'Amico, A., & Iuvone, T. (2008). Cannabinomimetic control of mast cell mediator release: New Perspective in chronic inflammation. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 20(s1), 20–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01674.x</u>
- de Jager, A., Tewson, A., Ludlow, B., & Boydell, K. (2016). Embodied Ways of Storying the Self: A Systematic Review of Body-Mapping. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 17(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-17.2.2526</u>
- Dey, S., & Nagababu, B. H. (2022). Applications of food color and bio-preservatives in the food and its effect on the human health. *Food Chemistry Advances*, 1, 100019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.focha.2022.100019
- Dindo, L., Van Liew, J. R., & Arch, J. J. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy: A transdiagnostic behavioral intervention for mental health and medical conditions. *Neurotherapeutics*, 14(3), 546–553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-017-0521-3</u>
- Dahlgren, F. S., Paddock, C. D., Springer, Y. P., Eisen, R. J., & Behravesh, C. B. (2016).
  Expanding Range of Amblyomma americanum and Simultaneous Changes in the
  Epidemiology of Spotted Fever Group Rickettsiosis in the United States. *The American Journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 94(1), 35–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.15-0580</u>
- Daripa B, Lucchese S. Novel case presentation of abulia after Lone Star tick bite as evidenced by raised titers of alpha-gal specific IgM immunoglobulin and a possibility of alpha-gal driven hypothalamic dysfunction as the pathomechanism. *Cureus*. 2022;14(4):e24551. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.24551</u>

- Epel, E. S., Crosswell, A. D., Mayer, S. E., Prather, A. A., Slavich, G. M., Puterman, E., & Mendes, W. B. (2018). More than a feeling: A unified view of stress measurement for population science. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 49, 146–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.03.001
- Eva, A. L., & Thayer, N. M. (2017). Learning to BREATHE: A pilot study of a mindfulness based intervention to support marginalized youth. *Journal of Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine*, 22(4), 580–591.
- Farzam, K., Sabir, S., O'Rourke M., C. (n.d.). Antihistamines. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved September 29, 2022, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30844215/
- Fernández-Alcántara, M., Kokou-Kpolou, C. K., Cruz-Quintana, F., & Pérez-Marfil, M. N. (2021). Editorial: New perspectives in bereavement and loss: Complicated and disenfranchised grief along the life cycle. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.691464</u>
- Fischer, J., Hebsaker, J., Caponetto, P., Platts-Mills, T. A. E., Biedermann, T. (2014). Galactose-Alpha-1,3-Galactose Sensitization is a Prerequisite for Pork-Kidney Allergy and Cofactor-Related Mammalian Meat Anaphylaxis. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 134 (3), 755– 759.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.051
- Fink, K., Schlicker, E., Neise, A., & Göthert, M. (1990). Involvement of presynaptic H3 receptors in the inhibitory effect of histamine on serotonin release in the Rat Brain Cortex. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 342(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00169038</u>

Freeman, P. L. (2021, November 19). Psychological impacts of living with AGS, by dr. Paige Freeman. Two Alpha Gals. Retrieved October 1, 2022, from <u>https://www.twoalphagals.com/blog/psychological-</u> impacts#:~:text=Living%20with%20AGS%20is%20enormously,shortness%20of%20bre ath%2C%20and%20anaphylaxis

Galante, J., Friedrich, C., Dawson, A. F., Modrego-Alarcón, M., Gebbing, P., Delgado-Suárez,
I., ... Jones, P. B. (2021). Mindfulness-based programmes for mental health promotion in adults in nonclinical settings: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLOS Medicine, 18(1), e1003481.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003481

Gastaldo, D., Rivas-Quarneti, N., & Magalhaes, L. (2018). Body-Map Storytelling as a Health Research Methodology: Blurred Lines Creating Clear Pictures. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*,

19(2).<u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.2858</u>

- Giudice, E. D., Rinaldi, L., Passarotto, M., Facchinetti, F., D'Arrigo, A., Guiotto, A., Carbonare, M. D., Battistin, L., & Leon, A. (2007). Cannabidiol, unlike synthetic cannabinoids, triggers activation of RBL-2H3 Mast Cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *81*(6), 1512–1522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1206738</u>
- Goldin, P. R., Moodie, C. A., & Gross, J. J. (2019). Acceptance versus reappraisal: Behavioral, autonomic, and neural effects. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 19*(4), 927–944. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-019-00690-7</u>
- Gonzalez-Quintela, A., Dam Laursen, A. S., Vidal, C., Skaaby, T., Gude, F., & Linneberg, A. (2014). IGE antibodies to alpha-gal in the general adult population: Relationship with

tick bites, atopy, and Cat Ownership. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 44(8), 1061–1068. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cea.12326</u>

- Graedon, J. (2021, January 12). Bad mix? diphenhydramine benadryl and SSRI antidepressants. The People's Pharmacy. Retrieved October 14, 2022, from <u>Bad Mix?</u> <u>Diphenhydramine – Benadryl and SSRI Antidepressants | The People's Pharmacy</u> (peoplespharmacy.com)
- Gray, S. L., Anderson, M. L., Dublin, S., Hanlon, J. T., Hubbard, R., Walker, R., Yu, O., Crane,
  P. K., & Larson, E. B. (2015). Cumulative use of strong anticholinergics and incident dementia. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 175(3), 401.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.7663

- Guatda, A. (2023). *What are eating disorders?* Psychiatry.org What are Eating Disorders? Retrieved February 2023, from <u>https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/eating-disorders/what-are-eating-disorders</u>
- Guzman Torres, E., Krause-Utz, A., & Sack, M. (2023). Predictors of complex PTSD: The role of Trauma Characteristics, Dissociation, and Comorbid Psychopathology. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation*, 10(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40479-022-00208-7</u>
- Gross, J. J. (1998). Antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation: Divergent consequences for experience, expression, and physiology. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(1), 224–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.224</u>
- Haiblum-Itskovitch, S., Czamanski-Cohen, J., & Galili, G. (2018). Emotional response and changes in heart rate variability following art-making with three different art materials. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00968

- Hannoodee, S., & Nasuruddin, D. N. (2021). Acute Inflammatory Response. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Hansen, M., O'Brien, K., Meckler, G., Chang, A. M., & Guise, J.-M. (2016). Understanding the value of mixed methods research: The Children's Safety Initiative-Emergency Medical Services. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 33(7), 489–494.

https://doi.org/10.1136/emermed-2015-205277

- Hayes, S. (n.d.). *Act* | *association for contextual behavioral science*. Retrieved October 9, 2022, from <u>https://contextualscience.org/act</u>
- Hayes, S. C., Levin, M. E., Plumb-Vilardaga, J., Villatte, J. L., & Pistorello, J. (2013).
  Acceptance and commitment therapy and contextual behavioral science: Examining the progress of a distinctive model of behavioral and cognitive therapy. *Behavior Therapy*, 44(2), 180–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2009.08.002</u>
- Hayes, S. C., & Lillis, J. (2012). *Acceptance and commitment therapy*. American Psychological Association.
- Hayes, S.C., Merwin, R.M., McHugh, L., Sandoz, E.K., et al. (2021). Report of the ACBS Task Force on the strategies and tactics of contextual behavioral science research. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 20, 172-183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2021.03.007
- Hayes, S. C., Pistorello, J., & Levin, M. E. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a unified model of behavior change. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 40(7), 976–1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000012460836</u>
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (2004). *Acceptance and commitment therapy: An experiential approach to behavior change*. Guilford.

- Hayes, S. C., Villatte, M., Levin, M., & Hildebrandt, M. (2011). Open, aware, and active: Contextual approaches as an emerging trend in the behavioral and cognitive therapies. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 7(1), 141–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032210-104449</u>
- Hinz, L. (2020). *Expressive Therapies Continuum: A Framework for Using Art Therapy* (2nd ed.). London: Routledge.
- Hunter, P. (2012). The inflammation theory of disease. *EMBO Reports*, *13*(11), 968–970. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2012.142
- Hersey, M., Reneaux, M., Berger, S. N., Mena, S., Buchanan, A. M., Ou, Y., Tavakoli, N., Reagan, L. P., Clopath, C., & Hashemi, P. (2022). A tale of two transmitters: Serotonin and histamine as in vivo biomarkers of chronic stress in mice. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-022-02508-9
- Huang, F., Wang, H., Wang, Z., Zhang, J., Du, W., Su, C., Jia, X., Ouyang, Y., Wang, Y., Li, L., Jiang, H., & Zhang, B. (2020). Psychometric properties of the perceived stress scale in a community sample of Chinese. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02520-4</u>
- Jensen, T. K., Braathu, N., Birkeland, M. S., Ormhaug, S. M., & Skar, A.-M. S. (2022). Complex PTSD and treatment outcomes in TF-CBT for youth: A Naturalistic study. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 13(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008066.2022.2114630</u>
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2013). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness (Revised, Updated Edition). New York, NY: Bantam. Karatzias, T., Cloitre, M., Maercker, A., Kazlauskas, E., Shevlin, M., Hyland, P., Bisson, J. I., Roberts, N. P., & Brewin, C. R. (2017). PTSD and Complex PTSD: ICD-11 updates on

concept and measurement in the UK, USA, Germany and Lithuania. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 8(sup7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1418103</u>

Kearney, B. E., & Lanius, R. A. (2022). The brain-body disconnect: A somatic sensory basis for trauma-related disorders. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.1015749

- Kendzerska, T., Zhu, D. T., Gershon, A. S., Edwards, J. D., Peixoto, C., Robillard, R., & Kendall, C. E. (2021). The effects of the health system response to the COVID-19 pandemic on Chronic Disease Management: A narrative review. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy, Volume 14*, 575–584. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/rmhp.s293471</u>
- Khan, A. M., Dar, S., Ahmed, R., Bachu, R., Adnan, M., & Kotapati, V. P. (2018). Cognitive behavioral therapy versus eye movement desensitization and reprocessing in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Cureus*. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.3250</u>
- Khan, S., Saud, S., Khan, I., Asif, M., Ismail, O., Salam, A., Yang, T. J., & Norville, K. J. (2018). Serotonin syndrome presenting with concomitant tramadol and diphenhydramine use: A case report of an unlikely side-effect. *Cureus*. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.2421</u>
- Klein, M., & Milner, R. J. (2019). The use of body-mapping in interpretative phenomenological analyses: A methodological discussion. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 22(5), 533–543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1593378</u>
- Kincheloe, Joe L. (2001). Describing the bricolage: Conceptualizing a new rigor in qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 7(6), 679-692.

- Koenen, K. C., & Galea, S. (2015). Post-traumatic stress disorder and chronic disease: Open questions and Future Directions. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 50(4), 511–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-015-1035-0</u>
- Kuluski, K., Ho, J. W., Hans, P. K., & Nelson, M. L. A. (2017). Community care for people with complex care needs: Bridging the gap between Health and Social Care. *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 17(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.2944</u>
- Lancaster, C., Teeters, J., Gros, D., & Back, S. (2016). Posttraumatic stress disorder: Overview of evidence-based assessment and treatment. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 5(11), 105. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm5110105</u>
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York, NY: Springer.Lee, E.-H. (2012). Review of the psychometric evidence of the perceived stress scale. *Asian Nursing Research*, 6(4), 121–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2012.08.004</u>
- Leavy, P. (2023). Research design: Quantitative, qualitative, mixed methods, arts-based, and community-based participatory research approaches. The Guilford Press.Lepage, C., Muehlmann, M., Tripodis, Y., Hufschmidt, J., Stamm, J., Green, K., Wrobel, P., Schultz, V., Weir, I., Alosco, M. L., Baugh, C. M., Fritts, N. G., Martin, B. M., Chaisson, C., Coleman, M. J., Lin, A. P., Pasternak, O., Makris, N., Stern, R. A., ... Koerte, I. K. (2018). Limbic system structure volumes and associated neurocognitive functioning in former NFL players. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, *13*(3), 725–734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-018-9895-z
- Levin M, Apostolovic D, Biedermann T, et al. Galactose α-1,3-galactose phenotypes: lessons from various patient populations. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*. 2019;122(6):598–602. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2019.03.021

Lenette, C. (2022). Cultural Safety in Participatory Arts-Based Research: How Can We Do Better? *Participatory Action Research*, 60–78.

https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780197512456.003.0004

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2013). The constructivist credo (p. 89). Left Coast Press, Inc.

- Linehan, M. M., Comtois, K. A., Murray, A. M., Brown, M. Z., Gallop, R. J., Heard, H. L., Korslund, K. E., Tutek, D. A., Reynolds, S. K., & Lindenboim, N. (2006). Two-year randomized controlled trial and follow-up of dialectical behavior therapy vs therapy by experts for suicidal behaviors and borderline personality disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 63(7), 757. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.63.7.757
- Lusebrink, V.B. & Heinz, L.D. (2016). The Expressive Therapies Continuum as a Framework in the Treatment of Trauma In J. King (ed.), *Art Therapy, Trauma and Neuroscience: Theoretical and Practical Perspectives* (pp.42-66). London: Routledge.
- Magee, C. A., Heaven, P. C., & Miller, L. M. (2013). Personality change predicts self-reported mental and Physical Health. *Journal of Personality*, 81(3), 324–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00802.x</u>
- Mahlo, L., & Windsor, T. D. (2021). State mindfulness and affective well-being in the daily lives of middle-aged and older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 36(5), 642–659. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000596
- Makhubela, M. (2020). Assessing psychological stress in South African university students:
   Measurement validity of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-10) in diverse populations.
   *Current Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-00784-3

- Mariotti, A. (2015). The effects of chronic stress on Health: New Insights Into the molecular mechanisms of brain–body communication. *Future Science OA*, 1(3). https://doi.org/10.4155/fso.15.21
- Martín-Fontecha, M., Eiwegger, T., Jartti, T., Rueda-Zubiaurre, A., Tiringer, K., Stepanow, J.,
  Puhakka, T., Rückert, B., Ortega-Gutiérrez, S., López-Rodríguez, M. L., Akdis, M.,
  Akdis, C. A., & Palomares, O. (2014). The expression of cannabinoid receptor 1 is
  significantly increased in atopic patients. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *133*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.12.1032</u>
- Maydych, V. (2019). The interplay between stress, inflammation, and emotional attention: Relevance for depression. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *13*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00384</u>
- Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. (2021, October 8). *Alpha-gal syndrome*. Mayo Clinic. Retrieved September 28, 2022, from
- https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/alpha-gal-syndrome/symptoms-causes/syc-

20428608#:~:text=Researchers%20now%20believe%20that%20some,is%20the%20key %20to%20prevention

- Mayor, E. (2015). Gender roles and traits in stress and health. Frontiers in Psychology, 6, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00779
- McHugh K, Repanshek Z. Anaphylaxis: Emergency Department Treatment. *Emerg Med Clin North Am.* 2022;40(1):19–32. doi: 10.1016/j.emc.2021.08.004
- Miller, A. H., Haroon, E., & Felger, J. C. (2016). Therapeutic implications of brain–immune interactions: Treatment in translation. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 42(1), 334– 359.<u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2016.167</u>

- Moens, M., Jansen, J., De Smedt, A., Roulaud, M., Billot, M., Laton, J., Rigoard, P., &
  Goudman, L. (2022). Acceptance and commitment therapy to increase resilience in
  Chronic pain patients: A clinical guideline. *Medicina*, 58(4), 499.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina58040499">https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina58040499</a>
- Molaei, G., Little, E. A. H., Williams, S. C., & Stafford, K. C. (2019). Bracing for the worst range expansion of the Lone Star Tick in the Northeastern United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 381(23), 2189–2192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1911661</u>
- Morris, J. E., & Paris, L. F. (2021). Rethinking Arts-Based Research Methods in education:
  Enhanced participant engagement processes to increase research credibility and
  knowledge translation. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 45(1),
  99–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2021.1926971</u>
- Mulkey, S. B., & du Plessis, A. J. (2018). Autonomic Nervous System Development and its impact on neuropsychiatric outcome. *Pediatric Research*, 85(2), 120–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-018-0155-0</u>
- Office of HIV/AIDS and Infectious Disease Policy. (2022, April 13). *Alpha-Gal Syndrome Subcommittee Report to the TBDWG*. HHS.gov. Retrieved September 28, 2022, from <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ash/advisory-committees/tickbornedisease/reports/alpha-gal-</u> <u>subcomm-2020/index.html</u>
- Mozumder, M. K. (2017). Validation of Bengali perceived stress scale among LGBT population. BMC Psychiatry, 17(1), 314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1482-0</u>
- National Institute of Mental Health. (n.d.). *5 things you should know about stress* [PDF]. National Institute of Mental Health. NIH Publication No. 19-MH-8109. Retrieved October 7, 2022, from

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/sites/default/files/documents/health/publications/stress/19-mh-8109-5-things-stress.pdf

Neogowetti, N. E. (2020). Taking (Animal-Based) Meat and Ethics off the Table: Food Labeling and the Role of Consumers as Agents of Food Systems Change. Oregon Law Review. University of Oregon.

https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1794/25973/11-

Negowetti\_FNL.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Nichols, B. (2001). *Introduction to documentary*. Indiana University Press. http://personal.psu.edu/kns5319/ARCH%20130/Bill%20Nichols%20-%20%20Introduction%20to%20documentary.pdf
- O'Neil, B. H., Allen, R., Spigel, D. R., Stinchcombe, T. E., Moore, D. T., Berlin, J. D., & Goldberg, R. M. (2007). High incidence of cetuximab-related infusion reactions in Tennessee and North Carolina and the association with atopic history. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 25(24), 3644–3648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.11.7812</u>
- Orchard, T. (2017). Remembering the body: Ethical issues in body mapping research. Springer, Springer Briefs in Anthropology. Doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-49861-4 <u>https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-49861-4?noAccess=true</u>
- Orchard, T., Smith, T., Michelow, W., Salters, K., & Hogg, B., (2014). Imagining adherence: Body mapping research with HIV-positive men and women in Canada. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses, 30(4), 337-338.

- Ortner, C. N., Ste Marie, M., & Corno, D. (2016). Cognitive costs of reappraisal depend on both emotional stimulus intensity and individual differences in habitual reappraisal. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167253</u>
- Oyalowo, B., Akinpelu, D., & Nubi, T. (2021). Reshaping housing pedagogy and public policy through documentaries in Lagos, Nigeria. *International Journal of Housing Policy*, 22(3), 395–413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19491247.2020.1851634</u>
- Owens, M. M., Albaugh, M. D., Allgaier, N., Yuan, D., Robert, G., Cupertino, R. B., Spechler, P. A., Juliano, A., Hahn, S., Banaschewski, T., Bokde, A. L., Desrivières, S., Flor, H., Grigis, A., Gowland, P., Heinz, A., Brühl, R., Martinot, J.-L., Martinot, M.-L. P., ...
  Schumann, G. (2022). Bayesian causal network modeling suggests adolescent cannabis use accelerates prefrontal cortical thinning. *Translational Psychiatry*, *12*(1), 188. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-022-01956-4
- Pahwa, R., Jialal, I., & Goyal, A. (2022). *Chronic inflammation statpearls NCBI bookshelf*. Retrieved October 1, 2022, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK493173/
- Phillips, A. C. (2013). Perceived stress. *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine*, 1453–1454. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9\_479
- PETA. (2015). Are animal ingredients included in white sugar? PETA. (2015, October 14). Retrieved October 14, 2022, from <u>https://www.peta.org/about-peta/faq/are-animal-ingredients-included-in-white-sugar/#:~:text=Bone%20char%E2%80%94often%20referred%20to,in%20other%20types</u>

%20of%20sugar

- Petrilli, K., Ofori, S., Hines, L., Taylor, G., Adams, S., & Freeman, T. P. (2022). Association of Cannabis Potency with mental ill health and addiction: A systematic review. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 9(9), 736–750. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(22)00161-4</u>
- Posival, K. (2016). Never bet against occam: Mast cell activation disease and the modern epidemics of chronic illness and medical complexity. Sisters Media, LLC. Rauvola, R. S., Vega, D. M., & Lavigne, K. N. (2019). Compassion Fatigue, secondary traumatic stress, and Vicarious Traumatization: A qualitative review and research agenda. *Occupational Health Science*, *3*(3), 297–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41542-019-00045-1</u>
- Regnault, A., Willgoss, T., & Barbic, S. (2018). Towards the use of mixed methods inquiry as best practice in Health Outcomes Research. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 2(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-018-0043-8</u>
- Rogers, D., & Herbert, M. (2019). Podcasting and urban planning. *Planning Theory & Practice*, 20(2), 298–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14649357.2019.1595487</u>
- Samaranayake, S., Abdalla, A., Robke, R., Nijhout, H. F., Reed, M. C., Best, J., & Hashemi, P. (2016). A voltammetric and mathematical analysis of histaminergic modulation of serotonin in the mouse hypothalamus. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *138*(3), 374–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13659
- Schlicker, E., Glaser, T., Lümmen, G., Neise, A., & Göthert, M. (1991). Serotonin and histamine receptor-mediated inhibition of serotonin and noradrenaline release in rat brain cortex under nimodipine treatment. *Neurochemistry International*, 19(4), 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-0186(91)90061-h

- Schultchen, D., Messner, M., Karabatsiakis, A., Schillings, C., & Pollatos, O. (2019). Effects of an 8-week body scan intervention on individually perceived psychological stress and related steroid hormones in hair. Mindfulness, 10(12), 2532–2543.
- Schrader, C., & Ross, A. (2021). A Review of PTSD and Current Treatment Strategies. *Missouri* medicine, 118(6), 546–551.

Schwartz, A. R., Pizon, A. F., & Brooks, D. E. (2008). Dextromethorphan-induced serotonin syndrome. *Clinical Toxicology*, 46(8), 771–773. https://doi.org/10.1080/15563650701668625

- Segal, Z. V. (2008). Preventing depression relapse with mindfulness-based Cognitive Therapy. *PsycEXTRA Dataset*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/e652452010-001</u>
- Shaw, W., Labott-Smith, S., Burg, M. M., Hostinar, C., Alen, N., van Tilburg, M. A. L., Berntson, G. G., Tovian, S. M., & Spirito, M. (2018, November 1). Stress effects on the body. American Psychological Association. Retrieved October 7, 2022, from <u>https://www.apa.org/topics/stress/body</u>
- Shi, B., Cao, X., Chen, Q., Zhuang, K., & Qiu, J. (2017). Different brain structures associated with artistic and scientific creativity: A voxel-based morphometry study. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42911
- Shields, G. S., Toussaint, L. L., & Slavich, G. M. (2016). Stress-related changes in personality:
   A longitudinal study of perceived stress and trait pessimism. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 64, 61–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.07.008</u>
- Singh, J., Prakash, J., Yadav, P., Bharti, A., & Chatterjee, K. (2021). Complex psychological trauma. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 30(3), 305. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-6748.328837</u>

Skop, M. (2016). The Art of Body Mapping: A Methodological Guide for Social Work Researchers. Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work, 28(4), 29–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.11157/anzswj-vol28iss4id295</u>

- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2008). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Doing Social Psychology Research*, 229–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470776278.ch1</u>
- Smith, H. W. (n.d.). *About act*. ACT Now Purposeful Living. Retrieved September 14, 2022, from <u>https://actnow.co/about-act/</u>
- Solomon, J. (2002). Living with X": A body mapping journey in time of HIV and AIDS. Facilitator's Guide. Psychosocial Wellbeing Series.
- Steele, K., Boon, S., & der, H. O. van. (2017). Treating trauma-related dissociation: A practical, integrative approach. W.W. Norton & Company.
- Stoltz, L. P., Cristiano, L. M., Dowling, A., Wilson, J. M., Platts-Mills, T., & Traister, R. S. (2019). Could chiggers be contributing to the prevalence of galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose sensitization and mammalian meat allergy?. *The journal of allergy and clinical immunology. In practice*, 7(2), 664–666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2018.07.014</u>
- Stroebe, M., Schut, H., & Boerner, K. (2017). Cautioning health-care professionals. *OMEGA Journal of Death and Dying*, 74(4), 455–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0030222817691870</u>
- Sweet, E. L., & Ortiz Escalante, S. (2014). Bringing bodies into planning: Visceral methods, fear and gender violence. Urban Studies, 52(10), 1826–1845. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098014541157
- Szuhany, K. L., Malgaroli, M., Miron, C. D., & Simon, N. M. (2021). Prolonged grief disorder: Course, diagnosis, assessment, and treatment. *FOCUS*, 19(2), 161–172. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20200052

Tan, J., & Wang, Y. (2019). Social integration, social support, and all-cause, cardiovascular disease and cause-specific mortality: A prospective cohort study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(9), 1498.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16091498

- Tanaka, T., Takasu, A., Yoshino, A., Terazumi, K., Ide, M., Nomura, S., & Sakamoto, T. (2011). Diphenhydramine overdose mimicking serotonin syndrome. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 65(5), 534–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1819.2011.02234.x
- Taylor, A. G., Goehler, L. E., Galper, D. I., Innes, K. E., & amp; Bourguignon, C. (2010). Topdown and bottom-up mechanisms in mind-body medicine: Development of an integrative framework for Psychophysiological Research. EXPLORE, 6(1), 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2009.10.004
- Taylor, J. M. (2015). Psychometric analysis of the Ten-Item Perceived Stress Scale. Psychological Assessment, 27(1), 90–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038100</u>
- Teasdale, J. D., Segal, Z. V., Williams, J. M., Ridgeway, V. A., Soulsby, J. M., & Lau, M. A. (2000). Prevention of relapse/recurrence in major depression by mindfulness-based cognitive therapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(4), 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.68.4.615
- Threlfell, S. (2004). Histamine H3 receptors inhibit serotonin release in substantia nigra pars reticulata. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(40), 8704–8710. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2690-04.2004
- Ticks and Mammalian Meat Allergy (2021). Available at: <u>https://www.beefresearch.org/resources/beef-safety/fact-sheets/ticks-and-mammalian-meat-allergy</u>

- Turiano, N. A., Pitzer, L., Armour, C., Karlamangla, A., Ryff, C. D., & Mroczek, D. K. (2011).
  Personality trait level and change as predictors of health outcomes: Findings from a
  National Study of Americans (MIDUS). *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 67B(1),
  4–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr072
- Troy, A. S., Shallcross, A. J., Brunner, A., Friedman, R., & Jones, M. C. (2018). Cognitive reappraisal and acceptance: Effects on emotion, physiology, and perceived cognitive costs. *Emotion*, 18(1), 58–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000371</u>
- Tyng, C. M., Amin, H. U., Saad, M. N., & Malik, A. S. (2017). The influences of emotion on learning and memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01454

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). *Chronic illness and mental health: Recognizing and treating depression*. National Institute of Mental Health. Retrieved September 30, 2022, from <u>https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/chronic-illness-</u> <u>mental-health</u>
- Vallejo, M. A., Vallejo-Slocker, L., Fernández-Abascal, E. G., & Mañanes, G. (2018).
  Determining factors for stress perception assessed with the perceived stress scale (PSS-4) in Spanish and other European samples. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00037
- Vaz-Rodrigues, R., Mazuecos, L., & de la Fuente, J. (2022). Current and Future Strategies for the Diagnosis and Treatment of the Alpha-Gal Syndrome (AGS). *Journal of asthma and allergy*, 15, 957–970. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/JAA.S265660</u>
- Varadarajan, S., Chumki, S. A., Stephenson, R. E., Misterovich, E. R., Wu, J. L., Dudley, C. E., Erofeev, I. S., Goryachev, A. B., & Miller, A. L. (2022). Mechanosensitive calcium

flashes promote sustained RhoA activation during tight junction remodeling. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 221(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202105107</u>

Versluis, A., Van Os-Medendorp, H., Kruizinga, A. G., Marty Blom, W., Houben, G. F., Knulst,
A. C. (2016). Cofactors in Allergic Reactions to Food: Physical Exercise and Alcohol are the Most Important. *Immun. Inflammation Dis.* 4 (4), 392–400. doi: 10.1002/iid3.120

Wang, C. C., & Geale, S. K. (2015). The power of story: Narrative inquiry as a methodology in nursing research. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 2(2), 195–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2015.04.014

- Wersebe, H., Lieb, R., Meyer, A. H., Hofer, P., & Gloster, A. T. (2018). The link between stress, well-being, and psychological flexibility during an acceptance and commitment therapy self-help intervention. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 18(1), 60–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchp.2017.09.002</u>
- Wilson, J. M., Schuyler, A. J., Schroeder, N., & Platts-Mills, T. A. (2017). Galactose-α-1,3galactose: Atypical food allergen or model IGE hypersensitivity? *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports*, 17(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-017-0672-7</u>
- Wilson, J. M., McNamara, C. A., & Platts-Mills, T. A. E. (2019). IGE, α-gal and atherosclerosis. *Aging*, 11(7), 1900–1902. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101894</u>
- Wölbing, F., Fischer, J., Köberle, M., Kaesler, S., Biedermann, T. (2013). About the Role and Underlying Mechanisms of Cofactors in Anaphylaxis. *Allergy* 68 (9), 1085–1092. doi: 10.1111/all.12193
- Wuerdeman MF, Harrison JM. A case of tick-bite-induced red meat allergy. *Mil Med*. 2014;179(4):e473–e475. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-13-00369

Yacoubou, J. (2018). Vegetarian Certifications on Food Labels. *the Vegetarian Journal.* 3. Retrieved October 14, 2022 from

https://www.vrg.org/journal/vj2006issue3/2006\_issue3\_labels.php#:~:text=Products%20 displaying%20this%20label%20have,egg%20products%20can%20be%20used.

- Yang, Y., Jiang, G., Zhang, P., & Fan, J. (2015). Programmed cell death and its role in inflammation. *Military Medical Research*, 2(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-015-</u> 0039-0
- Yaribeygi, H., Panahi, Y., Sahraei, H., Johnston, T. P., & Sahebkar, A. (2017). The impact of stress on body function: A review. *EXCLI journal*, 16, 1057–1072. <u>https://doi.org/10.17179/excli2017-480</u>

# Appendix A

# **IRB** Approval Letters



Feb 6, 2023

Sylvan Streightiff 50 Acacia Ave. San Rafael, CA 94901

Dear Sylvan,

On behalf of the Dominican University of California Institutional Review Board for the Protection of

Human Participants, I am pleased to approve your proposal entitled <u>Complex Narratives of</u> <u>Individuals</u> <u>Living with Alpha-gal syndrome (AGS). A mixed-methods investigation: examined</u> <u>through</u> <u>self-reported data, in-person interviews, and a group body mapping art therapy</u> <u>intervention</u> (IRBPHP Initial IRB Application #[11093]).

In your final report or paper please indicate that your project was approved by the IRBPHP and indicate the identification number.

I wish you well in your very interesting research effort.

Sincerely,

Michaela George, Ph.D. Chair, IRBPHP

Cc: Victoria Dobbins

Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Participants Office of Academic Affairs · 50 Acacia Avenue, San Rafael, California 95901-2298 · 415-257-1310 www.dominican.edu


March 1, 2023

Sylvan Streightiff 50 Acacia Ave. San Rafael, CA 94901

Dear Sylvan,

On behalf of the Dominican University of California Institutional Review Board for the Protection of

Human Participants, I am pleased to approve your proposal entitled <u>Complex Narratives of</u> <u>Individuals</u> <u>Living with Alpha-gal syndrome (AGS). A mixed-methods investigation: examined</u> <u>through</u> <u>self-reported data, in-person interviews, and a group body mapping art therapy</u> <u>intervention</u> (IRBPHP Modified IRB Application #[11093]).

In your final report or paper please indicate that your project was approved by the IRBPHP and indicate the identification number.

I wish you well in your very interesting research effort.

Sincerely,

Michaela George, Ph.D. Chair, IRBPHP

Cc: Victoria Dobbins

## Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Participants

Office of Academic Affairs · 50 Acacia Avenue, San Rafael, California 95901-2298 · 415-257-1310 www.dominican.edu